#### CANADIAN THESES ON MICROFICHE

### THÈSES CANADIENNES SUR MICROFICHE

National Library of Canada Collections Development Branch

Canadian Theses on Microfiche Service

Ottawa, Canada K1A ON4 Bibliothèque nationale du Cañada Direction du développement des collections

Service des thèses canadiennes sur microfiche

r. .

#### NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R, S, C, 1970, c, C, 30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

#### AVIS

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'univer sité qui a conféré le grade

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous à fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30 Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

## THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE

anad

#### THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

# GONADOGENESIS IN THE SOLITARY ASCIDIAN <u>CORFLIA INFLATA</u>, WITH A REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE ON ASCIDIAN GONADOGENESIS AND GONAD ORIGIN

7

/....

by

KATHERINE PRESCOTT TRONS

#### A THESIS

## SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE

OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

#### DEPARTMENT OF ZOOLOGY

¥ EDMONTON, ALBERTA

#### FALL 1986

Permission has been granted to the National Library of Canada to, microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author (copyright owner) has referved other publication rights, and neither the thesis 'nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced, without his/her written permission. L'autorisation a été accordée à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

(

L'auteur (titulaire du droit d'auteur) se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation écrite.

et a

# 1SBN 0-315-32556-9

#### THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

#### RELEASE FORM

## NAME OF AUTHOR KATHERINE PRESCOTT IRONS TITLE OF THESIS - GONADOGENESIS IN THE SOLITARY ASCIDIAN COREELA

#### INFLATA, WITH A REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE ON

#### ASCIDIAN GONADOGENESIS AND GONAD ORIGIN

DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED — MASTER OF SCIENCE YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED — FALL 1986'

Permission is hereby granted to THF UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves other publication lights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

(SIGNED)

Ą.

#### PERMANENT ADDRESS:

215 Grandrico St

......Bennington

Vermont 05201 USA

DATED .... Voly 2

# THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled GONADOGENESIS IN THE SOLITARY ASCIDIAN <u>CORELLA INFLATA</u>, WITH A REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE ON ASCIDIAN GONADOGENESIS AND GONAD ORIGIN submitted by KATHERINE PRESCOTT IRONS in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE.

Hanse .

ή'n

Date ....

Abstract

The process of gonadogenesis in the solitary phlebobranch ascidian, Corella inflata, was described using light and electron microscopy. Morphological criteria were used to identify seven stages of gonadogenesis in this species. Within three days after metamorphosis of the tadpole larva (at 10 to 12 degrees C), the initial stage of gonadogenesis consists of one or a pair of hemoblasts located in the gonad hemocoel in close proximity to the dorsal strand. These gonad-forming hemoblasts make contact with the dorsal strand during the next stage of gonadogenesis. After this association has been established, the ovotestis forms a solid, round cluster of gonial and somatic cells. The ovotestis subsequently cavitates to form a centrally placed lumen, and two types of somatic cells, designated Type I and Type II, are found. In the next stage, the germinal layer is localized in the peripheral portion of the ovotestis, and the remainder of the organ is composed of a squamous somatic region. The testicular rudiment subsequently differentiates from the anterior region of the ovotestis, and remains associated with the ovarian rudiment near its attachment with the dorsal strand. Finally, the testis and  $\sim$ ovary form exit ducts, and the format of the adult reproductive system is essentially completed. This study has greatly enhanced our moderstanding of ascidian gonadogenesis, which had previously been based on light microscopic examination of living juveniles, and/or 5 to  $10 \,\mu m$ paraffin sections.

The significance of these Tindings to other areas of ascidian reproductive biology are discussed. By observing individuals in earlier stages of gonadogenesis than had previously been examined, a type of circulating blood cell, the hemoblast, was implicated in the origin of the gonad and germ cells in <u>Corella inflata</u>. The dorsal strand, a posterior continuation of the neural gland in many ascidian species, was described; this structure was invariably found in close association with cells of the developing gonad, or with the oviduct in later stages. Without the association of the dorsal strand, the reproductive system does not develop, and it is

iv

presumed that the dorsal strand plays a definite, albeit uncertain, role in gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>. Germ cell-specific inclusions have been identified for the first time in gonial cells of the ovotestis, and the possible significance of these structures is discussed. The ultrastructural observations presented in this study suggest that cell divisions may occur cyclically in the developing reproductive system of this species. These observations also suggest that the follicle cells, which surround ascidian oocytes, may be derived from Type II somatic cells very early during gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>. Finally, a synthesis of the literature on ascidian gonadogenesis, much of which is based on studies of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, is provided. This synthesis documents our current knowledge of the subject of gonadogenesis, and focusses on questions that need to be addressed in future research.

#### Acknowledgements

I wish to thank the members of my Masters committee, Drs. Fu-Shiang Chia. Sudarshan Malhotra and Ralph Nursall, as well as the late Dr. Don Ross, for their encouragement, support, and helpful discussions during all phases of this research. In addition to providing financial support and numerous travel opportunities, my supervisor, Dr. Chia, has been instrumental in giving focus and direction to my research and career goals. His insistence on the pursuit of interesting problems and on high quality results have contributed enormously to my development as a biologist. It has been a very exciting and rewarding experience to work under Dr. Chia's supervision.

Essential technical assistance in all aspects of this research was provided by numerous people. I thank Randy Mandryk and Ron Seward who supplied equipment and expert assistance in histological techniques; Dr. Charles Walker, Ron Koss and Steve Ross who taught me the skills needed to operate the TEM; George Braybrook and Dr. Tom Schroeder for teaching me to operate the SEM; Elizabeth Boulding, John Buckland-Nicks, Tim Pennington, Scott Smiley and Paul Young for help with computer text-formatting. In addition, I thank Dr. Dennis Willows, Dr. Richard Strathmann, and the staff of Friday Harbor Labs for providing both lab space and facilities during my summers of research.

Numerous graduate students and investigators in Edmonton and at Friday Harbor have been important in stimulating the development of my ideas. In particular I thank Scott Smiley, Ron Koss, Elizabeth Boulding; Anne Darragh, Rich Casey, Paul Young, Tim Pennington, and Drs. Craig Young, Richard Cloney, Michael Cavey, Rich Palmer and Richard Miller. Special thanks go to Ron Koss, whose constant friendship, never-ending advice, exacting quality control, and incredible support provided a productive and enjoyable working environment in Edmonton. And perhaps most importantly, I thank my husband, Scott Smiley, for his essential contribution to this thesis. He has been surface support on collecting trips, tunicate baby-sitter.

vi

O

has editted manuscript drafts, discussed ideas and problems, and above all, has provided constant encouragement.

50

Finally, I wish to acknowledge four people without whose support my graduate career would never have been launched. First, I thank Nancy Kinner and Taylor Eighmy who have been unfailing friends since the dawn of my interest in invertebrate zoology. And last but by no means least, I thank my parents, John and Gene Irons, for their limitless enthusiasm for, their interest in, and their support of my academic development. They have been wonderful and understanding friends during the tenure of this research.

Table of Contents	
Chapter	Page
I. INTRODUCTION	1
A. GONADOGENESIS	
B. GONODUCTS	
C. ORIGIN OF THE GONADS AND GERM CELLS	,
D. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GONIAL CELLS AND SOMATIC CELLS	
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS	9
A. CULTURING	9
B. LIGHT MICROSCOPY	
C. TRANSMISSION ELECTRON MICROSCOPY (TEM)	
D. SCANNING ELECTRON MICROSCOPY (SEM)	
III. RESULTS	14
A. GENERAL OBSERVATIONS	14
B. DORSAL STRAND	
C. STAGES OF GONADOGENESIS	
STAGE I	19
STAGE II	
STAGE III	21
STAGE IV	23
STAGE V	27
STAGE VI	29
1. OV ARIAN RUDIMENT	
2. CONTACT BETWEEN OVARIAN AND TESTICULAR RUDIMENTS	31
3. TESTICULAR RUDIMENT	

	STAGE VII
	1. OVARY
	2. TESTIS
	ISCUSSION
A	GONADOGENESIS
В.	SIGNIFICANCE TO OTHER AREAS OF ASCIDIAN REPRODUCTIVE BIOLOGY
`	ORIGIN OF THE OONAD AND GERM CELLS
	DORSAL STRAND
	NUAGE
	CELL DIVISIONS
	ORIGIN OF THE FOLLICLE CELLS
V, <b>B</b> I	BLIOGRAPHY 100
VL, AF GG	PPENDIX: A REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE ON ASCIDIAN DNADOGENESIS AND GONAD ORIGIN
Α.	REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEM: GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS
̈́Β.	ORIGIN OF GONADS AND GERM CELLS
	BLOCED CELLS
	MESENCHYME CELLS
	MESODERMAL PLATE
	DORSAL STRAND
	ATRIAL EPITHELIUM
C,	STAGES OF GONADOGENESIS
	STAGES I AND II
,	. STAGE.III
	STAGE IV
	ix

	STAGE V
	STAGE VI
	STAGE VII
	OTHER PATTERNS OF GONADOGENESIS
	SUMMARY 155
D,	CHARACTERISTICS OF GONIAL CELLS AND SOMATIC CELLS
a .	GONIAL CELLS
	SOMATIC CELLS
E.	NEURAL COMPLEX AND DORSAL STRAND
	ORIGIN OF THE NEURAL COMPLEX
	NEURAL GANGLION AND NERVES
	NEURAL GLAND
	DORSAL STRAND

۸,

۲

**X** .

•

4

1\*

,

•

مغربي

- -

1

•

•

.

•

} -

•

#### List of Tables

· .·

 $\hat{}$ ٠. Table Page , l The seven stages of gonadogenesis in Corella Inflata, documenting the size ... and age of juveniles, the morphological changes that occur, and the • . ٨.

r xi

#### List of Illustrations

.

.

.

,

٦

Illustration	Page	
	<i>,</i>	
1.	Drawing of a juvenile in Stage III of gonadogenesis	
2	Drawing of a juvenile in Stage VII of gonadogenesis	
3	Composite drawing of the seven stages of gonadogenesis in Corella inflata	

~

٠

- **-**--

K١

Ć

xii

#### List of Figures

Figure Page i. Left side of a juvenile. . 66 SFM, A portion of a mature gonad, showing the organization of the DIC, Right side of a juvenile, showing the orientation of the neural TEM. Microfilaments in cells of the dorsal strand. 

22	DIC. Stage 1 of gonadogenesis, and cells of the degenerating axial complex74	
23	DIC. Stage II of gonadogenesis	
24	DIC. Stage II ovotestis and dorsal strand	
25	I.M. Stage H ovotestis	,
26	TEM. Collagen fibers	
27	TEM. Stage II ovotestis	
28	TEM, Several hemoplasts of the circulating blood,	
29	I.M. Stage III ovotestis and dorsal strand	
30	TEM, Gonial and somatic cell of the Stage III ovotestis	
31	TEM, Gonial cells surrounded by somatic cells in the Stage III ovotestis	
32	TEM, Myeloid figures in a gonial cell	
33	TEM, Fine-grained inclusion in a gonial cell.	
34	TEM. Somatic cell of the Stage III ovotestis	
35	TEM. Somatic cells at the extremities of the ovotestis	
36	TEM. Somatic cell showing intercellular pocket and cilium,	
.37	TEM, Vesicles along intercellular pocket,	
38	TEM. Coiling of plasmalemma along intercellular pocket	
39	TEM. Desmosomes between adjacent somatic cells	
40	DIC. Stage IV ovotestis	
4)	LM. Stage IV ovotestis	
42	TEM. Gonial cell and Type II somatic cell of the Stage IV ovotestis	
43	TEM. Gonial cell of the Stage IV ovotestis	
44	TEM. Nuage in a gonial cell	
45	TEM. Gonial cell	
46	TEM. Myeloid figure and nuage in a gonial cell	
47	TEM. Stage IV ovotestis showing gonial cell and Type I somatic cell	

·

48	TFM, Cytoplasmic processor of somatic cells,
49	TEM, Golgi complex in a Type II somatic cell
50	TEM, Type II somatic cell with vacuole, lipid droplet and vesicular endoplasmic reticulum,
51	DIC, Stage V ovotestis
52	I.M. Stage V ovotestis
53	TEM, Germinal layer of the Stage V ovotestis
54	TEM, Type II somatic cell in the germinal layer of the Stage V ovotestis
55	TEM, Fine-grained inclusion and granular aggregations in a Type 11 somatic cell
56	LM. Stage VI gonad showing the ovarian and testicular rudiments.
57	DIC. Stage VI gonad
58	TEM, Germinal layer of the ovarian rudiment,
59	TEM, Thinner portion of the ovarian rudiment germinal layer
60	TEM, Germinal layer where it grades into the squamous somatic region
61	TEM, Annulate lamellae in a gonial cell of the ovarian rudiment
62	TEM, Midbody between adjacent gonial cells
63	TEM. Type I somatic cell of the Stage VI ovarian rudiment
64	TEM. Testicular rudiment of the Stage VI gonad
65	TEM. Region of contact between ovarian and testicular rudiments
66	TEM. Gonial cell in the region of contact between ovarian and testicular rudiments
67	TEM. Gonial cell in the region of contact
68	TEM. Gonial cell of the testicular rudiment
69	DIC. Stage VII gonad showing the ovary and testis
70	LM. Stage VII gonad showing the ovary and testis
71	LM. Ovary

• •

	72	TEM, A portion of the germinal layer of the ovary.
	73	TEM. Type II somatic cell in the germinal layer.
	74	TEM. Type II somatic cell
	75	TEM. The germinal layer where it grades into the somatic region of the oviduct
	76	TEM, Oviduct and developing sperm duct
	77	I.M. Testis
	78	TEM, Gonial cells of the testis,
	79	TEM, A gonial cell of the testis, with nuage
`	80	TEM. Somatic cell of the testis
	81	TEM. Zonulae adhaerentes in the sperm duct
	82	TEM. Sperm duct showing the extensive basal lamina
	83	TEM. The terminal cells of the developing sperm duct.

• • •

-1 \_\_\_\_\_

₹**`** ·

xvi

• •

()

**~** ·

#### **I. INTRODUCTION**

Ascidians, or sea squirts, are sessile members of the subphylum Urochordata, and are conspicuous in the faunas of every marine geographic region (e.g. Herdman, 1882-1886; Arnback-Christie-Linde, 1922-1934; Hartmeyer, 1924; Huus, 1937; Van Name, 1945; Berrill, 1950; Millar, 1971; Plough, 1978). With few exceptions they are hermaphroditic (Berrill, 1975), Solitary forms, which reproduce sexually, and compound forms, which reproduce both sexually and asexually, are common. The classification is based largely on the structure of the branchial basket, or pharynx, and the location of the gonads within the body (Berrill, 1950; Monniot and Monniot, 1972; Plough, 1978).

The chordate affinities of the ascidians were first demonstrated by the Russian embryologist Kowalevsky (1866). This invertebrate group has subsequently received a tremendous amount of attention, especially in the areas of descriptive and experimental embryology. Numerous classical papers published in the late ninteeth and early twentieth centuries are notable, particularly those of Chabry (1887) on <u>Ascidia scabra</u>, Castle (1896) on <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>, Crampton (1899) on <u>Molgula manhattensis</u>, and Conklin (1905) on <u>Styela</u> <u>partita</u>. One direction which more recent studies have taken, building on Conklin's (1905) contribution, has been to identify the organ- forming regions of the egg and embryo (reviewed by Hirai, 1968; Berrill, 1950, 1975; Reverberi, 1971). It has been shown that these organ-forming regions are relevant only to the organization of the larva, rather than to the organization of juveniles and adults (e.g. Minganti, 1954; Ortolani, 1955; Cowden and Markert, 1961; Smith, 1967; Whittaker, 1973, 1979a, b; Whittaker et al., 1977).

Ŧ

A great deal of research has been done on the structure of the tadpole larvae of ascidians (Berrill, 1950; Millar, 1971; Cloney, 1978), and of the spectacular events of settlement and metamorphosis (Cloney, 1978). In ascidians, a sharp separation exists between the temporary structures of the larva and the rudiments of the permanent adult structures; the development of each proceeds independently until metamorphosis (Barrington, 1968).

Reorganization takes place within the individual following the initial stages of metamorphosis. The rudimentary adult organs reorient to a position 90 degrees from that at settlement, the cerebral vesicle retracts, and the visceral ganglion, sensory organs and axial complex of the larva are phagocytized. In addition, the rudiments of the adult organs are released from their arrested developmental state (Cloney, 1978).

Histogenesis of the adult viscera occurs rapidly, as a corollary to metamorphosis (Cloney, 1978). The digestive system is well enough developed for the juvenile to begin to feed within hours after metamorphosis in some compound forms like <u>Distaplia occidentalis</u> (Cloney, 1972), or days in solitary forms such as <u>Corella willmeriana</u> (Lambert, 1968). However, the differentiation of the adult organ systems, and particularly the reproductive system (one of the most conspicuous organs in the adult) have been largely ignored in the recent literature. Our understanding of ascidian reproductive biology is hampered by the relative lack of information on gonadogenesis. A study using modern microscopic techniques, to describe not only the morphological changes that take place during gonadogenesis, but also the development of the gonoducts, the origin of the gonad and germ cells, and the organization of the cells that form the developing gonad, is long overdue.

#### A. GONADOGENESIS

Most information on gonadogenesis in ascidians is found in monographs of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Most of these reports concern gonadogenesis in compound species, but there is a striking similarity in the sequence of development of the reproductive organs, regardless of taxon (Kowalevsky, 1874a, b; Van Beneden, 1881; Van Beneden and Julin, 1884, 1886; Hjort, 1896; Julin, 1893; Lefevre, 1897, 1898; Bancroft, 1899, De Selys Longchamps and Damas, 1900; Huus, 1924). The general pattern of gonadogenesis that emerges from this literature is that a solid clump of mesodermal cells, found in the "pre-gonadal region" of the body, cavitates to form a small lumen. This structure subsequently

thins on one side and elongates. The ovotestis now consists of a ventral region that is several cells thick, and a dorsal region composed of a squamous epithelium. In the next stage of gonadogenesis, the testicular rudiment differentiates from the ovotestis, as either a small bulge on the anterior portion of the ovotestis (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886; Lefevre, 1898; De Selys Longchamps and Damas, 1900; Aubert, 1954), or as a medial furrow which divides the ovotestis into two lobes (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886; Julin, 1893; Lefevre, 1897; Bancroft, 1899). The rudiments of the ovary and testis are initially connected by a small opening, but this subsequently closes as the gonoducts begin to form. These rudiments expand, and depending on the configuration of the adult reproductive system, may branch to form numerous lobes and lobules (Van Name, 1945; Berrill, 1950, 1975).

There are a few exceptions to this general pattern of gonadogenesis. The gonads of <u>Distomus variolosus</u> are of separate sex located in different regions of the body (Newberry, 1968). These organs develop from separate cell masses, each of which differentiates into an ovary or a testis. Initially, the sex of these individual masses cannot be determined, but the developing organs soon take on cellular characteristics that identify them by sex. Otherwise, the ovary and testis develop in a fashion similar to that described above. In botryllid ascidians, gonadogenesis is also somewhat different than that described above (Mukai and Watanabe, 1976; Såbbadin and Zaniolo, 1979). In these animals, after the single oocyte has attached in the gonadal space of the new blastozooid generation, some of the elements of the "loose cell mass", differentiate into the follicle stalk and an outer somatic cell layer surrounding the oocyte. Other elements of the "loose cell mass" differentiate into the testis, which develops in a fashion similar to <u>Distomus variolosus</u>.

These studies provide information on the sequence of events that occurs during gonadogenesis. They are, however, limited to gross morphological changes, and do not address he cellular organization of the developing gonad, or the structure of its cells.

3

¢.

#### **B. GONODUCTS**

Most reports that discuss gonadogenesis also discuss formation of the oviduct and sperm duct. In some species, a string of undifferentiated cells, the genital strand, is attached to the dorsal end of the ovotestis, and follows the intestine to the atrium. In a few of these species, the genital strand divides to form two ducts, each of which opens separately into the atrium (Kowalevsky, 1874a, b; Van Beneden and Julin, 1884, 1886; Lefevre, 1897). In other species, the genital strand remains attached to the dorsal end of the ovarian rudiment, and shortens and thickens as the ovarian rudiment elongates. Once the oviduct has reached the atrium, the genital strand is no longer visible (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886), and may therefore have a role in gonoduct formation. Bancroft (1899) observed that the genital strand is converted into the oviduct and sperm duct.

In one species, the posterior extension of the neural gland, the dorsal strand, has been implicated in gonoduct formation (Huus, 1924). Huus (1924) observed that the dorsal strand in <u>Corella parallelogramma</u> remains associated with the ovarian rudiment during gonadogenesis, and that as the ovarian rudiment elongates, it forms a tubular oviduct at its dorsal end. The testicular rudiment opens into the oviduct near the dorsal strand attachment, and the sperm duct is formed as the ovary elongates. Eventually, these two ducts open separately into the atrium. As the dorsal strand is present as only a vestige in the adult, Huus (1924) concluded that the gonoducts are formed from the dorsal strand. While other authors have disputed this observation (Brien, 1927; Aubert, 1954), it appears that the dorsal strand may play a role in gonadogenesis in some species of ascidians (Goodbody, 1974; Berrill, 1975).

In some other species, the gonoducts have been described as arising from the developing rudiments themselves (Van Beneden, 1881; Floderus, 1896; De Selys Longchamps and Damas, 1900; Aubert, 1954; Newberry, 1968). In still other species there is no oviduct, and mature oocytes appear to rupture the wall of the ovary into the atrium.

#### C. ORIGIN OF THE GONADS AND GERM CELLS

There is no evidence that the germ cells of ascidians belong to a cell lineage that can be traced back to the egg (Simkins, 1924; Nieuwkoop and Sutasurya, 1979; Berrill, 1975). Instead, the available evidence indicetes that germ cells arise *in stiu* from undifferentiated somatic cells such as those of blood or mesenchyme (Kowalevsky, 1866, 1874a, b; Van Beneden, 1881; Van Beneden and Julin, 1884, 1886; Lefevre, 1897, 1898; Newberry, 1968; Berrill, 1975; Sugimoto and Nakauchi, 1974). There is also some indication in a few species that the gonads and germ cells arise from regions of the dorsal strand (Brien, 1925, 1927), or the atrial epithelium (Berrill, 1941a, b; Sabbadin and Zaniolo, 1979). There are no reports, however, in which the origin of the germ cells has been experimentally examined.

Among compound ascidians, numerous authors have stated that the origin of the gonads and germ cells is undoubtedly mesodermal or mesoblastic; this is based on the structural similarity between the cells that form the developing gonad, and some of the circulating blood cells (eg. Kowalevsky, 1874a; Van Beneden and Julin, 1884, 1886; Lefevre, 1897, 1898; Newberry, 1968). Most of these studies have involved observations of animals in which the developing gonad was already present as a small clump of cells. The only authors that have examined sufficiently young specimens to observe formation of the gonad are Simkins (1924). Brien (1927), Newberry (1968), Mukai and Watanabe (1976) and Sabbadin and Zaniolo (1979). Newberry (1968) described small aggregations of lymphocytes (hemoblasts, according ; to the definition of Wright, 1981) in the pre-gonadal regions of the mantle sinus in Distomus variolosus. These aggregations become surrounded by a "stromal meshwork" of connective tissue, take on a fairly cohesive appearance, and divide mitotically, developing into the gonads. In the oozooid of Ecteinascidia turbinata, Simkins (1924) reported that the ovary and oocytes are derived from a mesodermal shelf that projects into the hemocoel. The testis of E. turbinata originates from a solid clump of cells near the ovarian rudiment. Brien (1927) reported that the gonad is derived from the dorsal strand in Aplidium zostericola. The dorsal strand divides in a

small localized region to form two tubes, the dorsal tube developing into the ovary, and the ventral tube into the testis. Mukai and Watanabe (1976) found that in <u>Botryllus primigenus</u>, the oocyte and its surrounding primary follicle cells are derived from a "loose cell mass". composed of hemoblasts. The oocytes are released into the circulatory system, migrate through the blood, and attach in the gonadal space of a subsequent generation. The testis is derived from elements of the "loose cell mass" of the new generation, Sabaddin and Zaniolo (1979) report a similar sequence of events, but considered that the "loose cell mass" consisted of cells already differentiated from hemoblasts.

All observations of gonad and germ cell origin in solitary ascidians are based on animals in which the developing gonad is already present in the pre-gonadal region (Kowalevsky, 1874b; Van Beneden and Julin, 1886; Julin, 1893; Floderus, 1896; De Selys Longchamps and Damas, 1900; Huus, 1924; Aubert, 1954). This information suggests that blood cells are involved in gonadogenesis, but it is of limited value in determining the origin of the gonad and germ cells in ascidians.

#### D. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GONIAL CELLS AND SOMATIC CELLS

Several reports that describe the stages of gonadogenesis in ascidians also describe characteristics of the cells that form the developing gonad. However, these observations were all made on paraffin sections, and since gonadal cells are very small, little information other than cell shape and size exists which can be used to identify and compare these cells. While many reports on the characteristics of the mature gametes are available (see Kessel, 1983; Franzén, 1983), there have been no ultrastructural investigations on cells of the developing reproductive system during gonadogenesis.

Stage I oocytes (Cowden, 1961) are those that have differentiated from the germinal epithelium, and are beginning the initial phases of growth. The germinal vesicle in these cells is large, and contains an eccentric nucleolus (Reverberi, 1971; Mancuso, 1964; Kessel, 1983). The

cytoplasm is intensely basophilic (Cowden, 1961, 1962, 1967) due to the large number of ribosomes (Kessel, 1983). Kessel (1983) describes small dense aggregations, which probably represent ribosomes, and larger dense granular masses in regions of the perinuclear cytoplasm of these pre-vitellogenic oocytes. There is often a continuity of this material with the nucleoplasm through nuclear pores, and it appears that material is moved to the cytoplasm from the nucleus (Kessel, 1966a, 1983). The larger of these two inclusions has been variously named 'nuage', 'yolk nuclei', or 'vitelline bodies' (see Beams and Kessel, 1974; Eddy, 1975; Kessel, 1983), and is a germ line specific inclusion. Nuage has been identified in a wide variety of animal germ cells (Beams and Kessel, 1974; Eddy, 1975; Kessel, 1983). Other organelles that are characteristic of Stage I oocytes are vesicles of RER, formed as blebs of the outer layer of the nuclear envelope, as well as lamellar RER (Kessell, 1983). There are relatively few mitochondria in these cells which are often associated with RER or lipid droplets, annulate lamellae, and a single small Golgi complex (Kessel, 1983).

At the end of Stage 1 of oogenesis, the oocytes become surrounded by a layer of primary follicle cells (e.g. Cowden 1961; Reverberi, 1971; Kessel, 1983), which contain both vesicular and lamellar RER, and a large Golgi complex. These primary follicle cells ifferentiate into the accessory cell layers which surround the mature oocyte. The origin, structure and function of these accessory cell layers have been the subject of intensive debate for nearly 100 years. They have been described to originate from the germinal epithelium (Pérès, 1954; De Vincentiis, 1962; Kalk, 1963a; Kessel, 1962, 1983), or from blood cells (Spek, 1927; Knaben, 1936; Mancuso, 1965). While there are numerous papers discussing the structure of the mature spermatozoa of ascidians (Franzén, 1983) there is almost no information on the structure of the developing germ and somatic cells of the testis. This has been briefly discussed by Georges(1969) and Tuzet et al. (1974).

<u>Corella inflata</u> is a beautiful, solitary phlebobranch ascidian found commonly on subtidal floats of the Pacific Northwest. Its distribution, abundance and general ecology have

been examined (Lambert, 1968; Lambert et al., 1981; Young, 1982), and its taxonomic status has recently been reviewed by Lambert et al. (1981). This species is readily available in the summer at snorkelling depths in the Friday Harbor vicinity, is easily maintained in the laboratory, and cultures of embryos and larvae are readily obtained. <u>Corella</u> individuals can grow to sexual maturity within less than three months (Lambert, 1968), and the gonads begin to differentiate within a few days of metamorphosis under laboratory conditions. The transparent tunic of <u>Corella inflata</u> allows direct observation of the various stages of gonadogenesis in intact, living animals.

` Ø

#### II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

 $\square$ 

Adult and juvenile specimens of <u>Corella inflata</u> were collected intermittently from May to August, 1983 and 1984 by snorkelling and SCUBA from the undersurfaces of floats at Jensen's Marina, Friday Harbor Marina, and the breakwater at the Friday Harbor Laboratories in Friday Harbor, Washingtom, Intersiphon distance, and length from the posterior extremity (base) to between the siphons was measured with either Vernier calipers or an ocular micrometer in a Wild M-5 dissecting microscope. Specimens were subsequently set up in culture to obtain embryos, or fixed within three days of collection.

#### A, CULTURING

Spawning in <u>Corella inflata</u> occurs just after dawn, with first sperm and then eggs being released into the inflated atrium located uppermost on the animal under natural conditions. Self - fertilization appears to be common in this species, with fertilization taking place immediately after eggs are released into the atrium from the oviduct. The eggs are surrounded by follicle cells, and the inner layer of follicle cells contain ammonium ions (Lambert and Lambert, 1978). Consequently, the eggs float to the top of the atrium where they are retained until hatching, Embryos develop normally outside of the atrium, and it is therefore possible to obtain cultures of embryos by removing them from the atrium of the parent.

Some adult specimens were glued with Super Glue to Velcro strips, and placed, atrium uppermost, on floating strips of wood in a flow-through aquarium. The animals spawned daily for several weeks, and embryos were routinely collected by pipetting from the atrium of the parents. Other adult animals were placed individually or in pairs in 500 ml beakers of filtered seawater (FSW), which was changed twice daily. These adults released their embryos, which were pipetted directly from the water surface. Collected embryos were cultured in FSW until hatching. At that time, 200 to 300 tadpole larvae were collected with a fine bore breaking

piperte to avoid collection of the discarded follicle cells, and were placed in 5 cm diameter Falcon plastic petri dishes provided with either scored plastic or parafilm surfaces on which to the Most tadpoles settled and metamorphosed after 6 to 12 hours. The petri dishes were then suspended from floating strips of wood in aquaria of FSW changed twice daily.

Inventles, four days post-metamorphosis, were fed each day with cultures of the smallsingle-celled flagellates, Dunaliella sp., Monochrysis sp., and Isochrysis sp., obtained from Carolina Biological Supply Co.

Adults, embryos and juveniles were maintained at ambient seawater temperatures which ranged from 10 to 16 degrees Centigrade during the course of the summer. Juveniles of the same post-settlement age from individual petri dishes were counted and measured with an ocular micrometer on either a Wild M-5 dissecting microscope, or a Wild M-20 compound  $\frac{1}{2}$  microscope. Juveniles were easily removed from the scored plastic or parafilm surfaces for subsequent examination or fixation

#### **B. LIGHT MICROSCOPY**

£

왉

ê

Positions and sizes of the developing organ systems of culture veniles relative to the developing reproductive system, were mapped with a camera lucida. Drawings of at least 4 live individuals of each stage of gonadogenesis were made with a Wild drawing tube fitted to a Wild M-20 compound microscope.

Live, unstained specimens were photographed using Nomarski differential interference contrast (DIC) techniques with a Nikon Optiphot microscope. Photographs were taken with Kodak Pan-X or Technical Pan 2415 film.

The reproductive systems of entire specimens were best visualized in whole mounts.

These whole mounts were prepared according to one of two methods: a) small individuals (less '

than 1.0 mm) were fixed in 0.5% osmium tetroxide in seawater, dehydrated through a graded series of ethanol, infiltrated and mounted on a microscope slide with an A; B ratio of 7;3 Fpok 812 (E. Fullum & Co.), according to the technique of Cavey and Cloney (1973). b) Larger specimens (1.0 mm and larger) were fixed in Bouin's fluid, washed in 70% ethanol, and stained in Grenacher's Alcoholic Borax Carmine for at least 5 hours. Specimens were dehydrated in a graded series of ethanol, infiltrated and mounted on a microscope slide in Permount (Galigher , and Kozloff, 1971).

Light micrographs of sectioned material were made from organisms fixed and embedded for transmission electron microscopy as described below. One micrometer sections were cut with glass or diamond knives on a Porter Blum M1-1 or M1-2 ultramicrotome and stained with methylene blue and Azure II (Richardson et al., 1960). Sections were photographed on a Zeiss Photomicroscope or a Nikon Optiphot using Kodak Technical, Pan 2415 film at ASA 100.

#### C. TRANSMISSION ELECTRON MICROSCOPY (TEM)

Specimens larger than 2,0 mm were first removed from their tunics and placed in primary fixative; further dissection was done while the tissue was immersed in fixative. Animals smaller than 2,0 mm were not dissected prior to fixation, but were sliced open on the ventral surface within 15 minutes of immersion in fixative, to ensure adequate penetration.

Several fixation techniques were used in this study. The best results were obtained by initial fixation in a solution containing 2.5% glutaraldehyde, 0.2 M Millonig's phosphate buffer, and 0.14 M sodium chloride (Cloney and Florey, 1968) for 2 to 3 hours at room temperature. / Specimens were then rinsed in a solution containing 0.2 M phosphate buffer and 0.34 M sodium. chloride for 10 minutes, followed by post-fixation in 2% osmium tetroxide and 1.25% sodium bicarbonate (pH 7.2) for 1 to 2 hours at room temperature (Cloney and Florey, 1968).

A second fixation technique involved primary fixation in a solution containing 2% glutaraldehyde, 0.2 M sodium cacodylate, 0.275 M sucrose, and 1% tannic acid (Torrence and Cloney, 1981). Primary fixation was followed by a rinse of 0.27 M cacodylate and 0.37 M sucrose, and post-fixation in 2% osmium tetroxide buffered with 1.25% sodium bicarbonate. Best results for this fixation regime were obtained at 4 degrees Centigrade.

A third method was modified from Eisenmann and Alfert (1982), in which tissue was initially fixed for 1 hour over ice in a solution of 9 parts ptimary fixative (2% glutaraldehyde, 0.1 M sodium cacodylate, 0.05 M sodium chloride, and 0.175 M sucrose), and 1 part secondary fix (containing 1% osmium tetroxide, 0.3 M sodium chloride and 0.2 M cacodylate). This was followed by fixation in glutaraldehyde fixative without osmium for an additional hour, and osmication for 1 to 2 hours. The osmolality employed was approximately one half that recommended by Eisenmann and Alfert (1982).

After fixation, tissues were dehydrated through a graded series of acetone or ethanol, transferred through three changes of propylene oxide, infiltrated and embedded in flat planchettes in an A: B ratio of 6:4 Epok 812 (E. Fullam, & Co.), according to 1.uft (1961). Following polymerization, specimens were cut from the planchettes, mounted and oriented on an aluminum slug prior to sectioning.

Silver and silver-gold sections were cut on a Porter-Blum MT-2A ultramicrotome with a duPont diamond knife and mounted on uncoated 200 to 300 mesh copper grids. Sections were stained with 50% methanol saturated with uranyl acetate, washed in methanol, stained with lead hydroxide chelated with sodium citrate (Reynolds, 1963), and washed in 0.02 M sodium hydroxide. The sections were examined with a Phillip's EM 201 or EM 300 electron microscope.

## D. SCANNING ELECTRON MICROSCOPY (SEM)

Gonads of several adult <u>Corella inflata</u> were fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde in Millonig's phosphate buffer and sodium chloride, and post-fixed in 2.0% osmium tetroxide and 1.25% sodium bicarbonate as described above for TEM. The tissues were dehydrated through a graded series of ethanol, tranferred to amyl acetate; and critical point dried. The gonads were then split open with a razor blade, coated with gold on a sputter coater, and viewed on a Cambridge Stereoscan-150 Scanning Electron Microscope.

r

#### III. RESULTS

4

#### A. GENERAL OBSERVATIONS

Tadpole larvae of <u>Corella inflata</u> generally swim for a period of 6 to 12 hours after they hatch and before they settle and metamorphose, although they are capable of postponing metamorphosis for several more hours. During the later stages of metamorphosis, the trunk and rudiments of the adult viscera rotate to a position 90 degrees from that at settlement, and phagocytosis of the larval nervous system and axial complex begins. Subsequent differentiation of the adult viscera is rapid, and within 3,5 to 4 days after metamorphosis (at 10 to 12 degrees C) the digestive system of the juvenile is functional and the organism is capable of feeding. Degenerating cells of the axial complex may be visible in the subendostylar sinus of the hemocoel for several days after the juvenile has begun to feed.

The orientation of the body of adult ascidians has been outlined by numerous authors; in this work, I refer to the description of Millar (1953) on <u>Ciona</u>. According to this plan, the branchial, or incurrent, siphon marks the anterior end; the basal attachment region, the posterior end. The ventral side is continuous with the branchial siphon and contains the endostyle. The side opposite to the ventral, in which the dorsal lamina is found, comprises the dorsal side. In addition, I occasionally refer to right and left sides of the body relative to this orientation (Figs. 1 & 2).

The gonad of adult <u>Corella inflata</u> is a compound, hermaphroditic organ located in the subendostylar blood sinus, or gonad hemocoel. The gonad hemocoel, like most of the blood channels in the ascidian circulatory system, has no endothelial lining. It is delimited posteriorly and laterally by the basal lamina of the epidermis, and anteriorly by the basal lamina of the atrial epithelium (Figs. 3 & 4), and therefore is part of the connective tissue compartment. It contains numerous circulating blood cells, and connective tissue fibers (Figs. 3 & 4).

The ovarian part of the gonad in adult <u>Corella</u> consists of numerous large lobes primarily concentrated in the loop of the intestine, but also ramifying over the lateral surfaces of the intestine and stomach (Fig. 5) Each lobe consists of a germinal layer containing oocytes in all stages of oogenesis. Each oocyte is surrounded by developing or fully formed layers of accessory cells, including follicle cells and test cells (Fig. 4). There is no distinct outer epithelial layer surrounding the lobes. Each ovarian lobe is continuous with the long oviduct, which is composed of a simple ciliated epithelium. The oviduct runs adjacent to the rectum, and opens into the atrium in close proximity to the anus.

The testicular part of the gonad consists of numerous smaller lobes or lobules. These lobules are positioned primarily on the left side of the animal, and external to the ovary (Figs. 3, 6 & 7). Each testicular lobule contains a germinal epithelium at its distal extremity (Fig. 7), and in mature animals, the lumen of the lobule is packed with spectrids and spermatozoa. Each lobule is continuous proximally with a short duct which opens into a single large, sparsely ciliated sperm duct composed of a simple epithelium. This duct in turn follows the rectum and opens into the atrium between the oviduct and anus.

The gonad of adult animals is found in the gonad hemocoel surrounded by the loop of the intestine. The position of the developing gonad relative to this loop serves as a convenient marker for both the location and the developmental stage of the reproductive system. In newly feeding animals, the intestine makes a short lateral loop to the right of and at the level of the stomach. In the earliest stages of gonadogenesis, the developing gonad is ventral and posterior to this loop of the gut (Illustration 1). In later stages of gonadogenesis, and in adults, the intestine forms a loop which curves around posterior to the stomach. In these stages, the gonad is surrounded by the gut loop and completes its development in this position (Illustration 2).

The extent of gonad development in juveniles is dependent on the size of the animal rather than its post-settlement age. Animals in culture grow at asynchronous rates depending on availability of food, position at settlement, and extent of fouling. Size has been found to be

an accurate indicator of gonad stage and will be used in the subsequent description of the stage: of gonadogenesis.

1

#### **B. DORSAL STRAND**

ę, h

The dorsal strand is a structure that appears to play a role in the development of the gonad in <u>Corella inflata</u>. In juveniles, 5 to 6 days post-metamorphosis, this thin strand of cells extends from the neural gland (Figs. 8 & 9) to the gonad hemocoel, running between the two atrial siphons along the epidermis of the dorsal side of the body (Fig. 9). It enters the gonad hemocoel and ends in contact with the developing gonad. After the fusion of the atrial siphons in older juveniles, the dorsal strand is found in the dorsal fold, the tissue that separates the branchial basket from the atrium and that forms the roof of the branchial basket between the neural complex and anus. The connection between the dorsal strand and the developing gonad is maintained during the further development of the reproductive system, but after the gonad is fully formed and the gonoducts are established, this association is lost. The dorsal strand is only vestigial in mature animals, ending adjacent to the opening of the sperm duct.

The dorsal strand can easily be seen and followed from the neural gland to the developing gonad in living animals using DIC optics. In whole mounts and in one-micrometer sections, however, it is very difficult to demonstrate due to both its thinness and its complex geometry. In longitudinal sections of the juvenile the dorsal strand is shown in grazing section only, making it difficult to demonstrate the relationship of the dorsal strand to other cells and organs of the body.

The dorsal strand is a cord of single cells.  $2 \mu m$  in diameter, along its entire length during gonadogenesis (Fig. 10), except in the region where it contacts the developing gonad (Fig. 15). Occasionally, adjacent cells have overlapping extensions along their joining edges (Figs. 11 & 14). A thin external lamina surrounds the entire structure (Figs. 10 & 11), indicating it is epithelial in origin. In the gonad hemocoel, the dorsal strand may be separated

from the epidermis by as little as 150 nm (Fig. 12). Abundant connective tissue fibers are found in the region between the dorsal strand and the epidermis (Fig. 12).

The ultrastructure of the dorsal strand cells is comparable in all stages of gonadogenesis. Each cell has a large elliptical nucleus with dense peripheral heterochromatin (Figs. 10 & 11). The cytoplasm contains abundant free ribosomes and glycogen (Figs. 10, 11 & 16). There are scattered mitochondria, a large proximally positioned Golgi complex, occasional secondary lysosomes, and lamellar rough endoplasmic reticulum in the cytoplasm (Figs. 10, 11 & 16). Some localized regions of the cytoplasm, subjacent to the plasmalemma, contain bundles of microfilaments (Fig. 13). The diameter of these filaments is 4 to 7 nm, and is consistent with the interpretation that they are actin filaments. Some membrane bounded vesicles, 120 to 200 nm in diameter and containing a core of moderately electron dense material, are present in the cytoplasm of some dorsal strand cells (Fig. 11). These vesicles are most abundant in the cells of the dorsal strand near the contact with the ovotestis. The membranes between adjacent cells of the dorsal strand are joined by desmosomes (Fig. 14).

The cells of the dorsal strand are virtually indistinguishable from the somatic cells of the developing gonad in the region where they make contact (Fig. 15). In animals 1.0 mm or smaller, the dorsal strand at the point of contact with the ovotestis is a single cell in diameter. In larger animals the end of the dorsal strand forms a blunt enlargement, 2 to 3 cells in diameter, at this point of contact (Fig. 15). The nuclei of the dorsal strand cells in this location are larger and more irregular in shape (Fig. 15) than those of either the distal dorsal strand or the developing gonad; otherwise the cells appear to be identical in structure.

In animals that are 0.6 mm in diameter and larger, another strand, or cord, of cells accompanies the dorsal strand in the vicinity of its contact with the developing gonad. In some areas, this cord is composed of multiple overlapping processes that are usually no more than 0.3  $\mu$ m in diameter (Fig. 17). In other regions the cord is composed of a single process that varies from 0.3  $\mu$ m (Fig. 12) to 2.5  $\mu$ m in diameter (Figs. 15 & 16). The cord is separate from

٠.

the dorsal strand, although in some locations its plasmalemma directly contacts the plasmalemma of the dorsal strand cells (Fig. 16). In regions of close apposition, the external lamina surrounds both the dorsal strand and the cord (Fig. 16).

The cells of this cord have many features characteristic of axonal processes of nerve cells. Serial one-micrometer sections of whole animals have failed to reveal the perikarya of these cells, which are presumably located in the neural ganglion. The cytoplasm contains a few mitochondria, secondary lysosomes and lamellar rough endoplasmic reticulum (Figs. 11, 16 & 19). Numerous moderately dense, membrane-bounded vesicles, 100 to 150 nm in diameter, are conspicuous in the cytoplasm (Figs. 12, 15 through 19). Some of these vesicles are ovoid, with a long axis up to 250 nm in diameter (Fig. 18). There are also less numerous electron opaque vesicles 60 to 80 nm in diameter (Fig. 18). In addition, these cells contain occasional filamentous structures, 25 to 30 nm in diameter which are probably microtubules (Fig. 18). This morphological evidence suggests that this cord of cells is nervous tissue, and it is therefore named a nerve cord.

The nerve cord contacts the developing gonad close to its junction with the dorsal strand (Fig. 19). Some of the somatic cells of the developing gonad at this point of contact contain vesicles similar to those found in the nerve cord (Fig. 19). In addition, in certain areas of the developing gonad, cytoplasmic processes of the nerve cord contact and penetrate between cells of the developing gonad (Fig. 20). The contents of these short processes are similar to those of the nerve cord itself (Fig. 20). Junctions between membranes of the nerve cord and the developing gonad have not been identified.

#### **C. STAGES OF GONADOGENESIS**

There is a tremendous variety of terms in the literature used to describe the stages of gonadogenesis in ascidians, and much of it is confusing and misleading. I have chosen to use terms that are as accurate and clear as possible, to describe the morphological changes that take
place during gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>. The term ovotestis is applied to the developing gonad before there is any indication of a separation of the organ into ovarian and testicular portions. Once the ovotestis has separated into two distinct regions of separate sex, the ovarian portion is called the ovarian rudiment, and the testicular portion is named the testicular rudiment. After these rudimentary organs have developed separate and distinct ducts, they are called the ovary and testis respectively. I have also used the term germinal layer to denote the region of the gonad in which gonial cells are found.

In <u>Corella inflata</u>, seven stages of gonadogenesis have been identified in juveniles during the establishment of the reproductive system: Stage I, in which the developing gonad consists of one or a pair of cells in close proximity to the dorsal strand; Stage II, where the pair of cells and the dorsal strand have made contact; Stage III, where the ovotestis consists of a small clump of cells; Stage IV, during which the clump of cells cavitates to form a lumen; Stage V, where the germinal layer of the ovotestis becomes localized in the ventral region of the organ; Stage VI where the testicular rudiment differentiates from the ovotestis ; and Stage VII, in which the ovary and testis have developing ducts, and take on the structural characteristics of the mature gonad. These seven stages will be described in the following sections using light and electron microscopic observations. A summary of the morphological changes that take place during gonadogenesis is available in Illustration 3, and in Table 1.

#### **STAGE I**

Examination with DIC optics shows that there are several types of circulating blood cells in the gonad hemocoel of animals that are less than 0.3 mm in diameter. A large cell, or pair of cells, morphologically identical both to circulating hemoblasts, and to the cells of the next stage of gonadogenesis, are found subjacent to the epidermis and posterior to the loop of the gut (Figs. 21 & 22). These hemoblasts are found in close proximity to the terminal end of the dorsal strand (Fig. 21), and my morphological observations indicate that they are not

circulating cells, but rather are anchored to the epidermis by short cytoplasmic extensions. No mitotic figures have been observed in either the hemoblasts, or the terminal cells of the dorsal strand,

During this stage of gonadogenesis, the dorsal strand grows posteriorly from the neural gland, along the epidermis between the atrial siphons to the gonad hemocoel. It ends posterior to the intestine, in the vicinity of the axial complex cells undergoing phagocytosis (Fig. 22), and near the pair of hemoblasts (Fig. 21). The dorsal strand is approximately 2  $\mu$ m in diameter, and its terminal end is tapered (Fig. 21). In favorable optical sections, the tapered end of the dorsal strand is routinely associated with concentric rings of connective tissue fibers, approximately 8 to 10  $\mu$ m in diameter (Fig. 21). There is every indication that the terminal end of the dorsal strand makes contact with the hemoblasts in the gonad hemocoel.

#### STAGE II

ċ.

The Stage II ovotestis is first visible attached to the dorsal strand in the gonad hemocoel of animals only slightly larger than 0.3 mm (Figs. 23 & 24). The location of the ovotestis within the gonad hemocoel is somewhat variable, but it is always found close to the posterior extremity of the animal, well below the level of the intestine and on the right side of. – the body (Fig. 23). At this stage the ovotestis is 7 to 10  $\mu$ m in diameter, and consists of two large cells which form a teardrop shape (Figs. 24 & 25),

The Stage 11 ovotestis is closely associated with the epidermis, but they do not make direct contact. There are abundant connective tissue fibers around the ovotestis (Figs. 23 & 25); the fibers are about 35 nm in diameter with a banding pattern similar to that of collagen (Fig. 26). The fibers may serve to anchor the ovotestis to the epidermis, or to prevent contact between the ovotestis and the numerous blood cells and cells of the degenerating axial complex that are present in the gonad hemocoel (Figs. 22 & 23). The two cells of the Stage II ovotestis are morphologically identical. They generally form a regular, smoothly contoured outline (Fig. 25), although they may have short, blunt extensions. Individual cells are approximately 6  $\mu$ m in their longest dimension. The nucleus contains a conspicuous nucleolus; the nucleoplasm is otherwise relatively diffuse, although there are localized regions of peripheral heterochromatin (Fig. 27). The cytoplasm contains few mitochondria, a Golgi complex, an occasional secondary lysosome, scattered profiles of lamellar rough endoplasmic reticulum (Fig. 27), and free ribosomes and glycogen rosettes. There are no specialized junctions between the cells of the ovotestis at this stage, nor is there any indication of a basal lamina around the cells (Fig. 27).

The cells of the ovotestis, in this stage of gonadogenesis, are virtually indistinguishable from hemoblasts of the circulating blood. The hemoblasts contain nuclear and cytoplasmic elements that are morphologically identical to those of the ovotestis (Figs. 27 & 28). The only way the ovotestis itself can be postively identified is by its location, and its attachment to the dorsal strand.

## STAGE III

In animals which measure from 0.4 to 1.0 mm, the ovotestis is always found in the gonad hemocoel posterior to the intestine and ventral to the stomach. It consists of a clump of 15 to 20 cells, and measures 20 to 25  $\mu$ m in length and 10 to 15  $\mu$ m in width. The clump of cells is generally elongate in the smallest individuals of this stage (Fig. 29), although it is occasionally triangular. In larger animals of this stage, the ovotestis becomes a solid spherical clump of cells.

Two types of cells are easily distinguishable in the ovotestis of this stage. There are 2 to 3 large cells approximately 6.5  $\mu$ m in diameter with a conspicuous nucleus 4.5  $\mu$ m in diameter. These are the gonial cells. The remainder of the cells of the ovotestis are somatic cells; they are relatively squamous, and while variable in size, may be as much as 7  $\mu$ m long by 1.5  $\mu$ m wide.

The somatic cells surround the gonial cells.

**Gonial Cells** 

The gonial cells are approximately spherical (Fig. 30), with short processes extending from several regions of the cell (Figs, 31 & 34). They contain a large nucleus with diffuse chromatin, little peripheral heterochromatin, and a prominent nucleolus (Fig. 30). Beaded granular clusters are occasionally visible in the nucleoplasm between the nucleolus and the nuclear envelope (Fig. 30). The cytoplasm of the gonial cells contains numerous free tibosomes and glycogen rosettes (Figs. 30 & 32). Small aggregations of granular material, which do not have a distinct structure, are found in localized regions of the perinuclear cytoplasm and associated with nuclear pores (Figs. 30 & 32). There are numerous mitochondria, most with a single matrix granule visible in section, a few cisternae of rough endoplasmic reticulum (Fig. 30), occasional secondary lysosomes up to 1  $\mu m$  in diameter, and a small Golgi complex (Fig. 31) in these cells. Myeloid figures (Fig. 32), and spherical finely- grained inclusions which are  $0.3 \mu m$  in diameter and not limited by membranes, are also found in the cytoplasm (Fig. 33). The organelles of each gonial cell are relatively more abundant in the region opposite to the point of contact with its neighboring gonial cell (Fig. 30). No specialized junctions were found between gonial/cells at this stage, although there are infrequent membrane densities between the gonial cells and the somatic cells which surround them (Fig. 30).

#### Somatic Cells

The somatic cells of the Stage III gonad are variable in size and shape; some are elongate, and up to  $7 \mu m$  in length with an elliptical nucleus (Figs. 30, 31 & 34). Others, particularly those at the extremities of the ovotestis, are cuboidal with oval nuclei (Fig. 35). The somatic cells have long processes that completely surround the gonial cells (Fig. 31), separating them completely from the environment of the gonad hemocoel. A thin basal laming, external to the somatic cells, is first visible in this stage (Figs. 34 & 35).

The nuclei of the somatic cells contain an eccentrically placed nucleolus and some peripheral heterochromatin (Figs. 34 & 35). The cytoplasm of a few of the somatic cells has vesicles of rough endoplasmic reticulum containing a diffuse matrix (Fig. 36), in addition to the flat cisternal form. A single cilium is found on the surface of other somatic cells; each projects into a small pocket between cell processes of both the gonial and the somatic cells (Figs. 30 & 36). Clusters of small clear vesicles are generally found subjacent to the plasmalemma near these intercellular pockets (Fig. 37). A coiling of the plasmalemma is also infrequently encountered along the borders between adjacent somatic cells (Fig. 38). This coiling may also be associated with clusters of vesicles. The basal portions of the somatic cells are joined by desmosomes (Fig. 39).

At the dorsal most aspect of the ovotestis, the somatic cells are continuous with the dorsal strand (Fig. 29); the dorsal strand at this point of contact remains a single cell in diameter, and is never expanded into a bulbous enlargement. The basal lamina of the somatic cells is continuous with the external lamina of the dorsal strand,

#### STAGE IV

Animals in this stage of gonadogenesis measure from 1.0 to 1.6 mm. The ovotestis is located in the same position as in Stage III, and it is now a hollow mass of cells, 25 to 30  $\mu$ m in diameter, and consisting of 30 to 50 cells. The ovotestis is spherical to ellipsoidal in shape with' a small irregular lumen in the smaller individuals, and with an extensive lumen in the larger ()

animals (Figs. 40 & 41). Localized regions of thinning are common in the ovotestis of the larger animals, and these are most extensive adjacent to the epidermis and in the region of attachment to the dorsal strand (Figs. 40 & 41). Stubby protuberances from some of the somatic cells extend towards the epidermis (Fig. 42), although none of these appear to make physical contact with it. Small intercellular pockets on the abluminal surface of the ovotestis are usually visible in live material with DIC microscopy. These are formed by processes of adjacent somatic cells, and they contain a diffuse matrix. In the dorsal most region of the ovotestis, the somatic cells are continuous with the dorsal strand (Fig. 15). The dorsal strand forms a bulbous enlargement that is two to three cells thick in this region (Fig. 15).

Gonial Colls

The gonial cells are spherical in shape, approximately 7.0  $\mu$ m in diameter, and are only slightly larger in diameter than the gonial cells of Stage III. Judging, from serial one- micrometer sections, 10 to 12 of these cells are present, and they are surrounded luminally and abluminally by somatic cells (Figs. 42 & 43).

The nuclei of the gonial cells measure 4.5  $\mu$ m in diameter. There are small regions of peripheral heterochromatin in localized regions of the nuclear envelope (Figs. 42, 43 & 45). There are also granular clusters in the peripheral nucleoplasm which are associated with nuclear pores (Figs. 43, 44 & 45). In certain favorable sections it appears that material is passing from the nucleus to the cytoplasm through the pores (Figs. 44 & 45); this is more frequently encountered than in the previous stage of gonadogenesis.

The difference in density between the gonial cells and somatic cells is less pronounced than in the Stage III gonad. The cytoplasm of the gonial cells contains ribosomes and glycogen rosettes (Figs. 43, 44 & 45). Mitochondria are more abundant in the gonial cells of this stage than in the Stage III gonad, particularly

s:è

â

peripheral to the nucleus. The gonial cells contain a few lamellae of rough endoplasmic reticulum which appears to encircle the cell (Figs, 43 & 45). Small vesicles containing flocculent material are associated with the luminal side of the plasmalemma (Fig. 45). Secondary lysosomes are conspicuous organelles in the cytoplasm (Fig. 43), as are myeloid figures (Figs. 43 & 46), and occasional small lipid droplets. In addition, the spherical fine-grained inclusions first seen in the gonial cells of the Stage III ovotestis (Fig. 33), are more abundant here, particularly in the perinuclear cytoplasm. There is one other cytoplasmic element în the gonial cells that is first observed in this stage of gonadogenesis and that is exclusive to the gonial cells, It is an inclusion, 0.3 to 0.4  $\mu$ m in diameter, that lacks a membrane. It consists of dense, irregularly shaped clumps of electron-dense granular material (Figs, 43, 44 & 46). There are two or more such aggregations in each gonial cell. This inclusion, hereafter referred to as 'nuage', is often associated with nuclear pores (Fig. 44). Núage is generally fairly diffuse near the nucleus (Fig. 45), and more compact further from the nucleus (Fig. 46), and it appears that nuage is transported from the nucleus to the cytoplasm through the nuclear pores. There are no specialized junctions joining the membranes of adjacent gonial cells to each other, but there are occasional membrane densities between the gonial cells and adjacent somatic cells (Figs. 42, 43 & 45).

#### Somatic Cells

There are two types of somatic cells in the Stage IV ovotestis, based on cell shape and characteristics of the nucleus. The Type I somatic cells are located both on the abluminal side of the gonial cells, and also in the thinner regions of the ovotestis, where gonial cells are absent (Fig. 47). These are squamous cells with elongate cytoplasmic processes which may overlap at their margins (Fig. 48). They

often extend for several micrometers in regions devoid of gonial cells (Fig. 47). These cells contain an elongate nucleus with fairly dense chromatin relative to the gonial cells (Fig. 47). The cytoplasm of the Type I somatic cells contains lamellar RER, and an infrequent vesicle of RER, a small Golgi complex and few mitochondria. Some of these cells bear a single cilium which usually projects into the lumen of the ovotestis, but occasionally into a pocket between processes of adjacent somatic cells. Zonulae adhaerentes bind adjacent Type I somatic cells (Fig. 48).

The remainder of the somatic cells of this stage are the Type II somatic cells. These are irregularly shaped low cuboidal cells, variable in size (up to 6  $\mu$ m in length), with extensive cytoplasmic processes which surround adjacent cells (Fig. 42). The Type II cells are found primarily in the thicker regions of the ovotestis where they abut gonial cells. The cytoplasmic processes of the Type II cells surround the gonial cells and the cell may span the entire distance from the basal lamina to the lumen (Fig. 42). The Type II somatic cells have basally to centrally placed nuclei, and the nucleoplasm is more dense than in the Type I somatic cells. The cytoplasm contains abundant vesicular RER with a diffuse intracisternal matrix (Figs. 42 & 50), and an extensive Golgi complex (Fig. 49). Large secondary lysosomes are also abundant in these cells, and mitochondria are more numerous than in the Type I somatic cells. These cells may also contain large vacuoles (Fig. 50), lipid droplets (Figs. 50), and small, spherical fine-grained inclusions similar to those found in the gonial cells (Fig. 33). The Type II somatic cells are bound to one another by desmosomes,

STAGE V

Animals in this stage measure from 1.8 to 2.4 mm. The intestine has descended to a more posterior position than in the previous stage, and it forms a distinct loop which nearly surrounds the ovotestis. The ovotestis is an ellipsoidal to fusiform structure constricted near the site of dorsal strand attachment (Fig. 51). It is approximately 35  $\mu$ m in length in smaller animals of this stage, but grows into a crescent shape, approximately 75  $\mu$ m in length by 45  $\mu$ m in larger specimens, immediately prior to differentiation of the testicular rudiment in Stage V1. The lumen of the ovotestis is extensive (Figs. 51 & 52), and cilia project into it it from somatic cells. Pits can still be seen on the abluminal surface of the ovotestis, although the outer surface is more regular in appearance than in Stage 1V. At its dorsal-most aspect, the ovotestis is attached to a blunt expansion of the dorsal'strand (Fig. 51).

X

The primary difference between the Stage IV and Stage V ovotestis is that in this stage the germinal layer is confined to the ventral third of the organ (Figs. 51 & 52), a configuration that will persist during subsequent stages of gonadogenesis. In addition, the germinal layer becomes substantially thicker, with one or more gonial cells forming the wall of the germinal layer (Fig. 52). The remainder of the ovotestis consists primarily of Type I somatic cells, with long processes in the regions devoid of gonial cells (Figs. 51 & 52).

## **Gonial Cells**

Coinciding with the thickening of the germinal layer during this stage, the gonial cells are more numerous (Fig. 53). Individual gonial cells may have short, blunt cytoplasmic extensions that project toward somatic cells on the abluminal surface of the ovotestis. No junctions between adjacent gonial cells have been observed, although there are membrane densities between gonial cells and the somatic cells that surround them. The gonial cells are comparable in size to those of the Stage IV ovotestis, as is the fine structure of the nucleus. In the cytoplasm, the

27

\$(]]-

Golgi complex is prominent, probably indicating increased synthetic activity. Nuage is found dispersed in the perinuclear cytoplasm, and there is a noticeable increase in the abundance of this inclusion in the gonial cells of the Stage V ovotestis. It should be noted that the gonial cells in the ovotestis of each individual possess the same relative amounts of nuage, which may correspond to a cyclic production of this germ line specific inclusion. Vesicular RER has not been observed in any of these cells.

Some smaller (5 to 6  $\mu$ m) gonial cells are found in the germinal layer of this stage (Fig. 53), although this is the only stage in which they have been observed. Nuage serves to distinguish the small gonial cells from the Type II somatic cells; it is otherwise difficult to distinguish them.

#### Somatic Cells

Both Type I and Type II somatic cells are more numerous in this stage than in the Stage IV ovotestis. There is an increase in the number of cilia projecting from the Type I cells into the lumen of the ovotestis. The Type I somatic cells are continuous with the dorsal strand at the dorsal end of the ovotestis. The Type II somatic cells are found almost exclusively in the germinal layer, associated with gonial cells. These somatic cells have conspicuously denser nucleoplasm than either the Type I somatic cells or the gonial cells (Fig. 54). Short processes extend from the Type II cells into the area between adjacent gonial cells and there may be several such processes in each cell (Fig. 54). The cytoplasm of the Type II somatic cells also contains occasional clusters of granular material which resemble aggregations of ribosomes (Fig. 55), as well as spherical fine- grained inclusions found in Type II somatic cells in the Stage IV ovotestis (Fig. 55).

#### STAGE VI

In this stage, animals measure from 2.6 to 2.7 mm. The ovotestis is located in the same position as in Stage V, although the gut loop has expanded as the intestine drops to a more posterior position. A slight bulge develops near the midline in the anterior region of the ovotestis early in Stage VI, and this is followed by a separation of the organ into two distinct portions. This process appears to be very rapid, because I have observed vety, few animals in which the bulge was in the process of forming.

The two portions of the developing gonad that result from this separation are the ovarian and testicular rudiments. The ovarian rudiment's similar to the ovotestis of Stage V. It is elongate, ellipsoidal or crescentic in shape, and measures approximately 80  $\mu$ m by 40  $\mu$ m (Figs. 56 & 57). The lumen is extensive. Gonial cells are concentrated in the ventral half of the organ, grading into a sparsely ciliated, dorsal somatic region. The dorsal strand attaches to the somatic cells of the ovarian rudiment at its dorsal most aspect. The testicular rudiment is oval in shape and approximately 20  $\mu$ m in diameter. Gonial cells are relatively few in this organ, and they are evenly distributed. The testis is attached to the anterior portion of the ovary (Figs. 56 & 57).

#### 1. OVARIAN RUDIMENT

The germinal layer of the ovarian rudiment, other than in the region of contact between the ovarian and testicular rudiments of the developing gonad, is 3 to 4 cells thick in the ventral most region, and includes 1 to 2 gonial cells and somatic cells in section (Fig. 58). This germinal layer is continuous with a thinner region containing a single gonial cell in section (Fig. 59), and comprising the remaining ventral half of the ovarian rudiment. This thinner region of the germinal layer is continuous with the squamous somatic cells that constitute the dorsal part of the organ (Fig. 60). The germinal layer in this stage is thicker than that of the Stage V gonad. Gonial Cells; Oogonia

The gonial cells are more numerous in this stage of gonadogenesis, but they are similar in size to those of the Stage V gonad. Some gonial cells, however, have an enlarged, rounded nucleus with condensed chromatin localized in distinct clumps (Fig. 58); this does not appear to be a fixation artifact, and these cells may be entering into division stages. The cytoplasm of the gonial cells is similar to that of Stage V gonial cells, but there is yet more dispersed nuage, in addition to some perinuclear clusters of nuage. These cells also contain annulate lamellae, composed of 5 to 8 closely packed cisternae (Fig. 61). The gonial cells in the thickest region of the ovary have short cytoplasmic processes which extend between adjacent cells to contact the Type II somatic cells (Fig. 58). The gonial cells in the thinner portion of the germinal layer do not have processes at their points of contact with the somatic cells (Fig. 59).

Although there are considerably more gonial cells in this stage of gonadogenesis, no mitotic figures have ever been observed in these cells, or those of any of the preceding stages. As at least ten individuals of each stage have been sectioned and examined, I conclude that mitotic proliferation is a rapidly occurring, relatively synchronous event. In certain sections of this stage of gonadogenesis, a structure is present connecting adjacent gonial cells, close to the abluminal surface of the organ (Fig. 62). I interpret this to be a midbody. These cells, therefore, may be recently divided daughter cells.

#### Somatic Cells

The Type I somatic cells continue dorsally from the germinal layer to the attachment of the dorsal strand. These cells are identical in appearance to those of the previous stages. They form a single cell layer, but they overlap adjacent cells at

both ends (Fig. 63). Junctions between adjacent Type I cells are zonulae adhaerentes, found on both the luminal and abluminal surfaces of the cells. Several of these cells have cilia, which extend into the lumen of the ovarian rudiment (Fig. 63). These cells do not contain the vesicular form of rough endoplasmic reticulum.

Somatic cells still surround the gonial cells in the germinal layer of the ovarian rudiment, and nuclei of somatic cells are found near both the luminal and abluminal surfaces of the organ (Fig. 58). On the basis of the provide a nuclear characteristics, and the presence of vesicular RER, it is apparent that most of the somatic cells in the germinal layer are the Type II somatic cell. In the thinner region of the germinal layer, which contains a single gonial cell in section, these cells span the entire distance between the luminal and abluminal surfaces; their processes surround the gonial cells on all sides (Fig. 59). In the thicker portion of the germinal layer it is more difficult to follow the processes of the somatic cells. but each gonial cell contacts a Type II somatic cell or cells in several places (Fig. 58). It appears that throughout this portion of the germinal layer, there is a somatic cell process extending between adjacent gonial cells, although somatic cells may not form a continuous layer around each gonial cell (Figs 58 & 59). Each gonial cell also contacts other gonial cells in one or more regions of its surface (Figs. 58 & 59). Type I somatic cells, with more diffuse chromatin, and cilia, are occasionally found on the luminal surface of the ovarian rudiment (Fig. 59).

# 2. CONTACT BETWEEN OVARIAN AND TESTICULAR RUDIMENTS

The testicular rudiment arises from a small region, approximately 20  $\mu$ m in length, of the thin germinal layer in the anterior portion of the developing gonad (Figs. 64 & 65). It appears that the testicular rudiment forms as an evagination of the ovotestis, which initially communicates with the ovarian rudiment at a large opening. Somewhat later, this opening

decreases in diameter, so that the communication between the lumina of the rudiments is only approximately 5  $\mu$ m in diameter. The basal laminae of the two rudimentary organs are continuous (Fig. 65). The cells in the region where the ovarian and testicular rudiments make contact form a multi-layered epithelium (Fig. 65). There are always 1 to 2 gonial cells in this region, which are recognizable by their nuage and the density of their cytoplasm (Figs. 65 & 66). In addition to the organelles typical of gonial cells, these cells also contain several small vesicles with a finely grained electron dense material (Fig. 67). These structures are typically found close to the abluminal plasmalemma.

Somatic cells or their processes surround the gonial cells in the region of contact between the ovarian and testicular rudiments. The somatic cells form a layer 2 to 3 cells thick in this region (Fig. 65). They are all similar, and appear to be Type II, based on the presence of vesicular endoplasmic reticulum. However, the nuclei of these cells contain relatively diffuse nucleoplasm, and one or two nucleoli (Figs. 65 & 66).

#### 3. TESTICULAR RUDIMENT

The testicular rudiment is similar in structure to the ovarian rudiment. The gonial cells are present throughout the organ (Fig. 64), however, rather than being localized into a separate germinal region, as in the ovary.

#### Gonial Cells; Spermatogonia

There are relatively few gonial cells in the testicular rudiment of this stage. They are similar in size to the gonial cells of the ovarian rudiment, and contain identical organelles, including nuage, and in similar proportions (Fig. 68). The testicular gonial cells are also surrounded by somatic cells or their processes (Fig. 68), as is true in the ovarian rudiment.

Somatic Cells

The somatic cells of the testicular rudiment are are not separable into two distinct types as is the case in the ovarian rudiment. Some of the somatic cells are more squamous, with long cytoplasmic processes, while others are more cuboidal, particularly those somatic cells adjacent to the gonial cells. Each somatic cell extends from the luminal to the abluminal surface of the testicular rudiment (Figs. 65 & 68). Some of the somatic cells bear cilia which project into the lumen or into small intercellular pockets (Fig. 68), reminiscent of the Type I somatic cells of the ovarian rudiment.

#### STAGE VII

Animals in this stage measure from 2.8 to 4.0 mm. The intestine has descended further in a posterior direction and the gonad is now completely surrounded by the loop of the gut, and is situated between the stomach and intestine. This is the position in which the gonad is found in adults. The ovarian and testicular portions of the developing gonad continue to lengthen and increase in width after their separation in Stage VI. Stage VII marks the completion of the early stages of gonadogenesis, resulting in the establishment of the basic structure of the adult gonad. It includes what is assumed to be the initial stage of folliculogenesis and the establishment of the oviduct and sperm duct.

The ovary of this stage, as in Stages V and VI, is oval in shape with an extensive lumen. It is approximately 150  $\mu$ m in length with the gonial cells localized in the ventral most region of the organ (Figs. 70 & 71). There is a thinner region, particularly on the lateral surfaces, which also contains a single layer of gonial cells. The remainder of the ovary consists of squamous cells, found adjacent to the testis (Figs. 70 & 71), and continuing into an elongate, sparsely ciliated tubular extension, the oviduct (Fig. 70), that follows along the intestine. This extension continues to grow towards the atrium. The oviduct remains continuous at its tapered dorsal end with the dorsal strand.

The testis is initially located along the anterior region of the ovary, and it may either continue its development in this position (Fig. 70), or it may drop to a more lateral position on the right side of the ovary (Fig. 69). It is oval in shape, sparsely ciliated, and is approximately  $60 \ \mu m$  in length (Fig. 70). The gonial cells are concentrated in the ventral part of the testis, and this germinal region is continuous with a squamous epithelium that forms the developing sperm duct (Figs. 69 & 70). The sperm duct opens into the oviduct close to the attachment of the dorsal strand (Fig. 70).

I. OV ARY

The germinal layer in the ventral most portion of the ovary is 2 to 3 gonial cells thick (Fig. 71), and is continuous with a thinner region, containing a single cell in section. There are somatic cell nuclei along both the luminal and abluminal surfaces of the ovary, although they are more numerous on the luminal surface (Fig. 72). In addition, somatic cells are found penetrating between adjacent gonial cells (Fig. 71). The germinal layer is still continuous with the squamous somatic cells that form the oviduct (Fig. 70).

#### Gonial Cells

The gonial cells of this stage are considerably more numerous than in the Stage VI gonad (Fig. 71). They are approximately 7.0  $\mu$ mn diameter, not noticeably larger than in previous stages of gonadogenesis. The cytoplasm of the gonial cells is very dense, containing large concentrations of glycogen and ribosomes (Figs. 72 & 73). There is also an increase in the number of granular clusters of nuage in the perinuclear cytoplasm (Fig. 72) in addition to the extensive amount of dispersed nuage. The mitochondria are still more abundant immediately surrounding the nucleus (Fig. 72), and the RER, Golgi complexes and occasional

vacuoles containing small vesicles are similar in distribution to the gonial cells of the Stage VI ovarian rudiment. Short cytoplasmic processes extend from good cells, to contact somatic cells. In addition, several of the gonial cells have the short connections between adjacent gonial cells, which I consider to be midbodies, as first seen in the Stage VI gonad. These short connections have densely staining membranes which extend approximately  $0.3 \ \mu m$  from the base of the gonial cell. There are infrequently observed zonulae adhaerentes binding gonial cells to somatic cell processes. These junctions are probably quite localized and are seldom

35

encountered in sections,

## Somatic Cells

Type I somatic cells are still found primarily in the region of the ovary that is devoid of gonial cells, and they extend dorsally from the germinal layer to form the tubular developing oviduct (Figs. 70 & 71). They are also found on the luminal surface of the ovary. The nuclear and cytoplasmic characteristics of these cells are identical to those of the Stage VI gonad. The Type II somatic cells are numerous in the germinal layer of this stage, and can be identified in 1  $\mu$ m sections by their shape and the dense staining of the nucleus (Fig. 71). In this stage, as in Stage VI, the nuclei of these cells are found primarily on the luminal surface of the ovary. These somatic cells have long cytoplasmic processes which extend between adjacent gonial cells, and which isolate the gonial cells from both the gonad hemocoel and the lumen of the ovary. The Type II somatic cells are also found between gonial cells in the thick portion of the germinal layer (Figs. 71, 73 & 74), where they conform to the contours of adjacent cells. Type II cells are also found on the dorsal edge of the germinal layer (Fig. 75), abutting the region of the ovary dominated by Type I cells. The cytoplasm of the Type II somatic cells is similar to that described in previous stages. Vesicular RER is however, less abundant in the cells of this stage.

#### Oviduct

The developing oviduct is a wide (approximately 25  $\mu$ m) tubular continuation of the squamous somatic region of the ovary that is devoid of gonial cells (Figs. 69, 70 & 71). There is no distinct separation of the oviduct from the ovary (Figs. 70 & 71). The dorsal strand attaches to the dorsal most aspect of the oviduct in a small conical projection that is 2 to 3 cells in diameter, not different from previous stages. The sperm duct opens into the oviduct near this site. The cells of the oviduct form a simple squamous epithelium, with overlapping processes that are bound together by zonulae adherentes. The nuclear and cytoplasmic characteristics of the oviduct cells are identical to those of the Type I somatic cells of the ovary. In areas where the oviduct runs adjacent to the testis or the sperm duct, a distinct basal lamina surrounds each of the two structures (Fig. 76).

#### 2. TESTIS

The germinal layer of the Stage VII testis is localized in the ventral half of the organ, and is continuous with a simple squamous epithelium devoid of gonial cells which forms the remainder of the organ (Figs. 69 & 70). This germinal layer consists of a stratified epithelium comprising a luminal germinal layer, and a subjacent squamous somatic layer. At its dorsal most aspect the testis is constricted in diameter, and is continuous with a long narrow sperm duct (Fig. 70) which has no lumen at this stage.

#### Gonial Cells

The gonial cells of the testis are smoothly contoured, and approximately 7.0  $\mu$ m in diameter. They are similar in size and structure to the gonial cells of the

ovary (Figs. 77 & 78). The nucleus contains localized regions of condensed peripheral chromatin and small clumps of granular material near the nuclear pores (Figs. 78 & 79). The cytoplasm contains glycogen rosettes and numerous ribosomes (Fig. 79). There are a few clusters of nuage in the perinuclear cytoplasm (Fig. 79). identical to that of the gonial cells of the ovary, although not as numerous. In certain regions of the nuclear envelope, small granular clusters are found in the cytoplasm which appear to have passed through the nuclear pores (Fig. 79). A few mitochondria, short profiles of RER, infrequent myeloid figures, and a few vesicles containing flocculent material are also found (Figs, 7 & 79). The gonial cells of the testis rest on a single layer of somatic cells (Fig. 80) and border on and project into the lumen of the organ. They are not surrounded by somatic cells or their processes (Figs, 77 & 78). No junctions are found either between adjacent gonial cells or between gonial cells and the somatic cells on which they rest (Fig. 78). Some of the gonial cells are completely separated from the underlying somatic cells. and are free in the lumen of the testis (Fig. 77). These may be primary, spermatocytes.

Somatic Cells .

The somatic cells of the testis underlie the gonial cells in the germinal layer, and form the remainder of the organ. They form a simple squamous layer with overlapping processes, but without processes extending between adjacent gonial cells (Fig. 78). They are similar in structure to the Type I somatic cells of the ovary (Figs. 78 & 80). The cytoplasm is unremarkable, containing a large Golgi complex, few mitochondria and an occasional secondary lysosome (Fig. 80). Cilia project from most of the somatic cells into the lumen of the testis (Fig. 80). There appears to be only a single cilium per cell, and they are found in both the germinal and somatic regions of the testis (Figs. 71 & 80). Zonulae adhaerentes bind adjacent somatic cells at their apical ends (Fig. 80), but they are not joined basally. 38

Sperm Duct

The lumen of the testis narrows markedly at its dorsal end to form a solid region several somatic cells in diameter (Figs. 70 & 76). This marks the beginning of the sperm duct, which has no lumen at this stage. The cells of this region are bound together with zonulae adhaerentes (Figs. 76 & 81). They may form an irregular contoured outline on their basal edges so that the basal lamina projects into spaces between adjacent cells (Fig. 82). Further from the testis, the sperm duct is only two cells thick, running adjacent to the oviduct, and without a lumen (Fig. 83). Near the attachment of the dorsal strand to the oviduct the sperm duct fuses with the anterior aspect of the oviduct. No special elaborations are visible in these cells at this point of contact. As the oviduct continues to grow towards the attrium, the sperm duct grows as well, maintaining its connection to the oviduct in relatively the same configuration.

#### IV. DISCUSSION

#### A. GONADOGENESIS

The development of the ascidian reproductive system from a small mass of mesodermally derived cells has received considerable attention, particularly in the older literature, Relatively little work has been done on gonadogenesis, however, in recent years, and most of the research on this subject has been based on the blastorooids of compound species, (Kowalevsky, 1874a, b; Van Beneden, 1881; Seeliger, 1893-1906; Van Beneden and Julin, 1884, 1886; Maurice, 1888; Lefevre, 1897, 1898; Bancroft, 1899; Simkins, 1924; Brien, 1925, 1927, 1939, 1948; Berrill, 1941a, b; Aubert, 1954; Newberry, 1968; Izzard, 1968; Mukai and Watanabe, 1976; Sabbadin and Zaniolo, 1979), Only a few studies are available on gonadogenesis in a solitary species (Kowalevsky, 1866, 1871; Van Beneden and Julin, 1884, 1886; Julin, 1893; De Selys Longchamps and Damas, 1900; Huus, 1924; Aubert, 1954). These studies reveal that the stages of gonadogenesis among those ascidians which possess compound gonads are strikingly similar regardless of their taxonomic position. There is a great range of detail presented in these works, both on the stages of gonadogenesis and on the organization of the cells that form the developing gonad. My work on Corella inflata is the most thorough documentation of the morphological changes that take place during gonadogenesis, and is the only study that examines the organization and structure of the cells that constitute the developing gonad. These morphological changes are summarized in Illustration 3 and in Table 1.

I have observed the gonad in <u>Corella inflata</u> at an earlier stage of development than has been reported in any previous study of a solitary ascidian. In this animal, the first indication of the developing gonad is one or a pair of hemoblasts located subjacent to the epidermis in the gonad hemocoel, in close proximity to the dorsal strand. My observations suggest that these hemoblasts subsequently make contact with the terminal, tapered end of the dorsal strand.

39

\$

because in the next stage, a pair of hemoblast-like cells is always found in contact with the dorsal strand. I have never observed animals in later stages of gonadogenesis without this association. The contact between the pre-gonadal hemoblasts and the dorsal strand appears to be critical to the initiation and the continuation of gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>.

My observations indicate that the dorsal strand does not itself produce the first cells of the ovotestis, but rather that the dorsal strand makes contact with cells that are already present in the gonad hemocoel. The dorsal strand never bears a bulbous or swollen region at its tip before it makes contact with the hemoblasts, and mitotic figures have never been seen in these cells. It is reasonable to assume then, that in <u>Corella inflata</u> the first stage of gonadogenesis consists of an initial accumulation of a pair of hemoblasts, which subsequently becomes associated with the dorsal strand.

In <u>Corella inflata</u>, once this accumulation of hemoblasts is established, it constitutes a unique population of cells. The hemoblasts that form the initial accumulation of pre-gonadal cells are not augmented by an additional contribution of hemoblasts from the blood. This has also been observed in <u>Distomus variolosus</u> (Newberry, 1968), although the number of hemoblasts that forms the initial pre-gonadal accumulation is substantially greater than in <u>Corella</u>.

Most investigators describe the initial stage of gonadogenesis as a small cluster of mesodermally derived cells located in the gonad hemocoel of phlebobranchs and aplousobranchs (Berrill, 1950; Monniot and Monniot, 1972), and in the mantle or mantle sinus of stolidobranchs (Berrill, 1950; Monniot and Monniot, 1972; Newberry, 1968). In <u>Corella inflata</u> (a phlebobranch), however, the ovotestis at this point consists of two distinct cell types which are clearly discernible in TEMs; the gonial cells and the somatic cells. To a large extent, the gonial cells retain their hemoblastic morphology, although they are completely surrounded by somatic cells which isolate them from the gonad hemocoel. The ovotestis is attached to the dorsal strand at the dorsal most aspect, an orientation that is maintained during the entire

process of gonadogenesis. There is always a surrounding layer of connective tissue fibers which probably serves to anchor the ovotestis to the epidermis. I have frequently observed blood cells in the gonad hemocoel around the ovotestis, which probably have physiological functions here (Wright, 1981).

The small cluster of cells subsequently cavitates to form a spherical mass with an extensive central lumen in <u>Corella inflata</u>. The germinal layer of the ovotestis is a a single gonial cell in thickness during this stage, and there may be localized regions of thinning in small areas facing the epidermis which do not contain gonial cells. Nuage is first seen in the gonial cells of the cavitated ovotestis, and it is associated with material that appears to be moving from the nucleus to the cytoplasm through the nuclear pores. Nuage identifies the gonial cells specifically as part of the germ cell line (Beams and Kessel, 1974; Eddy, 1975; Kessel, 1983). These gonial cells are now completely isolated from both the internal and external environments of the ovotestis by somatic cell processes, which may be essential to the production of nuage. There are two-different types of somatic cells identifiable in the cavitated ovotestis. The Type I somatic cells are found consistently in association with gonial cells; they are more cuboidal, and possess nuclei with denser nucleoplasm. These characteristics of the gonial cells are found in all subsequent stages of gonadogenesis.

In <u>Corella inflata</u> the ovotestis is divisible into a peripheral or ventral germinal layer that is several cells thick, and a more elongate, dorsally placed somatic region during the next stage of gonadogenesis. While there are no substantial differences in the cells that form the ovotestis at this stage, the morphological organization that is established here persists throughout later development. In addition, the Type I somatic cells in the dorsal region extend further dorsally to form a tubular expansion that will ultimately become the oviduct. The dorsal strand maintains its attachment to the dorsal most aspect of this developing duct.

υ

The ovotestis divides into rudiments of separate sex in the next stage of gonadogenesis. In Corella inflata, the testicular rudiment appears to form as a bulging, or evagination from a small region of the anterior part of the ovotestis that is a single gonial cell thick. The fine structure of the cells at the site of testicular rudiment formation is unremarkable although there is a considerable number of small vesicles whose contents are unknown, and which do not appear elsewhere in these cells. There are no other special cellular features, including contractile elements that have been observed at the ultrastructural level. An examination of the factors that control the process of testicular rudiment formation was beyond the scope of this research, but this is of considerable interest in understanding the nature of the hermaphroditic gonad. It should be noted that the differentiation of the testicular rudiment from the ovotestis is the stage of gonadogenesis that is the most variable according to accounts in the literature. In some species testicular rudiment formation is by budding of the ovotestis (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886; Lefevre, 1898; De Selys Longchamps and Damas, 1900; Aubert, 1954), while in others a furrow forms which divides the ovotestis into two separate rudiments (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886; Julin. 1893; Lefevre, 1897; Bancroft, 1899). It is possible, however, that these apparent differences result from different levels of investigation, and the mechanism of testicular rudiment formation requires a careful reevaluation in several species.

The organization of the ovarian rudiment of this stage is essentially identical to the ovotestis of the previous stage, although the germinal layer contains considerably more gonial cells. In addition, the oviduct continues to develop as an extension of the ovarian rudiment during this stage, growing in a dorsal direction toward the atrium.

The testicular rudiment has fewer gonial cells than the ovarian rudiment, and these are not localized into a distinct germinal layer. These gonial cells are indistinguishable from the gonial cells of the ovarian rudiment; they contain nuage, and are surrounded by somatic cell processes which isolate them from the external and internal environments of the organ. There is no distinction between somatic cells in the testicular rudiment all somatic cells are similar to the Type I somatic cells of the ovarian rudiment. The testicular rudiment opens at a small neck into the duct of the ovarian rudiment, close to the point of contact between the oviduct and the dorsal strand.

The establishment of the basic structure of the adult reproductive system is essentially completed during the next stage of gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>. The ovary and testis are separate and distinct organs, and each has an exit duct which extends towards the atrium. The number of gonial cells, or oogonia, in the germinal layer has increased, and there are somatic cells in the germinal layer that probably represent developing follicle cells. These cells are similar to the Type II somatic cells, and it is likely that they differentiate from that cell type. The germinal layer of the ovary extends into the somatic region of the developing oviduct. The oviduct has lengthened, and it remains attached to the dorsal strand at the dorsal most aspect of the ovary. There is never any evidence of either cell divisions or a bifurcation of the dorsal strand, that might suggest that the dorsal strand gives rise to the oviduct, as suggested by Huus (1924) in <u>Corella parallelogramma</u>. The periphery of the germinal layer or the margins of the duct itself probably proliferate to form the oviduct.

The testis also enlarges during this stage, and the germinal layer becomes localized in the ventral region of this organ. The gonial cells, or spermatogonia, of the testis are not noticabely different from the oogonia of the ovary. These cells rest on a somatic epithelium, and they are not surrounded by somatic cell processes on their luminal surface, but rather project into the lumen. The sperm duct develops from the wall of the testis, and opens into the lumen of the oviduct close to its attachment with the dorsal strtand. As the oviduct extends toward the atrium, the sperm duct also extends so that its position relative to the oviduct is maintained. The sperm duct is always found in close proximity to the oviduct, and it is always surrounded by a distinct basal lamina.

There are many questions concerning the process of gonadogenesis in ascidians that have been raised during this study of <u>Corella inflata</u>. These primarily concern the cellular

mechanisms that are involved in the morphological changes that take place during gonadogenesis. Of particular interest are the processes of cavitation, germinal layer localization, the differentiation of the testicular rudiment from the ovotestis, and formation of the gonoducts. Because the site of formation of the testicular rudiment appears to be constant in a given species, are there characteristics of the cells that participate in testicular rudiment formation that are different from other cells of the ovotestis? Finally, are the gonial cells and somatic cells, which are first distinguished as separate cell types in the ovotestis prior to cavitation, derived from the same cells? These questions have not been answered by histological or ultrastructural examination, and require an experimental approach to address them more fully.

# **B. SIGNIFICANCE TO OTHER AREAS OF ASCIDIAN REPRODUCTIVE BIOLOGY**

This study of <u>Corella inflata</u> has provided new detailed information on the process of gonodogenesis in ascidians. In addition to addressing gonadogenesis specifically, several interesting questions concerning the development of the reproductive system have been formulated during this research. These include: 1) what is the origin of the gonad and germ cells?, 2) what is the role of the dorsal strand during gonadogenesis?, 3) when are germ cell line **a** specific inclusions formed, how are they distributed, and what is their significance?, 4) do mitotic divisions occur cyclically in the cells of the developing reproductive system?, and 5) what is the origin of the follicle cells? In this section, I discuss these questions separately, referring specifically to <u>Corella inflata</u>.

# **ORIGIN OF THE GONAD AND GERM CELLS**

My description of gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u> has included the establishment of the ovotestis, and has provided information on an earlier stage of development than has been  $\checkmark$  reported in any previous study of a solitary ascidian. My observations demonstrate the striking

morphological similarity of circulating hemoblasts to the cell or pair of cells that form the first stage of gonadogenesis, prior to their attachment to the dorsal strand. The morphological similarity between hemoblasts and the gonad-forming cells remains visible in the next stage of gonadogenesis, after the dorsal strand attachment has occurred. It is clear from these observations that a pair of hemoblasts becomes associated with the dorsal strand once it has reached the gonad hemocoel, and these ultimately give rise to the reproductive system.

Several reports implicate hemoblasts in the origin of the gonad and germ cells in most ascidian species, regardless of the taxon (Newberry, 1968; Ermak, 1975, 1976, 1977; Sugimoto and Nakauchi, 1974; Mukai and Watanabe, 1976; Wright, 1981). The evidence for the hemoblastic origin of the gonad is, however, only suggestive rather than explicit. It is based on 1) the morphological similarity between the hemoblasts and the cells of the earliest stages of gonadogenesis, 2) the location of the developing gonad in regions of the body that are in contact with circulating blood cells, 3) the aggregating behavior of blood cells, and 4) the pleuripotent nature of hemoblasts.

Hemoblasts are large spherical cells approximately 5 to 6  $\mu$ m in diameter, with a large nucleus and one or more nucleoli. They have a small amount of basophilic cytoplasm which contains polyribosomes, cisternal RER, several mitochondria, and a small Golgi complex (Ermak, 1977, 1982; Milanesi and Burighel, 1978; Wright, 1981; Rowley, 1982). The lymphocytes can be distinguished from hemoblasts by their smaller size (3 to 5  $\mu$ m), the absence of discrete nucleoli, and the localization of peripheral heterochromatin (Pérès, 1943; Millar, 1953; Sabbadin, 1955; Goodbody, 1974; Ermak, 1976; Wright, 1981), yet numerous authors have apparently confused these two cell types (George, 1939; Andrew, 1961; Overton, 1966; Newberry, 1968; Smith, 1970; Freeman, 1964, 1969, 1971).

Newberry (1968) documented that the cells that form the gonad in <u>Distomus variolosus</u> are hemoblasts (*vide* lymphocytes). Similarly, in <u>Symplegma</u> reptans (Sugimoto and Nakauchi. 1974) and in <u>Botryllus primigenus</u> (Mukai and Watanabe, 1976), the size and morphology of the cells that form the gonad appear to be identical to hemoblasts. Other observations, particularly those reported in the earlier literature, are less conclusive (Kowalevsky, 1871, 1874a, b; Van Beneden, 1881; Seeliger, 1893-1906; Van Beneden and Julin, 1886; Maurice, 1888; Lefevre, 1898; Bancroft, 1899), although they indicate that the cells that form the gonad are morphologically similar to amoeboid cells of the blood.

In all ascidians that have been studied to date, the gonads develop in regions of the body that are in contact with blood cells. In the phlebobranchs and aplousobranchs this region is the gonad hemocoel, and it contains numerous blood cells of all types, including hemoblasts (Millar, 1953; Wright, 1981). In the stolidobranchs the gonads develop either in the mantle (Berrill, 1975), which contains cells that have migrated into the connective tissue from the blood, or the mantle sinus (Newberry, 1968) which contains circulating blood cells. If hemoblasts are the cells that form the gonad and germ cells, they have access to the parts of the body in which the gonads develop. In Corella inflata, this site is located posterior to the loop of the gut, and is associated with both the epidermis and the dorsal strand. In Distomus variolosus the gonads develop in regions of the mantle sinus close to the peribranchial epithelium in which there is quieter blood flow (Newberry, 1968). In Symplegma reptans, the hemoblasts aggregate in the "genital tracts" (Sugimoto and Nakauchi, 1974). However, hemoblasts are not confined to these regions; they are found throughout the circulatory system of the ascidians. Because the gonads develop in specific sites of the body, there must be some mechanism responsible for promoting the accumulation of hemoblasts in the pre-gonadal region. Newberry (1968) suggested that the mantle specifically may promote the accumulation of pre-gonadal blood cells in that region. In Corella inflata there is no ultrastructural support for this hypothesis, although direct experiment is necessary to address this hypothesis explicitly.

All blood cell types of ascidians are capable of amoeboid movement and of forming aggregations (Hecht, 1918; Andrew, 1961; Wright, 1981). I have frequently observed this behavior by hemoblasts in many of the hemocoelic sinuses in <u>Corella inflata</u>. Most of these

aggregations are temporary in <u>Corella</u>, but there is a unique and persistent aggregation of only two hemoblasts that differentiates into the ovotestis; this occurs only in the presence of the dorsal strand. Newberry (1968) also noted frequent aggregations of hemoblasts in the mantle sinus of <u>Distomus</u>, consisting of a few to dozens of cells. Some of these aggregations along the "presumptive ovarian line and in the testicular region" (Newberry, 1968) subsequently become more encased in a connective tissue matrix and more compressed, then differentiate into the gonads. It is probable that the pluripotent hemoblasts of the first stage of gonadogenesis give rise to all of the cells of the ovotestis, because there is no evidence to suggest a further addition of hemoblasts to the developing gonad after its establishment. It appears then, that an aggregation of two to several hemoblasts is a prerequisite for gonad development in many ascidians. In species such as <u>Corella inflata</u>, this aggregation must be associated with the dorsal strand.

Hemoblasts are probably the source of most of the tissues of the asexual bud in members of those families (Styelidae, Perophoridae, and Clavelinidae) that multiply by vascular budding (Brien, 1939; Sabbadin, 1955; Oka and Watanabe, 1957, 1959; Milkman and Byrne, 1961; Freeman, 1964). Freeman (1964) found that hemoblasts (*vide* lymphocytes) are essential for budding in <u>Perophora viridis</u> and hypothesized that they supply an essential stem cell factor to the bud, without which other tissues cannot develop. There is evidence, then, that hemoblasts are a pluripotent cell type, and it is reasonable to assume that they are capable of differentiating into the gonad (Newberry, 1968; Ermak, 1975, 1976, 1977; Mukai and Watanabe, 1976; Wright, 1981).

There are three reports in the literature that do not support my hypothesis that the gonads of ascidians arise from hemoblasts. These reports are particularly difficult to interpret and assess, and it should be noted that these are based on studies of compound ascidians. First, in the <u>Ecteinascidia turbinata</u> oozooid, the ovary appears to be derived from mesodermal cells of the mantle by proliferation into the hemocoel (Simkins, 1924). Secondly, in <u>Botryllus</u>,

47

8,

Berrill's (1941a, b) investigations led him to conclude that the germ cells are derived from the atrial epithelium. This conclusion is partially supported by Sabbadin and Zaniolo (1979), but disputed by Mukai and Watanabe (1976). Thirdly, in <u>Aplidium zostericola</u>, the dorsal strand was reported to give rise to the gonad (Brien, 1927). Brien (1948), however, does not discuss the issue of dorsal strand involvement in gonad origin in his later monograph on ascidian biology. It is clear that a reexamination of these species is essential to a thorough understanding of gonad origin in the ascidians.

These few microscopical studies provide morphological information on the similarities between hemoblasts and the cells of the first stages of gonadogenesis, and they implicate hemoblasts in the origin of the gonad and germ cells. Coupled with my observations on <u>Corella</u> <u>inflata</u>, this information indicates that hemoblasts probably give rise to the gonad in most species. However, there remain several important questions about the origin of the germ cells that a morphological study cannot address. First, are there characteristics of the gonad-forming hemoblasts that are unique to these cells, making them a distinct cell line? This has been suggested by Newberry (1968) and Sugimoto and Nakauchi (1974), but has not been addressed experimentally. Secondly, are the hemoblasts that form the gonad also found in the tadpole larva, or do they differentiate from hematopoietic tissues in the juvenile? After metamorphosis, degenerating cells of the axial complex are found in the gonad hemocoel of solitary ascidians and the oozooid of compound ascidians. This material may obscure the initial movement of hemoblasts to the site of gonad formation. Thirdly, are there characteristics of the mantle, or epidermis, that cause the hemoblasts to aggregate in the pre-gonadal regions of the body, and form the gonad?

It is quite obvious that the question of germ cell origin in this group of chordates has advanced very little in recent years, and remains a significant gap in our understanding of the reproductive biology of the ascidians. It should be noted that because there is considerable variation among species in the location of the gonads and in the presence and form of such structures as the dorsal strand, there may be similar variation in the mechanism of gonad origin among different taxa of ascidians. This will only be elucidated by further investigation.

#### DORSAL STRAND

()

The dorsal strand is an enigmatic structure that has been reported in adults and juveniles of many ascidian species (Kowalevsky, 1874a; Metcalf, 1900; Huus, 1924; Brien, 1927, 1948; Millar, 1953; Bullock and Horridge, 1965; Goodbody, 1974). It develops soon after metamorphosis from a portion of the larval neural tube that also gives rise to the neural gland (Elwyn, 1937). In all animals that possess a lorsal strand, this structure is present as a posterior continuation of the neural gland (Metcalf, 1900; Bullock and Horridge, 1965; Goodbody, 1974). In <u>Corella inflata</u>, the dorsal strand is first visible growing towards the gonad hemocoel within 3 days after metamorphosis. It is always associated with the species, the dorsal strand is also associated with the developing reproductive system (Kowalevsky, 1874a; Van Beneden and Julin, 1886; Huus, 1924; Brien, 1925, 1927, 1939; Aubert, 1954; Markman, 1958), although its role in gonadogenesis is entirely unknown.

My observations on <u>Corella inflata</u> are the first that describe the ultrastructure of the dorsal strand in juvenile ascidians. The dorsal strand is composed of a string of elongate cells attached at their ends by overlapping processes, joined by well-developed junctions, and suprounded by an external lamina. These cells contain microfilaments, probably actin, which may be important during the growth of the structure. Prior to the cavitation of the ovotestis, there are no special features of the cells at the point of attachment between the dorsal strand and the developing gonad.

After cavitation of the ovotestis has occurred, there is a blunt enlargement of the dorsal strand at its attachment to the developing gonad; these cells, and some of the adjacent somatic cells of the gonad contain moderately electron dense vesicles which are similar in size to

neurosecretory vesicles that have been described in other organisms (Baskin, 1976). This is the first observation that suggests a possible neurosecretory function of the dorsal strand and somatic cells of the gonad in any ascidian. The dorsal strand of <u>Corella inflata</u> remains a string of single cells during gonadogenesis, other than at its point of contact with the developing gonad. Later, after the developing gonoducts have reached the atrium, the dorsal strand loses its association with the reproductive system, becomes several cells in diameter and forms a lumen. This is the adult condition of most species (Metcalf, 1900; Huus, 1924; Mackie et al., 1974), although Millar (1953) reported that the dorsal strand remains associated with the ovary in adult <u>Ciona</u>.

During the initial stages of gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>, there is no nervous tissue associated with either the ovotestis or the dorsal strand. Just prior to cavitation of the ovotestis, and during subsequent development, an irregular layer of cell processes, which I interpret to be axons, is found in close association with the dorsal strand in the region of the ovotestis. These axons contain moderately electron-dense vesicles which, on the basis of their size and distribution, are suggestive of a neurosecretory function (Baskia, 1976). The vesicles are also found in short extensions of these processes which extend into spaces between cells of the ovotestl. Although potential neurosecretory granules have been reported in some cells of the neural ganglion and the major nerve trunks leaving the ganglion (Dawson and Hisaw, 1964; Thiebold and Illoul, 1966; Chambost, 1966; Bouchard-Madrelle, 1967a, b; Aros and Konok, 1969; Lender and Bouchard-Madrelle, 1964; Georges, 1977; Sugimoto and Watanabe, 1980), this is the first observation of vesicles that may have a neurosecretory function, in processes of the peripheral nervous system of ascidians.

I interpret these potential neurosecretory cell processess to be elements of the dorsal fold plexus that has been described in the adults of various species (Huus, 1937; Fedele, 1938; Millar, 1953; Aubert, 1954; Mackie, et al., 1974), and in the juveniles of <u>Ciona</u> (Aubert, 1954; Markman, 1958) and <u>Corella parallelogramma</u> (Huus, 1924). The presence of nervous tissue surrounding the dorsal strand led to the contention in the early literature that the dorsal strand was an element of the peripheral nervous system (Kowalevsky, 1871a; Maurice, 1886, 1888; Julin, 1881; Metcalf, 1900; Lorleberg, 1907). More recent work, however, indicates that the dorsal stand itself is entirely non- nervous and that the visceral nerve is a separate structure (Huus, 1924; Fedele, 1938; Brien, 1948; Millar, 1953; Markman, 1958; Mackie et al., 1974; Goodbody, 1974).

The association of the dorsal strand and the neurosecretory cells with the ovotestis during gonadogenesis leads to the question of the potential functions of these structures in the juvenile. I hypothesize that the dorsal strand may be a conduit for trophic for the initiation and/or continuation of gonadogenesis, to move from the neural gland to the developing gonad. In this way, the neural gland may actually control the establishment of gonadogenesis, and/or its continuation. This would explain why the gonad never develops without the dorsal strand attachment, and it may explain the presence of what appear to be neurosecretory vesicles in the cells of the dorsal strand. Goodbody (1974) reinterpreted the results of Carlisle (1951) and Bouchard-Madrelle (1967a, b) as indicating that the dorsal strand may serve as a pathway between the neural complex and gonads for the movement of endocrine products over a long-term reproductive cycle. However, because the dorsal strand does not connect the neural gland with the gonad in adults of most species, including <u>Corella inflata</u>, it is more likely that if the dorsal strand functions in endocrine control, it does so primarily during gonadogenesis. Such an explanation accounts for the continuation of the reproductive cycle in adult <u>Chelyosoma productum</u> even after neural complex removal (Hisaw et. al., 1966).

One major problem with this hypothesis is that the function of the neural gland is still unresolved. While some experimental results hint that the neural gland may function in some aspect of reproduction (Hogg, 1937; Carlisle, 1950, 1951, 1954; Sengal and Kieny, 1962, 1963a, b; Sengal and Georges, 1966; Bouchard- Madrelle, 1967a, b), there are no gonadotropic hormones known to be produced in this organ (Goodbody, 1974). In addition, the neural gland is positioned directly subjacent to a substantial hemocoelic space, and such an endocrine pathway may therefore be superfluous. Ablation experiments, and the severing of the dorsal strand, would provide some information relevant to this hypothesis.

Alternatively, the dorsal strand may serve as a pathway directing growth of () neurosecretory cells from the ganglion to the developing gonad. I suggest that, because the vesicles I have observed in the axons around the dorsal strand have never been observed in adults, they may be restricted to juveniles. Based on the presence of these vesicles both in the axons and in the processes that extend into intercellular pockets of the developing gonad, the vesicles may function in some aspect of the sectionation of gonadogenesis in developing animals. However, because this nervous tissue is not present in the gonad hemocoel at the time gonadogenesis begins, some other mechanism must be involved in the finitiation of gonadogenesis. At this time, there is no experimental evidence available to support this hypothesis, and there is insufficient ultrastructural information on the condition of the dorsal (strand plexus in adults,

An alternative hypothesis for the function of the dorsal strand in juvenile ascidians is that it provides a template, or pathway, for the directional development of the oviduct and associated sperm duct, and gives way to the oviduct as it develops, This hypothesis is supported by the observation in <u>Corella inflata</u> that the dorsal strand is associated with the dorsal most aspect of the developing oviduct at all times during gonadogenesis, and that this association is lost by the time the oviduct reaches the atrium. Huus (1924) considered that the dorsal strand actually gives rise to the gonoducts, based in part on the loss of the association between the dorsal strand and the oviduct in adult <u>Corella parallelogramma</u>. Aubert (1954), however, states that in <u>Ciona</u>, the dorsal strand continues posterior to the ovotestis. In <u>Corella inflata</u>, I have never observed the dorsal strand in a postion similar to that described by Aubert (1954), but neither have I observed any indication that the dorsal strand gives rise to the gonoducts (Huus,

1924).

Fidally, in those animals which possess a dorsal strand, the gonads may develop in a location that is determined by the dorsal strand. There may be features of the dorsal strand which promote the accumulation of hemoblasts at a particular site of the epidermis or mantle. which have not been revealed by my TEM observations in Corella inflata. The central issue of this hypothesis is the mechanism by which the dorsal strand grows from the neural gland to the pregonadal region of the animal, and the mechanism by which the dorsal strand and hemoblasts recognize each other, make contact, and initiate the establishment of the gonad. Two mechanisms by which the dorsal strand could be directed to its final destination are chemotaxis and contact guidance (Alberts et al., 1983). Neither the hemoblasts that form the the Stage I gonad nor the epidermal cells of the pre- gonadal region, have morphological evidence of the synthesis or secretion of chemotactic substances, although these substances would not necessarily be observed with TEM. It may be that molecules such as fibronectin or glycosaminoglycans, or even the orientation of the collagen fibers in the extracellular matrix may guide the dorsal strand to the pre-gonadal region in a fashion similar to the migration of neural crest cells (Alberts, et al., 1983). Membrane adhesiveness in the end cells of the dorsal strand might promote the accumulation of cells at this point, but further investigations, for example by selective staining for specific carbohydrates such as lectins on the cell surface (Alberts et al 1983) are essential to demonstrate the mechanisms involved in this process.

Regardless of its role in <u>Corella inflata</u>, many ascidian species, including the majority of stolidobranchs, appear to lack a dorsal strand in the juvenile as well as the adult (Metcalf, 1900; Newberry, 1968; Goodbody, 1974). If this is indeed the case, then an entirely different mechanism of gonad formation must be proposed for those animals. I suggest that before a detailed hypothesis concerning gonad formation among members of the class can be proposed, a careful reexamination of those animals that reportedly do not possess a dorsal strand in the juvenile must be performed. It may turn out that the dorsal strand is a more universal structure in the ascidians than has been previously supposed. In any case, the above hypotheses apply

only to those animals in which a dorsal strand is present in the juvenile.

NUAGE

£

Many animal species possess certain cells, that on the basis of their cytoplasmic elements can be identified as constituting a germ cell line (Beams and Kessel, 1974; Eddy, 1975; Nieuwkoop and Sutasurya, 1979; Kessel, 1983). These cytoplasmic elements are sequestered during embryogenesis into those cells that will later differentiate into the germ cells (Eddy, 1975; Nieuwkoop and Sutasurya, 1979), and the destruction or removal of these cells will result in a sterile adult. In other species, the germ cells themselves contain a characteristic, densely-staining material in their cytoplasm, which I refer to as nuage after Eddy (1975). This nuage is found in young oocytes, and sometimes oogonia or nurse cells, and also occasionally in spermatogonia (Eddy, 1975). Although its specific role in determining germ cell formation is not known, nuage is a germ cell specific inclusion (Eddy, 1975; Nieuwkoop and Sutasurya, 1979).

Nuage has been reported in young previtellogenic oocytes in several species of ascidian, both with the light microscope (Crampton, 1899; Conklin, 1905; Hirschler, 1917; Harvey, 1927; . Jagersten, 1935), and with the TEM (Hsu and Cloney, 1958; Mancuso, 1964; Kessel, 1983). Bécause of its germ line specificity. I searched for nuage in the hemoblasts, and all stages of gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>, to try to determine if nuage is found in any cells prior to the establishment of the gonad. The presence of nuage in circulating hemoblasts might indicate that all hemoblasts are capable of forming the gonad. The presence of nuage in only gonad-forming hemoblasts would provide evidence both that the germ line is determined fairly early in development, and that there are only a few cells capable of forming the gonad. In <u>Corella</u> <u>inflata</u>, nuage is first observed in gonial cells of the cavitated gonad (Stage IV), after the gonial cells have been completely isolated from the environments of both the lumen of the ovotestis and the gonad hemocoel by somatic cell processes. It is never found in any gonial cells of earlier
stages of gonadogenesis, or in any hemoblasts. This indicates that the hemoblasts that form the gonad are not unique by this morphological criterion, and that the gonial cells themselves begin the synthesis of nuage after cavitation of the ovotestis occurs. This is the first report on the presence of these germ line inclusions in the developing gonad of any ascidian.

Sections through the developing gonad of <u>Corella inflata</u>, demonstrate small granular aggregations in localized regions of the inner and outer membranes of the nuclear envelope. In favorable sections, it is possible to see this granular material extending through nuclear pores. There is therefore every indication that nuage is synthesized in the nucleus and is moved to the cytoplasm. This view is shared by Cowden (1967), Kessel (1966a, 1983) and Mancuso (1963, 1964, 1972). The material that passes through the pores consists of RNA and protein (Cowden, 1961, 1962, 1967; Cowden and Markert, 1961; Davenport and Davenport, 1965; Kessel, 1966a, 1983; Eddy, 1975). It appears that the frequency of nuage production decreases during growth of the oocyte, so that it is virtually absent in vitellogenic oocytes (Mancuso, 1964, Kessel, 1966a, 1983). Similarly, the granular aggregations that constitute the nuage appear to fragment as the oocyte grows, so that they are more numerous but smaller in larger oocytes (Mancuso, 1964; Kessel, 1966a, 1983). Kessel (1983) suggests that these aggregations may be masses of ribosomes which subsequently become dispersed in the cytoplasm and transformed into particulate ribosomes, accounting for the intense basophilia of previtellogenic oocytes.

It should be noted that my observations suggest that nuage may be produced cyclically during gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>. The amount of nuage in the gonial cells of a given individual is relatively constant, as is the apparent movement of material from nucleus to cytoplasm. It is possible that nuage production corresponds to cell divisions taking place in the germinal layer, and that there is no nuage production during bouts of mitosis. As yet there is no experimental evidence to support this hypothesis, and carefully controlled experimental conditions, and TEM fixation of animals at all hours of the night, are required to address the issue more fully. During gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>, nuage is first visible in the ovotestis just after cavitation has occurred. This indicates that nuage is neither responsible for organogenesis, nor a determinant for the ovarian line. After the differentiation of the testicular rudiment from the ovotestis, nuage is still found in the male gonial cells, and ultrastructural evidence supports the conclusion that nuage is being produced in the testis, although it is not as abundant as in the ovarian portion of the gonad. Its structure is, however, identical in gonial cells of both the testis and the ovary. Developing male germ cells of other animals have been reported to contain nuage (Eddy, 1975; Kessel, 1983), but it has never been reported in the developing male germ cells of ascidians. This may partially result from a lack of research on the subject of spermatogenesis in ascidians (Georges, 1969; Tuzet et al., 1974).

## CELL DIVISIONS

One problem that I have encountered in the study of gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u> is that cell division has never been observed in the gonadal tissues. This has made it difficult to determine the dynamics of gonial cell origin and abundance within the epithelium of the gonad. In the course of this study, sections of over 200 animals, fixed at various times of the day from early morning to late afternoon, showed no animals in which cells of the reproductive tissues were dividing. Because of the absence of mitotic divisions during these periods of the day. I suggest that cell division occurs rapidly and synchronously during gonadogenesis in ascidians.

Other events of the reproductive cycle, such as the release of gametes and tadpoles, are regulated by the perception of photoperiod in many species including <u>Corella</u> (Huus, 1937; Lambert and Brandt, 1967; Whittingham, 1967; Reese, 1967; Georges, 1968; Watanabe and Lambert, 1973; Woollacott, 1974, 1979; West and Lambert, 1976; Mukai and Watanabe, 1977; Woollacott and Porter, 1977). It is possible that photoperiod control of the cell cycle is exerted on the gonial cells so that, for instance, mitoses occur only very late at night. Other authors have also reported that mitotic figures are absent in the gonads of ascidians (Van Beneden and

56

Julin, 1886; Bancroft, 1899; Aubert, 1954; Hsu and Cloney, 1958). Tucker (1942) noted that in <u>Styela clava</u>, all observations concerning mitosis in the gonad were based on sections from a single animal. Tuzet et al. (1974) reported that while they did not observe mitoses, there were cytoplasmic bridges connecting adjacent spermatogonia in the testis. These bridges correspond to the midbodies that I have reported in the developing gonad of <u>Corella inflata</u>. The question of mitotic regulation during gonadogenesis is particularly intriguing, and it deserves further investigation.

## **ORIGIN OF THE FOLLICLE CELLS**

One of the areas of ascidian reproductive biology that has historically received considerable attention is the question of follicle cell origin. While I have not addressed this question specifically during the course of my study on gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>. I have made observations that provide some relevant information to this issue.

Somatic cells are first visible surrounding the gonial cells of the ovotestis in the clump stage (Stage III) of gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>. After cavitation of the ovotestis has occurred, two types of somatic cells are distinguishable on the basis of their shape, size, and nuclear characteristics. These two types of somatic cells are present in the ovarian portion of the gonad throughout gonadogenesis.

In the ovotestis of Stages IV and V of <u>Corella inflata</u>, the Type II somatic cells are irregularly shaped low cuboidal cells, variable in size, and found primarily adjacent to the gonial cells. The nuclei contain dense nucleoplasm, and the cytoplasm contains conspicuous large vesicles of RER with a diffuse intracisternal matrix, and large Golgi complexes. These somatic cells are associated with gonial cells in the ovarian portion of the gonad after the ovarian and testicular rudiments have separated, but they are never found in the testicular portion of the developing gonad. In the Stage VII gonad, after the ovary and testis have completely separated and are forming their exit ducts, some of the Type II somatic cells appear to establish a primary follicle cell layer around the gonial cells. I suggest that on the basis of the morphological observations, the Type II somatic cells are indeed the progenators of the follicle cells.

During the early stages of oogenesis, the oocyte of ascidians is surrounded completely by a layer of primary follicle cells (Cowden, 1961, 1962; Reverberi, 1971; Kessel, 1983). The follicle cells later divide to form first the test cells, and then both the inner and outer follicular layers (Huus, 1937; Tucker, 1942; Cowden, 1961, 1962; Kessel and Kemp, 1962; Kessel, 1962, 1983; Berrill, 1975). Work by Knaben (1936). Spek, (1927) and Mancuso (1965) points to a blood cell origin of the accessory cell layers around the oocyte. Pérès (1954). DeVincentiis (1962) and Kalk (1963a) believed that the follicle cells are germinal epithelium derivatives, and maintained that the test cells are derived from amoeboid cells of the blood. In <u>Corella inflata</u>, it appears that the follicle cell line is established very early during gonadogenesis, and that at least the primary follicle cells are derived from the Type II somatic cells. Because there is no evidence to suggest that blood cells contribute to the the gonad after it is established, these follicle cells are probably derived ultimately from the initial, unique accumulatian of hemoblasts of the first stage of gonadogenesis. These observations demonstrate the need for further specific investigation into the origin of the follicle cells in ascidians.

58

Table I. The seven stages of gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>, documenting the size of the juvenile and number of days after metamorphosis for each stage, as well as the shape of the developing gonad, the approximate number and size of the cells that form the gonad, and the features of the gonial and somatic cells of the gonad. The figures given for days after metamorphosis are the lowest observed for each stage. There is considerable variation in growth rate among individuals in each culture; but once a particular size is attained, the juvenile possesses the given stage of gonadogenesis. ann.lam = annulate lamellae, d.s. = dorsal strand. f.g.inclusion = fine-grained inclusion, loc.g.l. = localized germinal layer, peri.hetero. = peripheral heterochromatin.

1

Ċ)

Testis spermduct	VII: Ovary 2.8-4.0 80 elongate, w/ oviduct.loc.g.l.	Test.Rudiment spherical w/ lumen	VI: Ov.Rudiment 2.6.2.8 75 ellipsoidal, w/ lumen, loc. g.l.	V: Ovotestis 1.8-2.4 30 ellipsoidal w/ Iumen, loc.g.1.	IV: Ovotestis 1.0-1.6 25 spherical, w/- lumen	111: Ovotestis 0.4-1.0 14 ellipsoidal cell cluster	II: Ovotestis 0.3 7 2 cells, d.s. 9	1: Ovotestis <3 · 2 cells, no d.s.	STAGE SIZE AGE SHAPE (mm) (dajs) REPRO SYST
901	-150	-20	80 - 100	35-75	25-35	20-25	7-10	7-10	SIZE REPRO SYST (µm)
200	. 500	20 - 25	-200	-100	30 - 50	15-20	2	2	APPROX CELLS
nuage	[.g.inclusion nuage, ann.lam.	nuage	f.g.inclusion, nuage, ann.lam.	f.g.inclusion, nuage	f.g.inclusion, nuage	f.g.inclusion	símilar to hemoblast	similar to hemoblast	FEATURES GONIAL CELLS
no difference	peri.hetero., den cilia f	, no difference	peri.hetero., den cilia f	peri.hetero., den cilia f	peri.hetero. der cília f	no difference	none	none	SOMATC CELLS
3	erence dense nuc.,VER, f.g.inclusion		dense nuc.,VER, f.g.inclusion	dense nuc.,VER, f.g.inclusion	dense nuc.,VER, f.g.inclusion				TYPE II

· •

**Illustration 1.** Drawing of the posterior region of a juvenile in Stage 111 of gonadogenesis. This shows the ovotestis attached to the dorsal strand, and the position of the ovotestis relative to the digestive system. DS = dorsal strand, ES = esophagus. IN = intestine, OT = ovotestis, ST = stomach.

Illustration 2. Drawing of the posterior region of a juvenile in Stage VII of gonadogenesis. This shows the oviduct attached to the dorsal strand, and the sperm duct opening into the dorsal region of the oviduct. The configuration of the digestive system is the same as that of the adult. DS = dorsal strand, ES = esophagus, IN = intestine, O = ovary, ST = stomach, T = testis.



**Illustration 3.** Composite drawing of the seven stages of gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>. This summarizes the morphological changes that take place during gonadogenesis, and includes changes in the relative numbers of cells that make up the developing gonad. The stippled cells represent the gonial cells.

Í

]



Figure 1. Light micrograph (EM) of a young juvenile shortly after metamorphosis showing the right side of the body, A = anterior, AS = atrial siphon, BAR = basal attachment region, BS = branchial siphon, CA = caecum of the stomach, D = dorsal, EN = endostyle, EP = epidermis, ES = esophagus, IN = intestine, P = posterior, SI = stigmata, ST = stomach, TU = tunic, V = ventral, 350X.

Figure 2. LM of a young juvenile showing the left side of the body. Labels are the same as above. A portion of the dorsal strand, attached to the ovotestis, can be seen in the posterior region of the animal (arrows).  $350 \times 10^{-10}$ 



Figure 3. Scanning electron micrograph (SEM) of a mature gonad. AE = atrial epithelium,BC = blood cell, OO= oocyte in the ovary, T = lobule of the testis. Scale bar = 40.0  $\mu$ m, 430 X,

Figure 4. SEM of a portion of a mature ovary, AE = atrial epithelium, BC = blood cells, CT = connective tissue, FC = indentations of follicle cells around the oocytes, OO = oocyte. Scale bar = 20.0  $\mu$ m, 530 Xo

Ð

Figure 5. I.M of a whole mount showing a developing ovarian lobe on the surface of the intestine, I = intestine, OO= oocyte. Scale bar = 50.0  $\mu$ m, 260 X.

)

ł.

2

Ð



. .

.

Figure 6. SEM of a portion of a lobule in the mature testis, BC= blood cell, CT= connective tissue. Scale bar = 110.0  $\mu$ m, 110 X.

Figure 7. LM of a whole mount showing several lobules of the testis, GE = germinal epithelium, SD = sperm duct. Scale bar = 50.0  $\mu$ m. 220 X.

Figure 8. DIC micrograph of the neural complex of a juvenile soon after metamorphosis, showing the location of the dorsal strand relative to the neural complex. CF = ciliated funnel, DS = dorsal strand, NG = neural ganglion, NL = neural gland, NV = nerve. Scale bar = 10.0  $\mu m$ , 1,120 X,

Figure 9. DIC micrograph of the right side of a juvenile. The neural complex is positioned dorsally and anteriorly, and is subjacent to a hemocoelic space. BS = branchial siphon, DB = degenerating larval brain, DS = dorsal strand, EN = endostyle, EP = epidermis, HC = hemocoelic space with blood cells, NC = neural complex. Scale bar =  $20.0 \mu m$ , 570 X,

Figure 10. Transmission electron micrograph (TEM) of the dorsal strand in the gonad hemocoel. El. = external lamina. ER = rough endoplasmic reticulum, M = mitochondrion, N = nucleus, SL = secondary lysosome. Scale bar =  $2.0 \ \mu m$ . 8,500°X.

a



Figure 11. TEM of the dorsal strand. EL = external lamina, N = nucleus, P = process, R = ribosomes, V = moderately electron dense vesicles. Scale bar =  $0.25 \ \mu m$ , 31,400 X.

Figure 12. TEM of the dorsal strand along the epidermis in the gonad hemocoel. CT = connective tissue fibers. DS = dorsal strand, EP = epidermis, N = nucleus, NV = associated nerve axon. Scale bar = 0.5  $\mu$ m. 22,300 X.

Figure 13. TEM of microfilaments along the edge of the plasmalemma in a dorsal strand cell. MF = microfilaments, N = nucleus. Scale bar =  $0.25 \mu m$ , 37.700 X.  $\heartsuit$ 

Figure 14. TEM of desmosomes joining overlapping processes of cells of the dorsal strand. D = desmosome. Scale bar =  $0.25 \ \mu m$ . 46,200 X,

Figure 15. TEM of the region of contact between the dorsal strand and the developing gonad during Stage V. DS = dorsal strand, GS = somatic cells of the ovotestis, N = nucleus, NV = nerve, SL = secondary lysosome. Scale bar =  $2.0 \ \mu m$ . 5,300 X.

Figure 16. TEM of the dorsal strand and associated nerve near their contact with the ovotestis. DS = dorsal strand, EL = external lamina which is continuous around the dorsal strand and nerve, ER = endoplasmic reticulum, M = mitochondrion, NV = nerve, V = moderately electron dense vesicles. Cale bar = 1.0  $\mu$ m. 12,800 X.

Figure 17. TEM of the nerve in the gonad hemocoel, composed of multiple overlapping processes. CT = connective tissue, EP = epidermis, NV = nerve, V = moderately electron dense vesicles. Scale bar = 0.5  $\mu$ m. 28,600 X.



Figure 18. TEM of a cross section through the nerve near the ovotestis. MT = microtubules, q V = moderately electron dense vesicles. Note the opaque vesicles in the nerve as well. Scale bar  $= 0.1 \ \mu m. 124,300 \ X.$ 

Figure 19. TEM of the nerve near the contact between the dorsal strand and the ovotestis. DS = dorsal strand, GS = somatic cells of the ovotestis, SL = secondary lysosomes, V = moderately electron dense vesicles. Scale bar = 1.0  $\mu$ m, 14,400 X.

Ł

Figure 20. TEM of a nerve process extending into the somatic region of the ovotestis. GS = somatic cells of the ovotestis, MT' = microtubules. V = moderately electron dense vesicles. Scale bar = 0.25  $\mu$ m. 47,300 X.

Figure 21. DIC micrograph of the dorsal strand close to a pair of hemoblasts in the gonad hemocoel during the first stage of gonadogenesis. BC = blood cells, CT = connective tissue, DB = degenerating larval brain, DS = dorsal strand, which has a tapered end, ES = esophagus, HB = hemoblasts. Scale bar =  $10.0 \mu m$ , 1,340 X.

•Figure 22. DIC micrograph of the dorsal strand in the gonad hemocoel during Stage I of gonadogenesis. AX = resorbed axial complex cells, DS = dorsal strand, EP = epidermis. Scale bar = 10.0  $\mu$ m, 1.100 X.



Figure 23. DIC micrograph of the Stage II ovotestis attached to the dorsal strand on the right side of the body. BC= blood cells, CT= connective tissue, DS= dorsal strand, EP= epidermis, OT= ovotestis. Scale bar = 20.0  $\mu$ m. 890 X.

Figure 24, DIC micrograph of the Stage II ovotestis attached to the dorsal strand, CT = connective tissue, DB= degenerating larval brain, DS= dorsal strand, OT= ovotestis, Scale bar = 20.0  $\mu$ m, 890 X.

Figure 25. LM of the Stage II ovotestis in the gonad hemocoel. AM = ampulla, CT = connective tissue, EP = epidermis, GH = gonad hemocoel, OT = ovotestis, PG = pyloric gland. Scale bar = 10.0  $\mu$ m, 1,620 X.

Figure 26. TEM of collagen fibers around the ovotestis. Note the banding pattern of the individual fibers. Scale bar =  $0.1 \mu m$ . 98,700 X.

Figure 27. TEM of the Stage II ovotestis. ER = endoplasmic reticulum, M = mitochondrion. N = nucleus, NU = nucleolus. Scale bar = 1.0  $\mu$ m. 11.200 X.

Figure 28. TEM of circulating hemoblasts. Note the similarities between these cells, and the cells of the Stage II ovotestis. ER = endoplasmic reticulum, M= mitochondrion, N= nucleus, NU= nucleolus. Scale bar<sub>w</sub>= 2.0  $\mu$ m. 6,100 X. Inset. TEM of a midbody between two

hemoblasts (arrows). 15,400 X.

1.1



Figure 29. LM of the Stage III ovotestis attached to the dorsal strand. CT = connective tissue. DS = dorsal strand, EP = epidermis, GC = gonial cell, PG = pyloric gland, SC = somatic cell. TU = tanic. Scale bar = 10.0  $\mu$ m, 1.690 X.

17

4.23

Figure 30. TEM of a gonial cell and somatic cells of the Stage III ovotestis. BL = basal lamina. C = cilium, ER = endoplasmic reticulum, GA = granular aggregations in the perinuclearcytoplasm, IP = intercellular pocket, M = mitochondrion with matrix granule. MD =membrane density, N = nucleus, NU = nucleolus, R = ribosomes, SC = somatic cell, SL = $secondary lysosome. Scale bar = 1.0 <math>\mu$ m, 18,500 X.



Fig. 51. TEM of gonial cells surrounded by somatic cells in the Stage III ovotestis, ER = endoplasmic reticulum, EP = epidermis, G = Golgi complex, GC = gonial cell, GH = gonad hemocoel, SC = somatic cell. Scale bar = 2.0  $\mu$ m, 8,500 X.

Figure 32. TEM of a myeloid figure in a gonial cell of the Stage III ovotostis. AG = granular aggregations that appear to be in transit to the cytoplasm through the nuclear pore, GR = glycogen rosettes. MY= myeloid figure, NE= Succear envelope, R = ribosomes. Scale bar = 0.25  $\mu$ m. 59,200 X

Figure 33. TEM of fine-grained inclusions in a gonial cell of the Stage 111 ovotestis, F1 = fine-grained inclusion, NE= nuclear envelope, NP = nuclear pore. Scale bar =  $0.1 \,\mu m$ , 92,700 X.

Figure 34. TEM of a somatic cell of the Stage 111 ovotestis.  $BL = basal lamina, G = Golgi complex, GC = gonial cell, N = nucleus with peripheral heterochromatin, SC = somatic cell. Scale bar = 1.0 <math>\mu$ m, 21,300 X.



Figure 35, TEM of somatic cells of the Stage III ovotestis. Note that the somatic cells at the extremities of the organ are more cuboidal in shape, BL = basal lamina, GC = gonial cell,  $N = -\frac{3}{2}$  nucleus with peripheral heterochromatin. Scale bat = 1.0  $\mu$ m. 15,400 X.

Figure 36. TEM of somatic cells of the Stage III ovotestis, showing a cilium projecting into an intercellular pocket, C = cilium, ER = endoplasmic reticulum, which has a vesicular form, IP = intercellular pocket, SC = somatic cell. Scale bar = 0.5  $\mu$ m, 17,600 X.

Figure 37. TEM of vesicles associated with the plasmalemma along an intercellular pocket of a somatic cell, GC= gonial cell with irregular processes, IP = intercellular pocket, SC= somatic cell, V = vesicles, Scale bar = 0.5  $\mu$ m, 30,900 X.

Figure 38. TEM of a somatic cell membrane specialization, which is coiled, and contains some vesicles similar to those in Figure 37. Scale bar = 0.2  $\mu$ m. 79,700 X,

Figure 39. TEM of desmosomes joining adjacent somatic cells of the Stage III ovotestis. Scale bar =  $0.25 \ \mu m$ , 39,100 X,

Figure 40. DIC micrograph of the Stage IV ovotestis, with localized regions of thinning, particularly in areas facing the epidermis. The dorsal strand attachment is out of focus in this micrograph. EP = epidermis, L = lumen of the ovotestis. Scale bar =  $10.0 \mu m$ , 1,170 X.

Figure 41. LM of the Stage IV ovotestis, showing the large gonial cells and squamous somatic cells. AE = atrial epithelium, EP = epidermis, GC = gonial cell, L = lumen of the ovotestis, SC = somatic cell. Scale bar =  $5.0 \ \mu m$ , 1,890 X.



Figure 42, TEM of a gonial cell surrounded by Type II somatic cells in the Stage IV ovotestis. The Type II somatic cells can be distinguished by their dense nucleoplasm, and the vesicular endoplasmic reticulum, EP = epidermis, ER = vesicular endoplasmic reticulum, GC = gonial cell, MD = membrane density, N = nucleus, P = process of somatic cell, SC2 = Type II somatic cell, Scale bar = 2.0  $\mu$ m, 8,300 X.

Figure 43. TEM of a gonial cell of the Stage IV ovotestis,  $n_{.} = nucleus with peripheral heterochromatin, AG = granular aggregations in the perinuclear cytoplasm, ER = endoplasmic reticulum, I.= lumen of the ovotestis, M= mitochondrion, MD= membrane density, MY= myeloid figure, N= nucleus with peripheral heterochromatin, NA= nuage, NU= nucleolus, SC1 = Type I somatic cell, SL= secondary lysosome. Note the vesicular form of endoplasmic reticulum in the Type II somatic cell adjacent to the gonial cell. Scale bar = <math>0.5 \mu m$ , 18,400 X,

Figure 44.TEM of nuage in the cytoplasm of a gonial cell. This appears to be associated with nuclear pores. N= nucleus. NA = nuage, NP= nuclear pore, R= ribosomes. Scale bar = 0.25  $\mu$ m. 66,700 X.

0

Figure 45. TEM of a gonial cell of the Stage IV ovotestis. AG = granular aggregations. ER = endoplasmic reticulum, MD = membrane density, N = nucleus, V = vesicle associated with the plasmalemma. Scale bar = 0.5  $\mu$ m, 24,700 X.

Figure 46. TEM of myeloid figures and nuage in a gonial cell. MY= myeloid figure, NA= nuage. Scale bar =  $0.5 \mu m$ . 23,000 X.

A,



Figure 47. TEM of the Stage IV ovotestis, showing Type I somatic cells with extensive processes in the region that is devoid of gonial cells. EP = epidermis, GH = gonad hemocoel. 1. – lumen of the ovotestis, P = somatic cell process, SCI = Type I somatic cell. Scale bar = 5.0  $\mu$ m, 1,950 X.

Figure 48. TEM of cytoplasmic processes of Type I somatic cells, P = somatic cell process, ZA = zonula adhaerens, Scale bar = 0.5  $\mu$ m, 25,300 X.

Figure 49. TEM of a Golgi complex, with a large number of vesicles, in a Type II somatic cell, G = Golgi complex, V = vesicles, Scale bar =  $0.5 \mu m$ , 31,000 X.

Figure 50. TEM of a Type II somatic cell. BL = basal lamina, ER = vesicular endoplasmic reticulum, L1 = lipid droplet, VA = vacuole, Scale bar =  $0.5 \ \mu m$ , 31,000 X.

Figure 51. DIC micrograph of the Stage V ovotestis, showing the attachment of the dorsal strand at a blunt expansion, and the localization of the germinal layer. DS = dorsal strand, GL = germinal layer, L = lumen of the ovotestis, SC = squamous somatic cells. Scale bar = 20.0  $\mu$ m. 840 X.

Figure 52. LM of the Stage V ovotestis, showing the gonial cells in the germinal layer and the squamous somatic region that constitutes the remainder of the organ. GC = gonial cells, GL = germinal layer, L = lumen of the ovotestis, SC = somatic cells. Scale bar = 10.0  $\mu$ m. 1.260 X.

¢,



Figure 53. TEM of the germinal layer of the Stage V ovotestis, including gonial cells and somatic cells  $\Phi C$ = gonial cell, SCI = Type I somatic cell, SC2 = Type II somatic cell, SGC = small gonial cell. Scale bar = 2.0  $\mu$ m. 9,100 X.

Figure 54. TEM of a Type II somatic cell in the germinal layer of the ovotestis. P = processfrom the Type II somatic cell that extends around adjacent gonial cells. SC1 = Type I somatic cell. SC2 = Type II somatic cell. Scale bar = 1.0  $\mu$ m. 11.800 X.

Figure 55. TEM of a Type II somatic cell, FI = fine-grained inclusions, GR = granular clusters that resemble ribosomes. Scale bar = 0.2  $\mu$ m. 79,100 X.

Figure 56. 1.M of the Stage VI gonad, showing the ovarian rudiment with localized germinal layer, and the attached testicular rudiment. GL = germinal layer of the ovarian rudiment, OL = ovarian lumen, SC = somatic cells of the ovarian rudiment, TL = lumen of the testicular rudiment. TR = testicular rudiment. Scale bar = 10.0  $\mu$ m. 950 X.

Figure 57. DIC micrograph of the Stage VI gonad showing the testicular rudiment as a bulge extending from the anterior portion of the ovarian rudiment. The testicular rudiment opens into the lumen of the ovarian rudiment. OR = ovarian rudiment, TR = testicular rudiment.

Scale bar =  $10.0 \,\mu m$ . 980 X.

Ø



Figure 58. TEM of the germinal layer of the ovarian rudiment, ER = vesicular endoplasmic reticulum in the Type II cells, GC = gonial cell, GH = gonad hemocoel, OL = ovarian lumen, OC = primary oocyte, SC2 = Type II somatic cell, Scale bar = 2.0 µm, 5,600 X,

Figure 59. TEM of the thinner region of the germinal layer, GC = gonial cell, SCl = Type 1 somatic cell, SC2 = Type II somatic cell. Scale bar = 2.0  $\mu$ m. 8,750 X.

Figure 60. TEM of the region of the germinal layer that grades into the squamous somatic region in the ovarian rudiment. Note the large vesicles of endoplasmic redculum in the Type II somatic cell. GC  $\approx$  gonial cell. SC2 = Type IL somatic cell. Scale bar = 1.0  $\mu$ m, 11,800 X.

Figure 61. TEM of annulate lamellae in a gonial cell of the ovarian rudiment. AL = annulate lamellae, FI = fine-grained inclusion. Scale bar =  $0.5 \ \mu m$ . 31,600 X.

Figure 62. TEM of a midbody between adjacent gonial cells of the ovarian rudiment. GC = gonial cell, MB = midbody. Scale bar =  $0.5 \mu m$ . 26,300 X.



l
Figure 63, TEM of a Type I somatic cell, Note the overlapping processes, and the cilium projecting into the lumen of the ovarian rudiment, GH = gonad hemocoel, OL = ovarian lumen, P = somatic cell process, Scale bar = 0.5  $\mu$ m, 25,000 X.

Figure 64. TEM of the testicular rudiment of the Stagé VI gonad. The germinal layer is not localized in this stage. GC = gonial cells of the testicular rudiment, OL = ovarian lumen, OR = ovarian rudiment, SC = somatic cells of the testicular rudiment, TL = testicular lumen, TR = testicular rudiment. Scale bar = 5.0  $\mu$ m. 2,300 X.

Figure 65. TEM of the region of contact between the ovarian and testicular rudiments in Stage VI. BL = basal lamina which is continuous around the two organs, GC = gonial cell, GH = gonad hemocoel; OL = ovarian lumen, OR = ovarian rudiment, TR = testicular rudiment, Scale bar = 2.0  $\mu$ m, 7,800 X.

Figure 66. TEM of a grazing section through a gonial cell in the region of contact between the ovarian and testicular rudiments. N = nucleus, NA = nuage, SC2 = Type II somatic cell. Scale bar =  $1.0 \mu m$ . 11,400 X.

٢,



Figure 67, TFM of a grazing section through c gonial cell in the region of contact, GC = gonial cell, V = vesicles containing electron dense material, VA = vacuole with small vesicles. Scale bar  $0.5 \ \mu m$ , 19,800 X.

Figure 68, TEM of a gonial cell in the testicular rudiment, BL = basal lamina, N = nucleus, NA = nuage, SC = somatic cell with a cilium projecting into an intercellular pocket. Scale bar =  $1.0 \ \mu m$ , 10,700 X.

Figure 69, DIC micrograph of the Stage VII gonad. The testis is positioned laterally to the ovary, O= ovary, OD= oviduct, PG= pyloric gland, SD= sperm duct, T= testis. Scale bar = 50.0  $\mu$ m, 260 X.

Figure 70, LM of the Stage VII gonad. The testis here is anterior to the ovary, AE = atrial epithelium, EP = epidermis, GH = gonad hemocoel, BL = germinal layer of the ovary, O = ovary; OD = oviduct, PG = pyloric gland, SD = sperm duct, T = testis. Scale bar = 50.0  $\mu$ m. 260 X.



Figure 71, LM of the ovary of Stage VII. GC = gonial cells, GL = germinal layer, SCI = Type 1 somatic cells, SC2 = Type 11 somatic cells, SD = sperm duct, Scale bar = 10.0  $\mu$ m, 1.080 X.

£

2

 $\mathbf{i}$ 

Figure 72, TEM of the thinner region of the germinal layer of the ovary. GC = gonial cell, NA = nuage, OL = ovarian lumen, SC2 = Type 11 somatic cell, Scale bar = 1.0  $\mu$ m, 11,200 X,

Figure 73. TEM of a region of the thick germinal layer showing a Type II somatic cell between adjacent gonial cells. GC= gonial cell, SC2= Type II somatic cell. Scale bar =  $1.0 \ \mu m$ . 11,200 X.

Figure 74. TEM of a Type II somatic cell in the germinal layer. GC = gonial cell, SC2 = Type II somatic cell. Scale bar = 0.5  $\mu$ m, 32,100 X.

Figure 75, TEM of the germinal layer where it grades into the squamous somatic region that forms the oviduct, GC = gonial cell, OL = ovarian lumen, SC2 = Type II somatic cell. Scale bar =  $2.0 \ \mu m$ , 7,800 X.

î

1

κ.



Figure 76. TEM of the oviduct adjacent to the developing sperm duct, BL = basal lamina between the sperm duct and oviduct, OD = squamous cells of the oviduct  $\stackrel{(OL = ovarian lumen, ND = sperm duct, Scale bar = 2.0 \mu m, 7,800 X.}{}$ 

Figure 77. 1.M of the testis of Stage VII. GC= gonial cells, GH= gonad hemocoel, SC= somatic cells, TL= testicular lump, Scale bar =  $10.0 \ \mu m$ , 1,330 X/

Figure 78, TEM of gonial cells of the testis, AG = granular aggregations, N = nucleus, SC = somatic cell. Scale bar =  $2.0 \ \mu m$ , 7,700 X.

Figure 79. TEM of a gonial cell of the testis, AG = granular aggregations in the perinuclear cytoplasm, N = nucleus, NE = nuclear envelope, Scale bar = 0.5  $\mu$ m, 35,100 X. Inset, nuage of a testicular gonial cell. 34,600 X.

Figure 80. TEM of a somatic cell of the testis. BL = basal lamina, C = cilium, G = Golgi complex, GC = gonial cell, N = nucleus. Scale bar =  $0.5 \mu m$ . 24,500 X.

Figure 81. TEM of of cells of the developing sperm duct. ZA = zonula adhaerens. Scale bar = 0.5  $\mu$ m. 31,600 X.

Figure 82. TEM of the developing sperm duct. The cells are irregular in shape and surrounded by a basal lamina. BL = basal lamina. Scale bar =  $1.0 \mu m$ . 11,300 X.

Figure 83. TEM of a grazing section through the end of the developing sperm duct. OD = oviduct, SD = sperm duct. Scale bar =  $2.0 \ \mu m$ . 7,900 X.



99

BLANK PAGL

## V. BIBLIOGRAPHY

Ą

Alberts, B., D. Bray, J. Lewis, M. Raff, K. Roberts, J.D. Watson (1983). <u>Molecular Biology</u> of the Cell, 1146 pp. New York: Garland Publishing, Inc.

Andrew, W. (1961). Phase microscopic studies of living blood cells of the tunicates under normal and experimental conditions, with a description of a new type of mobile cell appendage. Q.J. Microsc. Sci., 102:89-105.

Arnback-Christie-Linde, A. (1922-1934). Northern and arctic invertebrates in the collection of the Swedish State Museum, I-XIII, Kungl. Svenska Vet. Handl., (3)1-9.

Aros, B. and I. Konok (1969), Light microscopic examination of the nervous system of Tunicata, Acta biol, Acad, sci. Hungaricae, 20:109-124.

Aubert, H. (1954). Recherches sur le cordon dorsal et le tractus génital de deux espèces d'ascidies. Rec. Trav. Stat. mar. d'Endoume, 12:51-28.

æ

R

ğ

AL

3

Bace Z.M. and M. Florkin (1935). Action pharmacologique d'un extrait d'hypophyses et de ganglions nerveux d'une ascidie (<u>Ciona intestinalis</u>). C.R. Soc. Biol., 118:814-815.

Bacq, Z.M. and M. Florkin (1946). Sur la spécificité des principes extraits de la région neuro-glandulaire de l'ascidie <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>. Experientia, 2:451.

Bancroft, F.W. (1899). Ovogenesis in Distaplia occidentalis, with remarks on other species.

. 100

Bull. Mus. Comp. 2001., Harvard., 35:59-112.

Barrington, E.J.W. (1968), Metamorphosis in lower chordates, In W. Etkin and L.I. Gilbert (eds.): <u>Metamorphosis, a Problem in Developmental Biology</u>, New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts.

Baskin, D.G. (1976). Neurosecretion and the endocrinology of nereid polychaetes. Am. Zool., 16:107-124.

Beams, H.W. and R.G. Kessel (1974). The problem of germ cell determination. Int. Rev.

Cytol., 39:413-479.

Benazzi, M. (1939), Sul significato funzionale della ghiandola neurale (presunta ipofisi) del Ascidie, Boll. Zool., 10:99.

Berrill, N.J. (1941a). The development of the bud in Botryllus, Biol. Bull., 80:169-184.

Berrill, N.J. (1941b). Size and morphogenesis in the bud of Botryllus, Biol. Bull., 80:185-193.

Berrill, N.J. (1948). Budding and the reproductive cycle of Distaplia. Q.J. Microsc. Sci.,

89:253-289.

Berrill, N.J. (1950). The Tunicata, with an Account of the British Species. Ray Society Monographs, 133:1-354.

Berrill, N.J. (1975). Chordata: Tunicata. In A.C. Giese and J.S. Pearse (eds.): Reproduction

of Marine Invertebrates, Vol. 11, New York; Academic Press,

Bloom, W. and D.W. Fawcett (1982). <u>A Textbook of Histology</u>. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders & Co.

Bone, Q. (1959). Observations upon the nervous systems of pelagic tunicates, Q. J. Microsc. Sci., 100:167-181.

Bouchard-Madrelle, C. (1967a). Perturbations de la ovogenèse provoquées par l'ablation partielle ou totale du complexe neural de <u>Ciona intestinalis</u> (Prochordées). Bull. Soc. Zool. France, 92:487.

Bouchard-Madrelle, C. (1967b). Influence de l'ablation d'une partie ou de la totalité du complexe neural sur le fonctionnement des gonades de <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>. C.R. Acad. Sci., 264D:2055-2058,

Brien; P. (1925). Contribution à l'étude de la blastogenèse des Tuniciers. 1. Bourgeonnement chez <u>Aplidium zostericola</u>. Arch. Biol., 35:155-205.

Brien, P. (1927). Contribution à la blastogenèse des Tuniciers. Formations du système nerveux et des glandes génitales dans les blastozooids d'<u>Aplidium zostericola</u>. Arch. Biol..
37:1-45.

Brien, P. (1930). Contribution à l'étude de la régénération naturelle et expérimental chez les Clavelinidae. Ann. Soc. Roy. Zool. Belg., 61:99-112.

Brien, P. (1939). Contribution à l'étude du bourgeonnement et de l'organogenèse du blastozooid des Distomidae (Polycitoridae), <u>Distaplia</u>, Ann. Soc. Roy. Zool. Belg., 70:101-152.

í

Brien, P. (1948). Tuniciers, Morphologie et Reproduction. In P.P. Grasse (ed.): <u>Traite de</u> Zoologie Vol. 9. Masson: Paris.

Bullock, T.H. and G.A. Horridge (1965). Structure and Function in the Nervous Systems of Invertebrates Vol. 11., pp. 1577-1592, San Francisco: W.H. Freeman and Co.

Burighel, P. and R. Brunetti (1979). The circulatory system in the blastozooid of the colonialascidian <u>Botryllus schlosseri</u>. Boll, Zool., 38:273-289.

Butcher, E.D. (1930). The pituitary in the ascidians (<u>Molgula manhattensis</u>). J. exp. Zool., 62:1-11.

Carlisle, D.B. (1950). Gonadotrophin from the neural region of ascidians. Nature, 166:737.

Carlisle, D.B. (1951). On the hormonal and neural control of the release of gametes in ascidians. J. exp. Biol., 28:463-472.

Carlisle, D.B. (1954). The effect of mammalian lactogenic hormone on lower chordates. J. mar. biol. Assoc. U.K., 33:65-68

Castle, W.E. (1896). The early embryology of <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>. Bull. Mus. Comp. Zool. Harvard, 27:203-279. Cavey, M.J. and R.A. Cloney (1973). Osmium-fixed and epon-embedded whole mounts of delicate specimens. Trans. Am. Microsc. Soc., 92:148-151.

Chabry, I., (1887), Contribution à l'embryologie normale et tératologique des Ascidies simples. J. Anat. Physiol. Paris, 23:167-319.

Chambost, D. (1966). Le complexe neural de <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>. Etude comparative du ganglion nerveux et de la glande asymétrique aux microscopes optiques et électronique. C.R. Acad. Sci., 263D;969-971.

Cloney, R.A. (1972). Cytoplasmic filaments and morphogenesis: effects of cytocholasin B on contractile epidermal cells. Z. Zellforsch, 132:167-92.

Cloney, R.A. (1978). Ascidian metamophosis; Review and analysis. In F-S, Chia and M.E. Rice (eds.): <u>Settlement and Metamorphosis of Marine Invertebrate Larvac</u>. New York: Elsevier/North Holland.

Cloney, R.A. and E. Florey (1968). Ultrastructure of cephalopod chromatophore organs. Z. Zellforsch., 89:250-280.

Conklin, E.G. (1905). The organization and cell lineage of the ascidian egg. J. Acad. Nat. Sci. Phil., 13:1-119.

Cowden, R.R. (1961). A comparative cytochemical study of oocyte growth and development in two species of ascidians. Acta Embryol. Morphol. Exp., 4:123-141.

Cowden, R.R. (1962). A comparative cytochemical study of oocyte growth and development in five ascidian species. Trans. Am. Microsc. Soc., 81:149-158.

Cowden, R.R. (1967), Quantitative cytochemical studies of oocyte growth in the ascidian Ascidia nigra, Acta, Embryol, Morphol, Exp., 9;235-245.

Cowden, R.R. (1968). The embryonic origin of blood cells in the tunicate Clavelina picta.

Trans, Am. Microsc, Soc., 87:521-524,

Cowden, R.R. and C.L. Markert (1961). A cytochemical study of the development of Ascidia nigra. Acta, Embryol, Morphol, Exp., 4:142-160,

Crampton, H.E. (1899). Studies on the early-history of the ascidian egg. 1. The ovarian history of Molgula manhattensis, J. Morph., 15:29-56.

Curtis, A. (1967). The Cell Surface; its Molecular Role in Morphogenesis, London: Logos Press.

Damas, D. (1902). Recherches sur le développement des molgules. Arch. Biol., 18:599-664.

Davenport, R. and J.C. Davenport (1965). A cytochemical study of cytoplasmic basic proteins in the ascidian oocyte. J. Cell Biol., 25:319-326,

Dawson, A.B. and F.L.Hisaw (1964). The occurrence of neurosecretory cells in the neural ganglia of tunicates. J. Morph., 114:411-423.  $\bigcirc$ 

ţ

¢

De Selys-Longchamps, M. and D. Damas (1900). Recherches sur le développement

post-embryonnaire définitive de Molgula ampulloides. Arch. Biol., 17:385-488.

De Vincentiit, M. (1962). Ulteriori indagini istospettrografiche e citochimiche su alcum aspetti dell'ovogenesi di <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>. Atti So, Peloritana Sci. Fis. Mat. Nat., 8:190-198.

÷

Dodd, J.M. (1955). The hormones of sex and reproduction and their effects in fish and lower chordates, In L.C. Jones and P. Eckstein (eds.): <u>Comparative Physiology of</u>

<u>Reproduction and the Effects of Sex Hormones in Vertebrates</u>. Cambridge:
 University Press.

15

4

Dodd, J.M. and M.H.I. Dodd (1966), An experimental investigation of the supposed pituitary . affinities of the ascidian neural complex, In H. Barnes (ed.): <u>Some Contemporary</u> <u>Studies in Marine Science</u>, London: Unwin and Allen.

Eddy, E.M. (1975). Germ plasm and the differentiation of the germ cell line. Int. Rev. Cytol., 43:229-280.

Eisenmann, D.G. and M. Alfert (1982). A new fixation secredure for preserving the ultrastructure of marine invertebrate tissues. J. Microsc., 125:117-120.

Elwyn, A. (1937). Some stages in the development of the neural complex in <u>licteinascidia</u> <u>turbinata</u>. Bull. Neur. Inst. N.Y., 6:163-177.

Endean, R. (1955). Studies of the blood and tests of some Australian ascidians. I. The blood of



101:177-197.

٠,

Pyura stolonifera, Austr. J. Mar. Freshater Res., 6:35-59.

Endean, R. (1960). The blood cells of the ascidian Phallusia mammillata. Q.J. Microsc. Sci.,

Ermak, T.H. (1975). An autoradiographic demonstration of blood cell renewal in <u>Stycla clava</u>. Experientia, 31:837-838.

 $\pm 1$  mak, T.H. (1976). Renewal of the gonads in <u>Stycla clava</u>, as revealed by autoradiography

with tritiated thymidine. Tiss. Cell, 8;471-478.

Frmak, T.H. (1977). The hematogenie tissues of tunicates. In R.K. Wright and E.I. Cooper (eds.): <u>The Phylogeny of Thymus and Bone Marrow-Bursa Cells</u>, pp. 45-56.
 Amsterdam: Elsevier/North Holland.

Ermak, T.H. (1982). Renewing cell populations of ascidians. Am. Zool., 22:795-805.

Evringham, J.W. (1965). Evidence for the attachment of intranuclear annufate lamellae to the nuclear envelope, Anat. Rec., 151:347-348.

 Fedele, M. (1923a). Sulla organizzazione e le caratteristiche funzionali dell'attivita nervosa dei *f*<sup>\begin{bmmatrix} 1 & Recerche sul sistema nervosa periferico degli Ascidiacea, Mem. Acc. Lincei, 32:98-102.

</sup>

Fedele, M. (1923b). Ancora sulla organizzazione e le caratteristiche funzionali dell'attivita

nervosa dei Tunicati. II. Attivita riflesse ed efettori autonomi negli Ascidiacea.

Mem Acc. Lincei, 32:184-188.

۱ د،

Fedele, M. (1927). Ancora sulla organazzazione e le caratteristiche funzionale dell'attivita nervosa dei Tunicati III. Il sistema nervosa viscerale. Atti dell'Accademica naz. dei Lincei Rendiconti, 6:532-537.

Fedele, M. (1937). Contrattilita ed eccitazione neurogene e miogena negli "Ascidiacea". Mem. Acc. Lincei, 26:31-37.

Fedele, M (1938). Il sistema nervoso degli "Ascidiacea" nel piano di organizzazione dei Cordati, Mem. Acc. Lincei, 27:370-376.

Floderus, M. (1896). Über die Bildung der Follikelhullen bei den Ascidien. Zeitschr. Wiss. Zool., 61:163-260.

Florey, E. (1963), Acetylcholine and cholinesterase in tunicates, Comp. Biochem, Physiol., 8:327-330.

Franke, W. (1974). Structure, biochemistry and functions of the nuclear envelope, Int. Rev. Cytol. Suppl., 71-236.

Franzén, A. (1983). Urochordata. In K.G. Adiyodi and R.G. Adiyodi (eds.): <u>Reproductive</u> <u>Biology of Invertebrates, Vol. 11. Spermatogenesis and Sperm Function</u>. New / York: J. Wiley and Sons.

Freeman, G. (1964). The role of blood cells in the process of asexual reproduction in the

tunicate Perophora viridis, J. exp. Zool., 156:157-184.

Freeman, G. (1969), The control of the initiation of asexual reproduction in the tunicate <u>Amaroucium constellatum</u>, Biol. Bull., 137:399-400.

Freeman, G. (1971). A study of the intrinsic factors which control the initiation of asexual reproduction in the tunicate <u>Amaroucium constellatum</u>, J. exp. Zool., 178:433-456.

Galigher, A.E. and E.N. Kozloff (1971), Essentials of Practical Microtechnique, Philadelphia: Lea and Fabiger.

Garstang, S.I., and W. Garstang (1928). On the development of <u>Botrylloides</u>, Q. J. Microse, Sci., 72:1-49.

George, W.C. (1939). A comparative study of the blood of tunicates, Q.J. Microsc, Sci., 81:391-429.

Georges, D. (1968). Influence de l'éclairement sur la ponte de <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>. Cah. Biol. Mar., 9:105-113.

Georges, D. (1969). Spermatogenèse et spermiogenèse de <u>Ciona intestinalis</u> observée au microscope électronique. J. Microscopie, 8:391-400.

Georges, D. (1970). Variations circadiennes de la structure de la glande neurale chez <u>Ciona</u> <u>intestinalis</u> (Tuniciers, Ascidiace). C.R. Seances Acad. Sci., Paris, 270:3137-3140. Georges, D. (1971). Le rythme circadien dans la glande neurale de l'ascidie <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>. Etude d'anatomie microscopique. Acta. Zool., 52:257-273.

Georges, D. (1977). Analyse fonctionelle du complexe neural chez <u>Ciona intestinalis</u> (Tuniciers, Ascidiacé), Gen. Comp. Endocr., 32:454-473.

Godeaux, J. and C. Beros-Debroux (1979). Le complexe neural d'un ascidie Aplousobranche, <u>Clavelina lepadiformis</u>, Cah. Biol. Mar., 20:271-280.

Goodbody, I. (1974). The physiology of the ascidians. In F.S. Russell and M. Yonge (eds.): <u>Advances in Marine Biology</u>: Volume 12, New York: Academic Press.

Hancock, A. (1868). On the anatomy and physiology of the Tunicata, J. Linn, Soc. Lond., 9:309-346.

Hartmeyer, R. (1924). Ascidiacea: I and II. Zugleich eine Übersicht über die arktische und boreale Ascidienfauna auf tiergeographischer Grundlage, Danish Ingolf Expedition, 6:1-368 and 7:1-278.

Harvey, L.A. (1927). The history of cytoplasmic inclusions of the egg of <u>Ciona intestinalis</u> during oogenesis and fertilization. Proc. Roy. Soc. London Ser. B, 101:137-161.

Hecht, S. (1918). The physiology of <u>Ascidia atra</u>. I. General physiology. J. exp. Zool., 25:229-259.

Herdman, W.A. (1882-1886). Report on the Tunicata collected during the voyage of the HMS

ŧ

Challenger 1873-1876. Part I., Ascidiae simplices, vol 6; Part II, Ascidiae compositae, vol 4; Part III, Pelagic Tunicata and appendix to Part I, vol 27.

Hilton, W. (1913). The central nervous system of Tunica nigra. Zool. Jb., 37:113-130.

Hirai, F. (1968), Tunicata, In M. Kume and K. Dan (eds.): <u>Invertebrate Embryology</u>. Belgrade: Nolit Publ. House.

Hirschler, J. (1917). Über die Plasmakomponenten der wieblichen Geschlechtzellen. Arch. Mikrosk. Anat., 89:1-58.

Hisaw, F.L., C.R. Boticelli and F.I. Hisaw (1966). A study of the relation of the neural gland-ganglionic complex to gonadal development in an ascidian <u>Chelyosoma</u> productum, Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 7:1-9.

Hjort, J. (1896). Germ-layer studies based upon the development of ascidians. Nor,

North-Atlantic Exp. Zool., Christiana.

۸

-Hogg, B.M. (1937). Subneural gland of ascidian (<u>Polycarpa tecta</u>): an ovarian stimulating action in immature mice, Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol., 35:616-618.

Hsu, W.S. (1962). An electron microscopic study on the origin of yolk in oocytes of the

ascidian Boltenia villosa Stimpson. Cellule, 62:145-163.

Hsu, W.S. (1963). The nuclear envelope in the developing oocytes of the tunicate, <u>Boltenia</u> <u>villosa</u>. Z. Zellforsch., 58:660-678.

p 🗘

Hsu, W.S. and R.A. Cloney (1958). Mitochondria and yolk formation in the ascidian. <u>Boltenia</u> <u>villosa</u>. La Cellule, 59:212-224.

đ

Hunter, G.W. (1898a). Notes on the peripheral nervous system of Molgula, J. Comp. Neurol., 8:202-206.

Hunter, G.W. (1898b). Notes on the finer structure of the nervous system of <u>Cynthia partita</u>. Zool, Bull., 2:1-112.

Huus, J. (1924). Genitalorgane und 'ganglio-genitalstrang' bei <u>Corella parallelogramma</u>. Skr. Vidensk. Selsk. Christ., 19:1-50.

Huus, J. (1937). Tunicata: Ascidiacea. In W. Kukenthal and Krumbach (eds.): <u>Handbuch der</u> Zoologie, 5:545-692 Berlin: W. de Gruyter.

Huus, J. (1939). The effect of light on the spawning in ascidians. Avh. norske Vidensk. Akak. Oslo, 4:1-30.

Izzard, C.S. (1968). Migration of germ cells through successive generations of pallial buds in Botryllus schlosseri. Biol. Bull., 135:424.

Jägersten, G. (1935). Untersuchungen über den strukturellen Aufbau der Eizelle. Zool. Bidrag. Uppsala, 16:1-282.

Julin, C. (1881). Recherches sur l'organization des Ascidies simples. Sur l'hypophyse et quelques organes qui s'y rattachent chez <u>Ascidia compressa</u> et <u>Phallusia</u>

<sup>6</sup>Julin, C. (1893). Structure et développement des glandes sexual; ovogenèse, spermatogenèse et fécondation chez <u>Styelopsis grossularia</u>. Bull. Sci. France et Belgique, 25:93-154.

Kalk, M. (1963a). Cytoplasmic transmission of a vanadium compound in a tunicate oocyte visible with electron microscopy. Acta Embryol. Morphol. Exp., 6:289-303.

Kalk, M. (1963b). Intracellular sites of activity in the histogenesis of tunicate vanadocytes, Q.J. Microsc, Sci., 104:483-493.

Kessel, R.G. (1962). Fine structure of pigment inclusions in the test cells of the ovary of <u>Styela</u>. J. Cell Biol., 12:637-640.

Kessei, R.G. (1964). Intranuclear annulate lamellae in oocytes of the tunicate, <u>Styela partita</u>. Z. Zellforsch., 63:37-51.

Kessel, R.G. (1965). Intranuclear and cytoplasmic annulate lamellae in tunicate oocytes. J. Cell Biol., 24:471-487.

Kessel, R.G. (1966a). An electron microscope study of nuclear-cytoplasmic exchange in oocytes of <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>. J. Ultrastruct. Res., 15:181-196.

Kessel. R.G. (1966b). Ultrastructure and relationships of ooplasmic components in tunicates. Acta Embryol. Morphol. Exp., 9:1-24. Kessel, R.G. (1967). The origin and fate of secretion in the follicle cells of tunicates, Z. Zellforsch., 76:21-30.

Kessel, R.G. (1968). Annulate lamellae, J. Ultrastr. Res., 22:63-89.

Kessel, R.G. (1973). Structure and function of the nuclear envelope and related cytomembranes. In J.F. Danielli, M.D. Rosenberg and D.A. Caldenhead (eds.): <u>Progress in the Surface and Membrane Science</u>. New York: Academic Press.

Kessel, R.G. (1983). Urochordata - Ascidiacea, In K.G. Adiyodi and R.G. Adiyodi (eds.): <u>Reproductive Biology of Invertebrates: Objenesis, Oviposition, and Obsorption</u>. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Ltd.

Kessel, R.G. and H.W. Beams (1965). An unusual configuration of the Golgi complex in pigment-producing "test" cells of the ovary of the tunicate <u>Styela</u>. J. Cell Biol., 25:55-68.

Kessel, R.G. and N.E. Kemp (1962). An electron microscope study on the oocyte, test cells, and follicular envelope of the tunicate <u>Molgula manhattensis</u>. J. Ultrastruct. Res., 6:57-76,

Knaben, N. (1936). Über Entwicklung und Funktion der Testzellen bei <u>Corella</u> parallelogramma. Bergens Mus. Aarb., 1:1-34.

Kowalevsky, A.O. (1866). Entwicklungsgeschichte der einfachen Ascidien. Mém. Acad. Sci. St.

Pétersbourg, 10:1-19.

4

Kowalevsky, A.O. (1871). Weitere Studien über die Entwicklungsgeschichte der einfachen Ascidien. Arch. Mikrosk. Anat., 7:101-130.

Kowalevsky, A.O. (1874a). Über die Knospung der Ascidien, Arck. Mikrosk, Anat., 10:441-470.

Kowalevsky, A.O. (1874b). Sur le bourgeonnement du <u>Perophora listeri</u>. Rev. Sci. Nat. Montpellier, 3:213-235.

ambert, C.C. and C.L. Brandt (1967). The effect of light on the spawning of <u>Ciona</u> intestinalis, Biol. Bull., 132:222-228.

Lambert, C.C. and G. Lambert (1978). Tunicate eggs utilize ammonium ions for flotation. Science, 200:64-65.

Lambert, G. (1968). The general ecology and growth of a solitary ascidian. <u>Corella</u> <u>willmeriana</u>. Biol. Bull., 135:296-307.

 Lambert, G., C.C. Lambert and D.P. Abbott (1981). <u>Corella</u> species in the American Pacific Northwest: distinction of <u>C. inflata</u> Huntsman, 1912 from <u>C. willmeriana</u> Herdman, 1898 (Ascidiacea, Phlebobranchia). Can J. Zool., 59:1493-1504

Lane, N.J. (1968). Fine structure and phosphatase distribution in the neural ganglion and associated neural gland of tunicates. J. Cell Biol., 39:171A.

Lane, N.J. (1971). The neural gland in tunicates: fine structure and intracellular distribution

of phosphatases. Z. Zellforsch., 120:80-93.

Lane, N.J. (1972). Neurosecretory cells in the cerebral ganglion of adult tunicates: fine structure and distribution of phosphatases. J. Ultrastr. Res., 40:480-497.

Lefevre, G. (1897). Budding in Ecteinascidia. Anat. Anz., 13:473-483.

Lefevre, G. (1898), Budding in Perophora, J. Morph., 14:367-424,

Lender, T. and C. Bouchard-Madrelle (1964). Etude expérimentale de la régénération du complexe neural de <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>, Bull. Soc. Zool. France, 89:546-554.

Lotleberg, O. (1907). Untersuchungen über den feineren Bau des Nervensystems der Ascidien.

Zeitschr. wiss. Zool., 88:212-248.

Luft, J.H. (1961), Improvements in epoxy resin embedding methods, J. biophys, Biochem.

Cytol., 9:409-414.

Lützen, J. (1960). The reproductive cycle and larval anatomy of the ascidian. <u>Styela rustica</u>. Vidensk. Meddr. dansk naturh. Foren., 123:227-235.

Mackie, G.O., D.H. Paul, C.M. Singla, M.A. Sleigh, D.E. Williams (1974). Branchial innervation and ciliary control in the ascidian <u>Corella</u>. Proc. Roy. Soc. London, 187:1-35.

Mancuso, V. (1963). Distribution of the components of normal unfertilized eggs of Ciona

intestinalis examined at the electron microscope. Acta Embryol. Morphol. Exp., 7:260-274.

Mancuso, V. (1964). Ultrastructural changes in the cytoplasm of <u>Ciona intestinalis</u> oocytes. Acta Embryol. Morphol. Exp., 7: 269-295.

Mancuso, V. (1965), An electron microscope study of the test cells and follicle cells of <u>Ciona</u> <u>intestinalis</u> during oogenesis. Acta Embryol. Morph. Exp., 8:239-266.

Mancuso, V. (1972). Ultrastructural aspects of the nucleus of <u>Ciona intestinalis</u> oocyte. Acta Embryol. Morphol. Exp., 93:106-112.

Markman, B. (1958), On the peripheral nervous system of ascidians. Acta Zool., 39:13-18,

Maurice, C. (1886), Sur l'appareil branchial, les systèmes nerveux et musculaire de

l'Amaroucium torgautum, C.R. Acad. Sci., 103:434.

Maurice, C. (1888). Etude monographique d'une espèce d'ascidie composées (Fragaroides aurantiacum n.sp.). Arch. Biol., 8:205-495.

Metcalf, M.M. (1900). Notes on the morphology of the Tunicata. Zool. Jahrb.; 13:495-602.

Milanesi, C. and P. Burighel (1978). Blood cell ultrastructure of the ascidian Botryllus

schlosseri. I. Hemoblast, granulocytes, macrophage, morula cell and nephrocytes.

Acta Zool., 59:135-147.

े **।** ५८,  $\gamma$ 

٠.

Milkman, R. and S. Byrne (1961). Recent observations on Botryllus schlosseri. Biol. Bull.,

Millar, R.H. (1952). The annual growth and reproductive cycle in four ascidians. J. mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K., 31:41-61.

۵

Millar, R.H. (1953). Ciona L. M. B. C., 35:1-123.

121:376.

Millar, R.H. (1954). The annual growth and reproductive cycle of the ascidian <u>Dendrodoa</u> grossularia, J. mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K., 33:33-48.

Millar, R.H. (1958). The breeding season of some littoral ascidians in Scottish waters. L. mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K., 37:649-652.

Millar, R.H. (1959). Ascidiacea. Scientific results Danish Deepsea Expedition around the world 1950-1952. Galathea Rep., 1:189-209.

Millar, R.H. (1971). The biology of ascidians. In F.S. Russell and M. Yonge (eds.): <u>Advances</u> in <u>Marine Biology</u>, Volume 9. New York: Academic Press.

Minganti, A. (1954). Fosfatasi alcaline nello sviluppo delle Ascidie. Publ. Sta. Zool. Napoli,

25:9-17.

Monniot, C. and F. Monniot (1972). Clé mondiale des genres d'ascidies. Arch. Zool. exp. gen., /

L

113:311-367.

1.

.

Mukai, H. and H.H. Watanabe (1976). Studies on the formation of germ cells in a compound ascidian <u>Botryllus primigenus</u>, J. Morph., 148:337-362.

Mukai, H. and H.H. Watanebe (1977). Shedding of gametes in the compound ascidian <u>Sci</u> <u>Botryllus primigenus</u>. Mar. Biol., 39:311-317.

- Mukai, H., K. Sugimoto and Y. Taneda (1978). Comparative studies on the circulatory system of the compound ascidians <u>Botryllus</u>, <u>Botrylloides</u> and <u>Symplegma</u>, J. Morph., 157:49-78.
- Nakauchi, M. (1982). Asexual development of ascidians: its biological significance, diversity and morphogenesis. Am. Zool., 22:753-763.

Newberry, A.T. (1968). The gonads, and sexual cycle of the polystyclid ascidian <u>Distomus</u> <u>variolosus</u>. J. Morph., 126:123-163.

Nieuwkoop, P.D. and L.A. Sutasurya (1979). <u>Primordial Germ Cells in the Chordates</u>. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Oka, H. and H. Watanabe (1957). Vascular budding, a new type of budding in <u>Botryllus</u>. Biol. Bull., 112:225-240.

Oka, H. and H. Watanabe (1959). Vascular budding in Botrylloides. Biol. Bull., 117;340-346.

Ortolani, G. (1955). The presumptive territory of the mesoderm in the ascidian germ. Experientia, 11:445-446. Osborne, N.N. (1971). Occurrence of glycine and glutamic acid in the nervous system of two fish species and some invertebrates. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 43B:579-585.

- Osborne, N.N., V. Neuhoff, E. Ewers and H.A. Robertson (1979). Putative neurotransmitters in the cerebral ganglia of the tunicate <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 63C:209-213.
- Overton, J. (1966). The fine structure of blood cells in the ascidian <u>Perophora viridis</u>, J. Morph., 119:305-326.
- Pérès, J.M. (1943), Recherches sur le sang et les organes neuraux des tuniciers. Ann, de l'Institut Oceanogr., 21:299-359.
- Pérès, J.M. (1947a). Remarques sur le complexe neuroglandulaire de <u>Ciona intestinalis</u> et les propriétés de ses extraits. Bull. Lab. maritime Dinard, 29:29-34.
- Pérès, J.M. (1947b). A propos du complexe neuroglandulaire de <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>. Experientia, 3:330-331.
- Pérès, J.M. (1954). Considérations sur la fonctionnement ovarien chez <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>. Arch. Anat. Microsc. Morphol. Exp., 43:58-78.
- Pestarino, M. (1984). Immunocytochemical demonstration of prolactin-like activity in the neural gland of the ascidian <u>Styela plicata</u>. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 54:444-449.

Plough, H.H. (1978). Sea-squirts of the Atlantic Continental Shelf from Texas to Maine.

Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.

*ଇ*-ନ

Regse, J.P. (1967). Photoreceptive regulation of spawning in <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>. M.Sc. thesis, San Diego State College, San Diego, California, 81 pp.

121

ř

Reverberi, G. (1971), Ascidians, In G. Reverberi (ed.): <u>Experimental Embryology of Marine</u> and <u>Fresh-Water Invertebrates</u>, pp. 507-549, New York: American Elsevier Publ. Co., Inc.

Reynolds F.S. (1963). The use of lead citrate at high pH as an electron opaque stain in electron microscopy. J. Cell Biol., 17:208-212.

Richardson, K.C., L. Jarett and E.H. Finke (1960). Embedding the epoxy resins for ultrathin sectioning in electron microscopy, Stain Technol., 35:313–323.

Roule, I., (1884), Recherches sur les Ascidies Simples des côtes de Provence, Phallusiadées. Monographie de la <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>, Ann, Mus, Hist, nat, Marseille, 2:1-270, *E*<sup>2</sup>

Rowley, A.F. (1982). Ultrastructural and cytochemical studies on the blood cells of the sea squirt <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>. I. Stem cells and amoebocytes, Cell Tiss, Res., 223:403-414.

Sabbadin, A. (1955). Studio sulle cellule del sangue di <u>Botryllus schlosseri</u>. Arch. Ital. Anat. Embriol., 60:33-67.

Sabbadin, A. and G. Zaniolo (1979). Sexual differentiation and germ cell transfer in the

colonial ascidian Botryllus schlosseri, J. exp. Zool., 207:289-304.

Saffo, M.B. (1978). Studies on the renal sac of the ascidian <u>Molgula manhattensis</u>: 1. Development of the renal sac, J. Morph., 155:287-310.

- Salensky, W. (1893), Morphologische Studien an Tunicaten, I. Über das Nervensystem der Larven und Embryonen von Distaplia magnilarva, Morph. Jb<sup>4</sup> 20:48–74
- Sawyer, W.H. (1959). Oxytocic activity in the neural complex of two ascidians. <u>Chelyosoma</u> productum and <u>Pyura haustor</u>. Endocrinol., 65:520-523.
- Schlumpberger, J.M., J.L. Weissman and V.L. Scofield (1984). Monoclonal antibodies
   developed against <u>Botryllus</u> blood cell antigens bind to cells of distinct lineages
   duting embryonic development, J. exp. Zool., 229:205-213.
- Schlumpberger, J.M., I.I., Weissman and V.I., Scofield (1986). Separation and labelling of specific subpopulations of <u>Botryllus</u> blood cells, J. Immunol., (in press).
- Seeliger, O. (1893-1906), Tunicata, In G.A. Bronn (ed.): <u>Klassen und Ordnungen des</u> <u>Tier-Reichs</u>, beipzig.
- Sengal, P. and D. Georges (1966). Effets de l'éclairement et de l'ablation du complexe neural sur la ponte de <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>. C.R. Acad. Sci., 263D:1876-1879.
- Sengal, P. and M. Kieny (1962). Action de divers liquides nutritifs et de "complexe glande neurale-ganglion nerveux-organe vibratile" sur les gonades de <u>Molgula</u>

manhattensis cultivées in vitro. C.R. Acad. Sci., 254:1682-1684.

 Sengal, P. and M. Kieny (1963a). Rôle du complexe formé par la glande neurale, le ganglion i nerveux et de l'organe vibratile sur la différenciation sexuelle des gonades de <u>Molgula manhattensis</u>. Bull. Soc. Zool, France, 87:615-628.

Sengal, P. and M. Kieny (1963b). Culture de gonades de <u>Molgula manhattensis</u> isolées ou ... associées au complex formé par la glande neurale, le ganglion nerveux, et l'organe vibratile, Ann. Epiphytes, 14:95-111.

Simkins, C.S. (1924). Origin of the germ cells in Ecteinascidia, J. Morph., 39:295-321.

Smith, K.D. (1967). Genetic control of macromolecular synthesis during development of an ascidian: Ascidia nigra, J. exp. Zool., 164:393-406.

Smith, M.J. (1970). The blood cells and tunic of the ascidian <u>Halocynthia aurantium</u>, I.
 Hematology, tunic morphology and partition of cells between blood and tunic. Biol.
 Bull., 138:354-378.

Spek, J. (1927). Über die Winterknospenentwicklung, Regeneration und Reduktion bei <u>Clavellina lepadiformis</u> und die Bedeutung besonderer 'omnipotenter' Zellelemente für diese Vorgänge. Arch. Entwicklungsmech. Org., 111:119-172.

Sugimoto, K. and M. Nakauchi (1974). Budding, sexual reproduction, and degeneration in the colonial ascidian <u>Symplegma reptans</u>. Biol. Bull., 147:213-226.

١

٥

1. 1.

Sugimoto, K. and H. Watanabe (1980). Studies on reproduction in the compound ascidian. <u>Symplegma reptans</u>: relationship between neural complex and reproduction alion. Bull., 159:219-230.

124

Thiebold, J. and F. Illoul (1966). Recherches sur la neurosécrétion chez une ascidie. <u>Ciona</u> intestinalis, Bull, Soc. Hist, Nat. Afr. Nord., 56:87-97.

Torrence, S.A. and R.A. Cloney (1981). Rhythmic contractions of the ampullar epidermis during metamorphosis of the ascidian <u>Molgula occidentalis</u>. Cell Tiss. Res., 216:293-312.

Tucker, G.H. (1942). The histology of the gonads and development of the egg envelopes of an ascidian (Styela plicata Lesueur). J. Morph., 70:81-113.

Tuzet, O., D. Bogoraze and F. Lafargue (1974). La spermatogenèse de <u>Polysyncraton lacazel</u>, et <u>Trididemnum cereum</u>, Biol, Bull., 108:151-167.

Van Beneden, E. (1881). Existe-t-il un coelome chez les Ascidies?. Zool. Anz., 8:1-98.

Van Beneden, E. and C. Julin (1884). Recherches sur le développement post-embryonnaire d'une Phallusie (Phallusia scabroides nov.sp.). Arch. Biol., 5:611-638.

Van Beneden, E. and C. Julin (1886). Recherches sur la morphologie des Tuniciers. Arch.

Biol., 6:237-476.

Van Name, W.G. (1945). The North and South American ascidians. Bull. Am. Mus. Nat.

Von Ubisch, I. (1952) Die Entwicklung der Monascidien. Verhandl, Koninkl. Ned. Akad. Wetenschap., 49:1-56.

Wallace, H. (1961). The breeding and development of <u>Styela mammiculata</u>, J. mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K., 41:187-190.

Watanabe, H. and C.C. Lambert (1973). Larva release in response to light by the compound ascidians <u>Distaplia occidentalis</u> and <u>Metandrocarpa taylori</u>. Biol. Bull., 144:556-566.

West, A.B. and C.C. Lambert (1976). Control of spawning in the tunicate <u>Styela plicata</u> by variations in the natural light regime. J. exp. Zool., 195:263-270.

Whittaker, J.R. (1973a). Segregation during ascidian embryogenesis of egg cytoplasmic information for tissue-specific enzyme development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 70:2096-2100.

Whittaker, J.R. (1973b) Tyrosinase in the presumptive pigment cells of ascidian embryos: tyrosine accessibility may initiate melanin synthesis. Dev. Biol., 30:441-454.

Whittaker, J.R. (1979a). Cytoplasmic determinants of tissue differentiation in the ascidian egg.
In S. Subtelny and I.R. Konigsberg (eds.): <u>Determinants of Spatial Organization</u>.
New York: Academic Press.

Whittaker, J.R. (1979b). Development of tail muscle acetylcholinesterase in ascidian embryos lacking mitochondrial localization and segregation, Biol. Bull., 157:344-355

Whittaker, J.R., G. Ortolani and N. Farinella-Ferruzza (1977), Autonomy of

acetylcholinesterase differentiation in muscle lineage cells of ascidian embryos. Dev. Biol., 55:196-200.

Whittingham, D.G. (1967). Light-induction of shedding of gametes in <u>Ciona intestinalis</u> and <u>Molgula manhattensis</u>. Biol. Bull., 132:292-298.

Willey, A. (1893). Studies on the Protochordata. 11. The development of the neurohypophyseal system in <u>Ciona intestinalis</u> and <u>Clavelina lepadiformis</u>, with an account of the origin of the sense organs in <u>Ascidia mentula</u>. Q. J. Microsc. Sci., 35:295-316.

Willey, A. (1894). Amphioxus and the Ancestry of the Vertebrates. New York.

Woollocott, R.M. (1974). Microfilaments and the mechanism of light-triggered sperm release in ascidians. Dev. Biol., 40:186-195.

Woollocott, R.M. (1979). Regulation of spawning in <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>. In S.E. Stancyk (ed.): <u>Reproductive Ecology of Marine Invertebrates</u>. South Carolina: Univ. South Carolina Press.

Woollocott, R.M. and M.E. Porter (1977). A synchronous multicellular movement initiated by light and mediated by microfilaments. Dev. Biol., 61:22-38.

1

(
Wright, R.K. (1981) Urochordates. In N.A. Ratcliffe and A.F. Rowley (eds): Invertebrate Blood Cells. London: Academic Press.

127

Young, C.M. (1982). Larval behavior, predation and early post-settling mortality as determinants of spatial distribution in subtidal solitary ascidians of the San Juan Islands, Washington, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Alberta.

# VI. APPENDIX: A REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE ON ASCIDIAN GONADOGENESIS AND GONAD ORIGIN

The purpose of this appendix is to provide a synthesis of the literature that is available on ascidian gonadogenesis, and those related topics that I have addressed during the course of this research. Much of the information discussed in the literature is confusing and misleading, in part because the terms used have reflected an attempt to find homologies between structures of ascidians and those of other chordate groups. In addition, we microscopic techniques available to investigators in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries limited the completeness and clarity of their observations. Finally, I have found that many of the early observations have been misinterpreted in more recent discussions of these topics.

I begin this appendix with a summary of the anatomy of the adult reproductive system in members of both orders of ascidians. This provides a background for comparisons between the morphological changes that take place during gonadogenesis, and the organization of the mature gonad. Secondly, I discuss the available information and hypotheses that deal with the origin of the germ cells and gonads in ascidians, and compare this information with my observations on <u>Corella inflata</u>. Thirdly, I summarize published observations on the stages of gonadogenesis that have been identified in both solitary and compound species, concentrating on those forms in which the testis and ovary develop from a common organ rudiment, the ovotestis. Published results are compared with my observations on the stages of gonadogenesis in <u>C</u>, inflata. This is followed by a discussion of the characteristics of the germ and somatic cells of the gonad, with emphasis on the early developmental stages. Finally, I discuss the association of the neural complex with the reproductive system, and its implications in the development of the reproductive system.

128 .

#### A. REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEM: GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS

All ascidians, with the possible exception of three genera, are hermaphroditic (Berrill, 1975). In the Order Enterogona, the single compound gonad is positioned within the loop of the intestine and consists of numerous ovarian lobes surrounded on all sides, but particularly on the right lateral surface, by a large number of smaller testicular lobules. The gonad in some representatives of the Suborder Aplousobranchia, namely in the family Polyclinidae (Monniot and Monniot, 1972), is located in the postabdomen, below the digestive system. The members of the Order Pleurogona possess two or more gonads associated with the mantle on either side of the branchial basket. These gonads may be compound, or they may exist as distinct ovaries and testes located in different regions of the body (eg Newberry, 1968). An oviduct and sperm duct extend from the gonad along the intestine to open into the atrial cavity or atrium near the base of the atrial siphon in oviparous animals. Most compound species are ovoviviparous, and in species such as <u>Distaplia</u> (Berrill, 1948), parts of the oviduct may be modified into a brood pouch. An oviduct may be entirely absent in other species, such as the Didemnidae (Berrill, 1950). In many of the stolidobranchs there is a tendency for numerous small sperm ducts to open separately into the atrial cavity (Berrill, 1975).

There have been many studies on the gross morphology of the reproductive system in several species of ascidian, particularly with reference to gametogenic cycles, gamete maturation and spawning cycles (see Millar, 1971; Berrill, 1975 for review). These studies indicate that while the structure of the adult gonad is similar in most oviparous species, there is considerable variation in the seasonality of the gonads (e.g. Millar, 1952, 1954, 1958; Lutzen, 1960; Wallace, 1961). In general, each lobe of the ovary contains a "germinal epithelium". from which oocytes and probably also the follicle cells differentiate. All stages of oogenesis and folliculogenesis are present in each lobe (Tucker, 1942; Pérès, 1954; Millar, 1953; Ermak, 1976). As it is difficult to ascertain the histological nature of this tissue, the "germinal epithelium" of the ovary is referred to in this work as the "germinal layer". The ciliated

epithelial lining of the oviduct is continuous with the germinal layer (Tucker, 1942; Millar, 1953). The structure of the ovary in ovoviviparous forms is often greatly modified due to the production of a small number of large eggs, which are usually brooded (Berrill, 1950, 1975). The testicular lobules are composed of a relatively squamous germinal epithelium which gives rise to spermatogonia and spermatocytes (Tucker, 1942; Tuzet et al, 1974; Millar, 1953). The structure of the adult gonad of <u>Corella inflata</u> is essentially the same as in other oviparous phlebobranch ascidians.

### **B. ORIGIN OF GONADS AND GERM CELLS**

Most work on the origin of ascidian gonads is based on an examination of juveniles in. which the developing gonad is already present. Most of this work focusses on the asexually budded blastozooids of compound species, although there are a few reports on gonad origin in solitary species. Little work concerning the origin of the germ cells or gonads has been done in recent years, and no experimental analysis of this subject is available. Finally, there have been no ultrastructural studies on the cells of the developing gonad during gonadogenesis.

Berrill (1975) states in his monograph on the reproductive biology of ascidians that "there is no germ line traceable back to the egg and the gonadal rudiment may derive from dorsal cord, atrial epithelium, mesenchyme, or lymphocytic tissues according to the nature of the reproductive process". Berrill (1975) cites few specific references in support of this ambiguous statement, and these he interprets incorrectly (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886; Simkins, 1924; Huus, 1937). Apparently he has not carefully examined those works that have provided a foundation for the study of gonad and germ cell origin in the ascidians. Here, 1 outline the patterns of origin that have been implicated in the literature to date, and summarize my observations on <u>Corella inflata</u>.

## **BLOOD CELLS**

The ascidian circulatory system is essentially a hemocoel (Berrill, 1950; Millar, 1953; Burighel & Brunetti, 1979; Mukai et al., 1978). It contains several cell types referred to historically as blood cells, as well as plasma. The embryonic origin of the blood cells has been investigated only in <u>Clavelina picta</u> where a small mass of mesodermal cells, proliferated from the archenteron, develops into hematogenic tissue (Cowden, 1968). These early blood-forming cells of the embryo (hemocytoblasts) are undifferentiated, and are similar in appearance to the hemoblasts of the adult hematogenic tissue (Ermak, 1977). In tailbud stage embryos, some hemocytoblasts differentiate into adult blood cell types, while others retain their embryonic nature. After metamorphosis, some of the hemocytoblasts migrate to hematopoietic sites in various parts of the body. These include the pharyngeal wall around the gill slits, and the connective tissue and blood channels around the intestine (Kowalevsky, 1871; Millar, 1953; Ermak, 1977, 1982). Still other hemocytoblasts may become lodged in discrete nodules in certain areas of the body wall, and, in some stolidobranchs, near the gonads (Ermak, 1977; Wright, 1981).

Numerous investigators have reported on the morphology of the blood cells in adult ascidians using both light and electron microscopy (Hecht, 1918; George, 1939; Pérès, 1943; Millar, 1953; Endean, 1955, 1960; Andrew, 1961; Kalk, 1963a; Smith, 1970; Overton, 1966; Ermak, 1977; Milanesi and Burighel, 1978; Rowley, 1982). Six categories of blood cell have been identified: hemoblasts, lymphocytes, leukocytes, vacuolated cells, pigment cells, and nephrocytes (see Wright, 1981). Recent work indicates that all adult blood cells are derived from hemoblasts (Goodbody, 1974; Milanesi & Burighel, 1978; Wright, 1981). These stem cells are found primarily in the hematogenic tissue, but also in circulation in the blood (Ermak, 1977; Wright, 1981).

Hemoblasts are large spherical cells approximately 5 to  $6\mu$ m in diameter, with a large nucleus and one or more nucleoli. They have a small amount of basophilic cytoplasm which

131

৸

contains polyribosomes, cisternal RER, several mitochondria, and a small Golgi complex (Ermak, 1977, 1982; Milanesi & Burighel, 1978; Wright, 1981; Rowley, 1982). These cells are amoeboid, as are all blood cell types (Hecht, 1918; Andrew, 1961; Wright, 1981). The lymphocytes can be distinguished from hemeblasts by their smaller size (3 to 5  $\mu$ m), the absence of discrete nucleoli, and the localization of peripheral heterochromatin (Pérès, 1943; Millar, 1953; Sabbadin, 1955; Goodbody, 1974; Ermak, 1976; Wright, 1981); yet numerous authors have apparently confused these two cell types (George, 1939; Andrew, 1961; Overton, 1966; Newberry, 1968; Smith, 1970; Freeman, 1964, 1969, 1971).

Hemoblasts are probably the source of most of the tissues of the asexual bud in members of those families (Styelidae, Perophoridae, and Clavelinjdae) that multiply by vascular budding (Brien, 1930; Sabbadin, 1955; Oka and Watanabe, 1957, 1959; Milkman and Byrne, 1961; Freeman, 1964). Freeman (1964) found that hemoblasts (*vide* lymphocytes) are essential for budding in <u>Perophora viridis</u> and hypothesized that they supply an essential stem cell factor to the bud, without which other tissues cannot develop. It has been suggested that the hemoblast is also the multipotential cell type responsible for gonad formation (Newberry, 1968; Ermak, 1975, 1976; Mukai & Watanabe, 1976; Wright, 1981).

#### **Compound Species**

In an elegant study of gonad formation in <u>Distomus variolosus</u> (in the pleurogonid family Styelidae). Newberry (1968) showed that circulating "lymphocytes" form aggregations in various regions of the mantle sinus. These cells are amoeboid, contain a large nucleus and nucleolus, and probably correspond to the hemoblasts of Wright (1981). Some of the hemoblast aggregations, those in the presumptive ovarian and testicular regions, give rise to the gonads, which are of separate sex. In his examination of  $5\mu$ m sections of the hemoblast aggregations. Newberry (1968) concluded that the cells of the pre-gonadal clumps in <u>Distomus</u>

are undifferentiated, and probably do not have cytological features that set them apart from other hemoblasts. Ultrastructural studies might demonstrate differences in the cytoplasmic architecture of the cells in these gonad-forming clumps.

In other compound ascidians, the evidence for a hemoblastic origin of the gonads is less conclusive. The observations of Lefevre (1897) on Ecteinascidia blastozooids, indicate that a clump of cells derived from a region of the inner vesicle of the bud becomes surrounded by blood cells and constitutes the gonad rudiment. In Perophora viridis (Lefevre, 1898), P. listeri (Kowalevsky, 1874b; Van Beneden, 1881; Van Beneden and Julin, 1886), Clavelina rissoana (Seeliger, 1893-1906; Van Beneden and Julin, 1886), Distaplia occidentalis (Bancroft, 1899), and Symplegma reptans (Sugimoto and Nakauché, 1974) the gonad first appears as a small clump of cells. These cells are morphologically similar to amoeboid cells of the blood. Sugimoto and Nakauchi (1974) state that these cells in the compound stolidobranch Symplegma reptans are "lymphocytes", but they are probably hemoblasts by Wright's (1981) definition. They are located among other blood cells in the "genital tracts", or presumptive gonad region of the blastozooid, and the germ cells are derived from them.

The gonad probably also originates from blood cells in other compound ascidians. Mukai and Watanabe (1976) found that clusters of hemoblasts form a "loose cell mass" in the gonadal space of <u>Botryllus schlosseri</u> blastozooids: This "loose cell mass" gives rise to the oocytes and a surrounding primary follicle layer which are subsequently released into the blood. These cells then migrate via the blood to the gonadal space of a new blastozooid generation in the growing colony. Individual oocytes become associated with the "loose cell mass" of the new generation. The somatic cells of the ovary, and also the testis, subsequently differentiate from cells of the "loose cell mass". The research of Mukai and-

Watanabe (1976) confirms the earlier report of the blood cell origin of the gonad and the migration of the oocytes in the blood in <u>B. schlosseri</u> (1zzard, 1968). Sabaddin and Zaniolo (1979), however, considered that the cells of the "loose cell mass" (or worse, "blastema") had already differentiated from the blood cell line, and were not, in fact, hemoblasts, They do not, however, rule out the possibility that the "loose cell mass" is ultimately derived from hemoblasts,

Solitary Ascidians

The single gonad in the phlebobranch and aplousobranch ascidians develops in the large subendostylar sinus of the hemocoel. Numerous blood cells are found in this area in the juvenile. Van Beneden and Julin (1886) working with <u>Phallusia</u> <u>scabroides</u>, and Kowalevsky (1866, 1871) with <u>Ciona intestinalis</u> noted that the first indication of the developing gonad is the presence of a small accumulation of several mesoblastic cells similar to those in the hemocoel which surrounds it. Other than in their superficial resemblance to blood cells, however, there is no evidence that clearly indicates the origin of the cells that form this small pre-gonadal clump. This lack of evidence is probably because no individuals were examined in which the clump was absent, and because the microscopic techniques used by the authors were limiting. It is likely that at the stage described by the authors, the developing gonad contains some cells that are distinct from the blood cells. This is true in <u>Corella</u> <u>inflata</u>, where the clump of cells that forms the Stage III gonad consists of two distinct types of cells, gonial and somatic cells, clearly distinguishable only with TEM.

I have observed the developing gonad in <u>Corella inflata</u> at an earlier stage of development than has been reported in any previous study of a solitary ascidian. My observations demonstrate the striking morphological similarity of the circulating hemoblasts and the two cells that form Stages I and II of gonadogenesis, as revealed by the transmission electron microscope. The morphological similarity between the gonad- forming cells and hemoblasts continues to be apparent in the gonial cells of Stage III. In Stage IV the gonial cells contain nuage, an inclusion unique to this population of cells. In other respects, the gonial cells continue to resemble hemoblasts. The origin of the somatic cells of the gonad is not known. As there is no evidence that suggests a further addition of hemoblasts, or other blood cells, to the developing gonad after its establishment, it may be that the pluripotent hemoblasts of the first stage of gonadogenesis give rise to all of the cells, both gonial and somatic, of the Stage III gonad.

4

There is further evidence for the hemoblastic origin of the gonad, found in the first stage of gonadogenesis in <u>Corella</u>. Before the gonadal material is identified, by its location and its association with the dorsal strand, a cell or pair of cells that resemble hemoblasts is visible in the pre-gonadal region of the gonad hemocoel, subjacent to the epidermis and in close proximity to the dorsal strand. Although I have been unsuccessful at obtaining sections of this very transient association, it has been observed in at least 20 individuals using DIC microscopy.

My observations indicate that before gonadogenesis can begin in <u>Corella</u>. the pre-gonadal hemoblasts must be associated with the dorsal strand. No animals in Stage II or Stage III of gonadogenesis have ever been observed without this dorsal strand attachment. The dorsal strand never bears a bulbous or swollen region at its tip during the Stage I. This indicates that the dorsal strand does not itself produce the first cells of the ovotestis, but rather that the dorsal strand makes contact with cells that are already present in the gonad hemocoel.

ï

## MESENCHYME CELLS

The term "mesenchyme" has traditionally been rather a catch- all term applied to various wandering or fixed cellular elements of the body. Mesenchyme cells are mesodermally derived cells that are not joined to one another. In stolidobranch ascidians the gonads develop in-some portion of the mantle, which consists of an outer epidermis, an inner atrial epithelium, with connective tissue, muscle, nerves, and blood spaces in between. In <u>Molgula ampulloides</u> (De Selys Longchamps and Damas, 1900) and <u>Styclopsis grossularia</u> (Julin, 1893) the gonads are first visible as a small clump of mesenchyme, (or mesoblastic cells), located in the mantle wall. As blood cells are capable of wandering from the hemocoel into the mantle tissue (Newberry, 1968; Wright, 1981), and as the cells of the clumps of gonadal tissue are similar in appearance to the amoeboid cells that surround them in the mantle, it is a reasonable assumption that the gonad in these species is also a blood cell derivative.

6

#### MESODERMAL PLATE

In most compound ascidians the oozooid has no gonads, and reproduces only asexually (Sugimoto & Nakauchi, 1974; Nakauchi, 1982). Gonads of both sexes develop, however, in the oozooid of <u>Ecteinascidia turbinata</u>. Simkins (1924) described the ovary of the oozooid as derived from a simple mesodermal shelf-like structure that projects from the left body wall into the "coelom" (actually the hemocoel) of the animal. According to Simkins (1924) the cells of this projection are derived from the "splanchnoderm" - an inappropriate term as the cavity is not a coelom. It is likely, however, that certain undifferentiated mesodermal or mesenchymal cells of the mantle proliferate into the hemocoel and form the ovarian rudiment. While the cells of the early ovarian rudiment stain similarly to somatic cells, they are identifiable due to their location and their larger, germinal vesicle-like nuclei. The multiple testes develop, probably at the same time as the ovarian rudiment, from small inconspicuous clusters of cells which are similar to the cells of the surrounding tissue (Simkins, 1924). Simkins (1924) provides no

136

Q.

information in his account on the presence of blood cells in the gonadal region, and it may be that the testis arises from blood cells. It is clear that the origin of the gonad in the oozooid of <u>E. turbinata</u> is different from the blastozooid, because in blastozooids the gonads develop in the hemocoel, presumably from blood cells, as reported by Lefevre (1898).

## DORSAL STRAND

Morphological study implicates the dorsal strand as the direct source of the gonads in only one ascidian species (Brien, 1925, 1927). In individual blastozooids of <u>Aplidium</u> <u>zostericola</u>, the dorsal strand expands distally, and then separates in the region of the esophagus, to form two tubes which are histologically different. The ventral most of these two tubes maintains the same undifferentiated characteristics of the dorsal strand prior to its separation, and it develops into the testis. The dorsal most of the tubes becomes surrounded by larger cells, and develops into the ovary. Brien (1927) clearly states that the dorsal strand develops into the ovarian and testicular rudiments of the gonad, but his description does not make the origins of the germ cells clear. It is possible that blood cells aggregate around the dorsal and ventral components of the dorsal strand, and these blood cells may be the source of the germ cells, or at least contribute to the formation of the gonad. Brien (1948) does not discuss the issue of dorsal strand involvement in gonad origin in his later monograph on ascidian biology.

Aubert (1954) did not rule out the possibility that the gonad in newly metamorphosed <u>Ciona</u> is derived from the dorsal strand. His observations were hindered by the large accumulation of cells from the degenerating axial complex, which obstructed the earliest stages of gonadogenesis. Based on the undifferentiated nature of the dorsal strand cells in the bud of <u>Diazona violacea</u>, Aubert (1954) suggested that the gonads originate in this species as they do in <u>Aplidium zostericola</u> (Brien, 1927). The descriptions of dorsal strand involvement in gonad origin in these species are inconclusive at best, and this topic merits further attention and reexamination.

Huus (1924, 1937) maintains that the dorsal strand gives rise to the gonoducts in <u>Corella parallelogramma</u>. However, his work has been misinterpreted by Aubert (1954) and Berrill (1975) who imply that his results show that the gonad itself is derived from the dorsal strand.

#### ATRIAL EPITHELIUM

Berrill (1941 a, b) observed that the germ cells of both the ovary and testis form vety precociously during bud development in <u>Botryllus schlosseri</u>. He found that the germ cells are derived from the region of the atrial epithelium. It "sphere", that pinches off to form a new bud during blastogenesis. He indicates that the germ cells, including a few large oocytes and numerous smaller, presumptive testicular cells, arise by a "delamination or extrusion" from this region of the atrial epithelium. It is possible that the cells are in fact pinched off the atrial epithelium, and are released into the blood, to form the loose cell mass, as suggested by Sabaddin and Zaniolo (1979). If this were true, distinct histological differences between the hemoblasts and the germ cells should exist, reflecting their different origins. Mukai and Watanabe (1976), however, have shown that the germ cells are morphologically very similar to the hemoblasts.

## C. STAGES OF GONADOGENESIS

The stages of gonadogenesis outlined in the literature appear to be strikingly similar among the ascidians which possess compound gonads, regardless of their taxonomic position. In this section I discuss the literature that is available on the structure of the developing gonad in ascidians, and relate it to the stages of gonadogenesis I have identified in <u>Corella inflata</u>.

#### STAGES I AND II

These stages have not been identified in any previous study of gonadogenesis in a solitary ascidian. In <u>Corella inflata</u>, Stages I and II have been observed only in very small animals raised from embryos through metamorphosis, and they are extremely difficult to find , in sectioned material.

The first indication of the developing gonad in <u>Corella inflata</u> is one or a pair of cells located in the gonad hemocoel of very small animals, in close proximity to the termination of the dorsal strand. These cells are identical in their morphology to hemoblasts of the circulating blood, and there are no differences between the two cells. This stage is followed by Stage II, during which the pre-gonadal hemoblasts make contact with the end of the dorsal strand. I have never observed Stage II, or any other stage of gonadogenesis, without the contact with the dorsal strand. On this morphological evidence, I suggest that in <u>Corella inflata</u>, the association of the hemoblasts with the dorsal strand is essential to the initiation of gonadogenesis.

It is reasonable to assume that in most ascidian species the first stage of gonadogenesis consists of an initial accumulation of hemoblasts, that precedes the slightly differentiated cluster of cells in Stage II. In the compound stolidobranchs, the accumulation of hemoblasts in the mantle sinus has been clearly documented in <u>Distomus variolosus</u> (Newberry, 1968), and suggested in <u>Symplegma reptans</u> (Sugimoto and Nakauchi, 1974). In <u>Distomus</u>, those cells that form the initial accumulation are not augmented by an additional contribution of hemoblasts from the blood. This is also true in <u>Corella inflata</u>, although the number of cells that forms the Stage I gonad is substantially fewer than in <u>Distomus</u>. It appears that once the developing gonad is established, it constitutes a unique population of cells.

In those species which possess a dorsal strand or genital cord, these structures serve as convenient markers for locating this first stage of gonadogenesis. In those animals that do not have either a dorsal strand or a genital cord (see Metcalf, 1900), the cells that will form the developing gonad may passively aggregate in the "pre-gonadal region" of the body, such as the

mantle, as suggested by Newberry (1968).

#### STAGE III

This stage has been identified in most previous studies as the first stage of gonadogenesis. It consists of a small cluster of cells located in the gonad hemocoel in phlebobranchs and aplousobranchs, and in the mantle or mantle sinus in the stolidobranchs. In. Corella inflata, the Stage II ovotestis consists of two distinct cell types which are clearly discernible in transmission electron micrographs. These cells are the gonial cells and somatic cells. To a large extent, the gonial cells retain their hemoblastic nature. They are completely surrounded by somatic cells, and are therefore isolated from the environment of the gonad hemocoel. The ovotestis is attached to the dorsal strand, and always appears to be surrounded by connective tissue fibers, which may anchor the ovotestis to the epidermis, preventing it from floating free in the blood. I have frequently observed blood cells in the gonad hemocoel around the ovotestis (Wright, 1981).

In a comprehensive study of gonadogenesis in <u>Corella parallelogramma</u>. Huus (1924) was unable to find animals in which the ovotestis was not present. He described the first stage of gonadogenesis as consisting of a small compact mass of cells located between the stomach and intestine, and near the caecum of the stomach. This corresponds to Stage II in <u>C. inflata</u>. Some of the cells of the ovotestis in <u>C. parallelogramma</u> have large spherical nuclei and little cytoplasm, and there are smaller nuclei interspersed among the larger ones. The smaller nuclei do not, however, form a distinct outer layer. Huus (1924) states that although the larger nuclei of the ovotestis are noticeably different from the smaller nuclei, the difference in size is not f great enough to suggest that there is more than one cell type at this stage. Cell membranes were apparently not discernible at the light microscope level, as Huus (1924) based his description on nuclei rather than on individual cells. The dorsal strand is always attached to the dorsal end of

the ovotestis. It is thicker near this attachment, and contains 4 to 5 rounded nuclei. This thickened region of the dorsal strand extends into a single- celled region, which contains spindle-shaped nuclei. No other free mesenchyme or blood cells are present in the immediate vicinity of the ovotestis.

t

The other comprehensive study of gonadogenesis of a compound gonad is that of Van Beneden and Julin (1886). In the aplousobranchs, <u>Perophora listeri</u>, <u>Clavelina rissoana</u> and <u>Phallusia scabroides</u>, they describe the first stage of gonadogenesis, corresponding to Stage II in <u>Corella inflata</u>, as being composed of a small cluster of undifferentiated mesoblastic cells identical to blood cells. The cell mass is loosely held together, and in <u>P. listeri</u> and <u>C. rissoana</u> it is spherical, while in <u>P. scabroides</u> it is triangular. Individual cells in <u>P. scabroides</u> have occasional projections that touch neighboring cells. The ovotestis of these animals is attached to a thin strand of cells, the genital cord. This cord is composed of single cells joined end to end. It is not continuous with the neural gland, and therefore is not a morphological equivalent of the dorsal strand. Lefevre (1898) confirmed Van Beneden and Julin's (1886) account of this stage of gonadogenesis in <u>P. viridis</u>, but observed that the genital cord arises *in stu* from free spindle shaped cells around the ovotestis. These cells join end to end to unite with the ovotestis. Lefevre (1897) similarly confirmed Van Beneden and Julin's (1886) report on <u>Clavelina rissoana</u>. He describes the ovotestis of this stage as composed of an "irregular mass of cytoplasm containing a few scattered nuclei", and attached to the genital cord.

In very young specimens of the solitary phlebobranch, <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>, the ovotestis consists of a small mass of cells, found in the gonad hemocoel, near the degenerating cells of the axial complex (Aubert, 1954). The cells of this mass are indistinguishable from mesenchyme cells, corroborating Floderus (1896). No further details on the cells are available. Among the solitary stolidobranchs, De Selys Longchamps and Damas (1900) found that in <u>Molgula ampulloides</u> a small mass, approximately 10  $\mu$ m in diameter, of rounded cells is found in the mantle wall on each side of the body. This probably corresponds to Stage II of Corella

inflata. There is neither dorsal strand nor genital cord in this species. In Dendrodoa grossularia, the Stage II gonad (the earliest stage observed in this animal) consists of a small irregularly-shaped mass of mesodermal cells, abutting the peribranchial epithelium (Julin, 1893). The ovotestis subsequently forms a peripheral flattened layer, and a syncytial inner layer with rounded nuclei. At this point, before cavitation of the ovotestis occurs, a genital cord develops from the ovotestis. It is likely that the syncytial mass in the ovotestis of <u>D</u>, grossularia is an artifact of fixation. In no other ascidian is there a description of a syncytial layer during any stage of gonadogenesis.

In the compound stolidobranch <u>Distaplia occidentalis</u>. Bancroft (1899) was unable to find a stage in which the ovotestis was not present. In the earliest stage he observed, corresponding to Stage III in <u>Corella inflata</u>, the ovotestis is situated on the flattened inner vesicle of the bud. The ovotestis consists of a compact mass of cells, with small "oogonia". or gonial cells, in the anterior region of the organ, intermingled with primordial follicle cells. The less differentiated, presumptive testis cells are more posterior relative to the "oogonia". The ovotestis fuses with the dorsal strand (dorsal tube) under most conditions. Bancroft (1899) believed that this union was not significant, as he occasionally found no sign of a dorsal strand. In the absence of a dorsal strand, the ovotestis produces a genital cord along the anterior end. This is a difficult observation to interpret, and it is likely that in some of his study animals, Bancroft (1899) missed the association between the dorsal strand and the ovotestis.

## **STAGE IV**

The small cluster of cells that constitutes Stage III of gonadogenesis cavitates and forms a centrally placed lumen in Stage IV. This stage is probably universal among ascidians, although most workers do not distinguish between this stage and Stage V. In <u>Corella inflata</u> the ovotestis is a regular spherical shape with a fairly extensive lumen. There are regions of thinning, localized in small areas facing the epidermis; these thinner areas do not contain gonial

cells. The ovotestis consists of gonial and somatic cells, and the wall is never more than a single gonial cell thick. In this stage, the gonial cells have distinct germ cell characteristics, visible only with TEM, which include the first indication of nuage. The somatic cells have extensions that completely surround the gonial cells, isolating them from both external and internal environments. In the Stage IV ovotestis there are two types of somatic cells. Type I somatic cells are more squamous, and their nuclei have relatively diffuse chromatic. Some of these cells bear cilia which project into the lumen of the ovotestis, or into intercellular pockets. The Type II somatic cells are found consistantly in association with gonial cells; they are more cuboidal, and possess nuclei with denser nucleoplasm.

In <u>Corella parallelogramma</u> the ovotestis also cavitates, and forms a small eccentrically placed lumen (Huus, 1924). Huus (1924) does not, however, describe the Stage IV ovotestis as a separate stage of gonadorenesis. Similarly, Van Beneden and Julin (1886) do not describe this stage in <u>Perophora listeri</u>. <u>Clavelina rissoana</u> and <u>Phallusia scabroides</u>. They discuss the cavitation of the ovotestis as associated with the formation of a distinct germinal layer, several cells in diameter, on the ventral side of the organ. I consider this localization of the germinal layer to be separate stage. Stage V, of gonadogenesis. Lefevre (1898) describes the Stage IV gonad in <u>Perophora listeri</u> corresponding to my criteria, but does not discuss Stage V. In <u>Distaplia occidentalis</u>, lumen formation usually does not occur before the ovotestis differentiates into ovarian and testicular portions (Bancroft, 1899).

#### STAGE V

During this stage in <u>Corella inflata</u> the ovotestis becomes structured into a peripheral or ventral germinal layer that is several gonial cells in diameter, and a more elongate, dorsally placed somatic region. In all cases, the ovotestis is larger in Stage V than in Stage IV, and has a more extensive lumen. Many authors have referred to this stage as the stage during which cavitation of the ovotestis occurs. I have found that in <u>Corella inflata</u>, it is a distinct stage, and

' 143

always follows Stage IV, in which the germinal layer is not localized. While there are no substantial differences in the cells that form the ovotestis at this stage, the morphological organization will persist throughout later development. In addition, the Type I somatic cells in the region devoid of gonial cells extend further to form the beginnings of the oviduct.

In <u>Corella parallelogramma</u> the ovotestis enlarges by forming a larger lumen (Huus, 1924). The lateral walls of the ovotestis are a single cell in diameter, and consist only of squamous cells in this region. The front, or ventral side, becomes several cells thick and contains spherical nuclei. Huus (1924) termed the thicker region of the ovotestis the undifferentiated germinal epithelium, which also contains flattened or squamous somatic cells similar to those in the region devoid of gonial cells. The connection between the ovotestis and the dorsal strand occurs on the dorsal side of the thin-walled portion of the organ, and there are several rounded nuclei in this region of connection.

In <u>Perophora listeri</u> (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886; Lefevre, 1897). <u>Clavelina rissoana</u> and <u>Phallusia scabroides</u> (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886), the ovotestis becomes ovoid by forming a small eccentrically placed lumen. The ovotestis is delimited on the left (dorsally) by a single cell layer, and on the right (ventrally) by several layers of cells. The tip of the ovotestis extends into the genital strand. In <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>, the ovotestis is also spherical during this stage, with an eccentrically placed lumen (Aubert, 1954).

#### STAGE VI

This is the stage of gonadogenesis that is the most morphologically variable according to accounts in the literature. During this stage the ovotestis divides to form rudiments of separate sexes. In some species testicular rudiment formation is by budding of the ovotestis, while in others the ovotestis forms a furrow, which divides the ovotestis into two separate organ rudiments.

144

Â,

In <u>Corella inflata</u> the testicular rudiment always forms as a bulging, or evagination of the anterior wall of the ovotestis. This occurs along a small region of the ovotestis that is a single gonial cells in section, rather than in the thicker germinal layer, or the squamous somatic region. The testicular rudiment may later drop to a more lateral position relative to the ovarian rudiment. The fine structure of the cells at the site of testicular rudiment formation is unremarkable, although there is a considerable number of small vesicles whose contents are unknown. No contractile elements have been observed in the cells at the periphery of the ' bulging. As there are no special cellular features, and as the location of the testicular rudiment formation is not variable, it is likely that the factors that control testicular rudiment formation may be elucidated only experimentally.

A distinct basal lamina is found around each of the rudiments, which is continuous until the two rudiments separate. An epithelium is never formed between the two rudiments at any stage in <u>C</u>, inflata. The ovarian and testicular rudiments maintain contact for some time during which the small testicular rudiment opens into the larger ovarian rudiment. This opening always occurs in the somatic region composed of squamous cells.

The ovarian rudiment in <u>Corella inflata</u> is essentially identical to the ovotestis of Stage V, although the germinal layer contains considerably more gonial cells. Type I and Type II somatic cells continue to be found in the same orientation, surrounding the gonial cells and isolating them from both the gonad hemocoel and the lumen of the organ. The testicular rudiment has fewer gonial cells, and these are not localized into a distinct germinal region in this stage. The gonial cells are indistinguishable from those of the ovarian rudiment. They are also surrounded by processes of somatic cells, and are therefore isolated from the external and internal environments of the testicular rudiment. There is no distinction between somatic cells in the testicular rudiment, and all somatic cells are similar to the Type I cells of the ovarian rudiment.

During Stage VI in Corella parallelogramma, Huus (1924) describes a distinct depression that forms on the ventral side of the ovotestis. This observation is different from  $\underline{C}$ . inflata, both in the site of testicular rudiment formation, and in the manner by which the testicular rudiment develops. The ovotestis in C. parallelogramma subsequently divides into a larger lateral rudiment, and a smaller medial one closely applied to the ventral surface of the lateral rudiment. This larger is the ovarian rudiment, while the smaller is the testicular rudiment. The testicular rudiment is formed along the middle portion of the stratified germinal layer of the ovotestis. The ovarian rudiment at this site is reduced to a single cell layer. This observation in Corella parallelogramma is also different from that in C, inflata, where the testicular rudiment forms from a thin region of the germinal layer. The ovarian rudiment is crescent-shaped in C. parallelogramma, with a simple epithelium of low flat cells on the lateral surfaces, and a compound germinal layer on the medial surface, containing cells with large, spherical chromatin- rich nuclei. There are two distinct germinal layer zones, separated by the simple epithelium at the site where the testicular rudiment was formed. Huus (1924) describes a small structureless "membrane", which is probably the basal lamina, separating the ovarian rudiment from the testicular rudiment. The testicular rudiment is smaller than the ovarian rudiment, and is composed of a stratified epithelium of cells similar to those of the ovarian rudiment. A blindly ending sac, to which the dorsal strand attaches, forms a tubular continuation of the ovarian rudiment.

In Perophora listeri, the formation of the testicular rudiment occurs on the side of the ovotestis opposite to the genital cord (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886). In this location, a furrow divides the ovotestis into two incomplete lobes that communicate with each other. The walls of the ventral ends of these lobes are considerably thicker than at the tapered dorsal end where the wall is reduced to a simple flattened epithelial layer. The genital cord is attached to the ovotestis in this region. Soon after the furrow forms in <u>Perophora</u>, the two lobes become more distinctly separate (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886; Lefevre, 1898). The ovarian rudiment is the more

external, situated immediatly below the epidermis. It has a large ovoid lumen, and is continuous with the genital cord. The testicular rudiment is more deeply placed, subjacent to the ovarian rudiment. The lumen of the testicular rudiment is continuous with the ovarian lumen at a very large opening. Testicular rudiment differentiation in <u>C. rissoana</u> is similar to that described for <u>P. listeri</u> (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886; Lefevre, 1898). Kowalevsky (1874b), however, described the ovarian and testicular rudiments of <u>P. listeri</u> as arising from two separate clumps of cells, rather than from a common ovotestis. His work has been supersceded by that of Van Beneden and Julin (1886).

In <u>Phallusia scabroides</u>, the ovotestis divides into two unequal parts, by the formation of a small epithelial bulge on the wall of the ovotestis (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886). The testicular rudiment is perpendicular to the axis of the ovotestis, and opens at a large orifice into the lumen of the larger ovarian rudiment. The structure of the two rudiments is the same as that described for <u>Perophora listeri</u> (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886). These authors suggest that the dorsal strand is responsible for the formation of the large common duct, which is continuous with the ovarian rudiment.

The ovotestis separates to form two distinct cellular regions in <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>, which take on a Y-shaped configuration (Aubert, 1954). The two ventral regions, or bulges, develop into the ovarian rudiment, and consist of a germinal epithelium continuous with the thin epithelium of the developing oviduct. The single medial bulge develops into the testicular rudiment. This organ also contains a germinal epithelium that is continuous with the oviduct. Aubert (1954) remarked that the dorsal strand coexists with the beginnings of the gonoducts, and that the gonoducts therefore must form from the ovotestis rather than from the dorsal strand.

In <u>Ecteinascidia turbinata</u> blastozooids, Lefevre (1898) briefly mentions that the ovotestis divides into two lobes. At first these two lobes communicate, but they subsequently separate and give rise to the ovary and testis. The genital cord maintains its attachment to the Ω

ovarian lobe, but it subsequently splits to form the oviduct and sperm duct. In Distaplia occidentalis, the differentiation of the testicular rudiment begins with the formation of a small notch on the ventral side of the ovotestis (Bancroft, 1899). The two rudiments separate in an anterior direction, accompanied by a small structureless "membrane" (a membrana propria) which forms between the two masses. The two rudiments subsequently become separate, and the genital cord continues to the atrial epithelium. The ovotestis in Molgula ampulloides also divides into two incompletely separated lobes, although the mechanism is not discussed (De Selys Longchamps and Damas, 1900). The small testicular rudiment is found in a more posterior position, and is covered by the larger ovarian rudiment. These rudiments are composed of layers similar to those described by Huus (1924). In Dendrodoa grossularia the ovotestis divides into ovarian and testicular rudiments by the formation of a very thin, transverse furrow. This begins in the middle of the ovotestis and progresses towards the two extremes. The central syncytium proliferates, and the group of spherical cells subjacent to the peribranchial epithelium develop into the ovarian runnent. The more superficial cells develop into the testicular rudiment. The rudiments have the same structure, and are composed of peripheral flattened cells, and large gonial cells.

#### STAGE VII

The basic structure of the adult reproductive system is essentially completed during Stage VII. The ovary and testis become distinct separate organs, and each develops an exit duct. Further development involves the elaboration and enlargement of lobes in both the ovary and testis, and the differentiation of the mature gametes.

In <u>Corella inflata</u>, the ovary maintains the same morphology as the ovarian rudiment of Stage VI. The germinal layer continues to be thickest in the ventral-most region of the organ, and the thinner germinal layer continues into the somatic region which extends to form the developing oviduct. The number of gonial cells continues to increase during this stage of gonadogenesis. I have observed no direct evidence of cell division in this or any other stage of gonadogenesis, but indirect evidence in the form of midbodies between gonial cells has been observed. This indicates that cell division is a synchronous and relatively rapid event in <u>Corella inflata</u>. The fine structure of the gonial cells is not noticeably different from those of Stage VI. They continue to be separated by somatic cell processes from both external and internal environments of the ovary. Vitellogenesis does not begin until a later time. Developing follicle cells are, however, apparent in the germinal layer of the ovary. Based on size and shape, and on nuclear and cytoplasmic characteristics, these appear to be similar to the Type II somatic cells. These follicle cells extend into regions of the germinal layer and probably are derived from those cells that give rise to the gonial cells. I have observed no evidence supporting the blood cell origin of follicle cells at any stage in <u>C. inflata</u>, as suggested by Spek (1927) and Knaben (1936).

ú

The developing oviduct is a tubular extension of the ovary, and it remains attached to the dorsal strand at the dorsal-most aspect of the ovary. There is never any sign of a bifurcation of the dorsal strand, or of cell divisions at the end of the dorsal strand, that might indicate that the dorsal strand gives rise to the oviduct, as was suggested by Huus (1924). Afthough no cell divisions have been observed in the somatic epithelium of the ovary, it seems likely that the periphery of the germinal layer, or the margins of the duct itself, proliferate to form the oviduct.

The testis also enlarges during this stage, and the germinal layer becomes localized in the ventral region of the organ, continuous with a somatic region, as in the ovary. The germinal layer, however, is never as thick as that of the ovary. The gonial cells of the testis are not noticeably different from those of the ovary. They contain nuage and the appearance of nuclear-cytoplasmic exchange that is typical of the gonial cells in all stages beginning with Stage IV. The gonial cells of the testis rest on a somatic epithelium. They are not surrounded by somatic cell processes on their luminal surfaces, but rather project into the testicular lumen.

The sperm duct appears to develop from the wall of the testis. This continues to open into the lumen of the ovary close to the attachment with the dorsal strand. As the oviduct extends towards the atrium, the sperm duct also extends, so that its position relative to the oviduct is maintained. The sperm duct is always found in close proximity to the oviduct, and it is always surrounded by a distinct basal lamina.

, (

The ovarian rudiment lengthens and widens in Stage VII of Corella parallelogramma (Huus, 1924). Two separate, symmetrical germinal zones are found on the lateral surfaces in the ventral portion of the organ. The nuclei of the cells of the germinal epithelium are spherical, and they all appear to be similar. Huus (1924) does not discuss somatic cells, in particular the follicle cells, although he mentions that individual oocytes begin to grow and have distinctly different nuclear characteristics from other cells of the germinal epithelium. The remainder of the ovary consists of a flattened simple epithelium, both in the region between the germinal zones, and in the area of the developing oviduct. The testis also elongates in Stage VII of C. parallelogramma, and forms two-small lobes along the dorsal side of the ovary, Huus (1924) states that the dorsal growth of the testis probably involves a differentiation of cells from the medial wall of the ovary and oviduct, and the ventral growth is probably the result of an increase in the number of cells in the germinal epithelium. The ends of each testicular lobe contain a stratified germinal epithelium composed of cells that are all alike, and resemble those of the germinal layer of the ovary. The area between the ends of the testicular lobes is composed of a simple, flattened epithelium. At the dorsal end of the testis a narrow duct is found next to the ovary; this has its origin from the oviduct.

Huus (1924) describes the development of the gonoducts in <u>Corella parallelogramma</u>. which occurs during this stage. The oviduct, which he terms the "primary duct" (as he believes that both oviduct and sperm duct are derived from this structure), lengthens. A "tissue band" is found between the ovary and testis. This tissue band becomes less extensive in a dorsal position, and yet more dorsally, there is a small closed duct which appears in the wall of the

Q.

ovary. This corresponds to the communication between the ovarian and testicular rudiments found in <u>Corella inflata</u>, although in <u>C</u>, inflata, the two rudiments communicate via a lumen. A faint bulge, composed of cuboidal cells, subsequently appears on the medial side of the oviduct wall. A lip-shaped projection forms in the lumen of the oviduct, and a distinct tube subsequently forms as a direct continuation of the testis, and represents the developing sperm duct. The origin of the sperm duct is therefore partly from the testis itself, and partly from the oviduct. The sperm duct remains in intimate contact with the oviduct on the medial side. In <u>C</u>, <u>parallelogramma</u>, the dorsal strand is still continuous with the dorsal end of the oviduct. As the gonoducts develop, the dorsal strand progressively shortens, and when the ducts reach the atrial epithelium the dorsal strand is present only as a vestige. Huus (1924) concludes that the gonoducts are therefore formed from the dorsal strand. This issue is discussed further in a later section.

In <u>Perophora listeri</u>, the ovary of this stage has an extensive lumen, and the dorsal and lateral portions of the ovary are composed of a flat, thin epithelium (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886). The ventral end of the ovary is considerably thicker, and consists of large cells, with large, clear nuclei, formed from a germinal epithelium. These cells, and associated small nuclei that may represent the developing follicle cells, constitute the "primordial follicles" of the ovary. The ovary elongates during this stage to form a long cylindrical tube, the developing oviduct, that continues into the genital cord on the dorsal side. The genital cord thickens and shortens as the oviduct elongates. Late in this stage, the oviduct opens into the atrium, and the genital cord is no longer visible.

The ventral end of the testis in <u>P</u>, <u>listeri</u> expands to form two incompletely separated lobes, each with an external epithelium of flattened cells, and subjacent to this, a thicker spermatogenic layer. This layer contains spherical cells of different sizes, which have few points of contact between them. There are numerous free cells in the lumen. The developing sperm duct is found between the testicular lobes, and opens into the developing oviduct near the

Ì

connection with the genital cord. The wall of the sperm duct is composed of a cuboidal epithelium continuous with the epithelia of the testis, and the ovary. As the oviduct elongates, the sperm duct maintains its position. Ultimately, the spenn duct opens into the atrium. Further development of the ovary and testis involves the formation of lobes, but the basic histology of these organs does not change.

In both <u>Clavelina rissoana</u> and <u>Phallusia scabroides</u>. Stage VII is essentially identical to t that described for <u>P</u>. <u>listeri</u>, except that the ovary in <u>C</u>. <u>rissoana</u> does not form lobes (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886). Lefevre (1898), working on <u>P</u>. <u>viridis</u>, confirmed the report of Van Beneden and Julin (1886). In <u>Ecteinascidia turbinata</u> blastozooids, the genital cord is transformed into the oviduct and sperm duct during this stage (Lefevre, 1897). In <u>Distaplia occidentalis</u>, the ovary cavitates during this stage (Bancroft, 1899). The gonial cells of the ovary are situated on the ventral side of the lumen. The testis also enlarges, becomes crescent-shaped, and covers the ovary on the ventral surface. Later the testis divides into several smaller lobes. The oviduct and sperm duct are differentiated from the dorsal strand. As the ducts reach the atrial epithelium the dorsal strand probably disappears, although its fate is not discussed (Bancroft, 1899).

Aubert (1954) did not continue his observations in <u>Ciona</u> beyond Stage VI. although he did observe that the gonoducts are formed by the ovarian and testicular rudiments themselves. In this stage of <u>Molgula ampulloides</u>, a superficial flat epithelium is visible around the ovarian rudiment (De Selys Longchamps and Damas, 1900). This epithelium takes on a bumpy appearance due to irregular enlargement of the germinal epithelium. The testis elongates and becomes bilobed. It does not open into the ovarian lumen, but rather forms small individual sperm ducts which open separately into the atrial cavity. In <u>Dendrodoa grossularia</u>, the germinal layer of the ovary is located ventrally and contains primary oocytes surrounded by follicle cells (Julin, 1893). The remainder of the ovary consists of a thin epithelium, which Julin (1893) terms a superficial limiting epithelium. The cells of this epithelium divide to form

the oviduct, which eventually communicates with the atrial cavity. The smaller testis is surrounded by a flat epithelium containing spermatogenic cells. The testis also consists of a superficial epithelium and a germinal layer. It divides to form lobes, each with its own duct continuous with a common sperm duct. The sperm duct consists of a thin epithelium and it also eventually opens to the atrial cavity.

#### OTHER PATTERNS OF GONADOGENESIS

There are a few descriptions in the literature of gonadogenesis in ascidians that do not develop gonads from an ovotestis. In these animals, the stages of gonadogenesis differ somewhat from that described above.

In the oozooid of <u>Ecteinascidia turbinata</u>, the ovary differentiates from the "mesodermal plate" which projects into the hemocoel (Simkins, 1924). The mesodermal cells are said to form the germinal epithelium. The ovary cavitates, and consists of a thick region containing large, oval nuclei, and a thin region composed of ellipsoid nuclei. Oogonia and follicle cells differentiate from the germinal epithelium. The multiple testes originate from a separate, solid mass of cells at about the same time as the ovary. The testes are never connected in any way to the ovary. Each testis consists of two layers of cells, an outer epithelium and an inner spermatogenic layer. The testes elongate and branch, and may completely surround the ovary.

In blastozooids of <u>Aplidium zostericola</u>, the distal extreme of the dorsal strand enlarges and then differentiates into a dorsal and a ventral tube, which are intimately joined (Brien, 1927). The dorsal most of these structures develops into the ovary which is composed of a very thin dorsal wall and a thicker ventral wall. The ventral wall becomes the germinal epithelium, from which both oocytes and follicle cells differentiate. The ventral most of the two structures expands laterally and differentiates into the testis, maintaining its connection to the ovary. The testis is rounder than the ovary, and is composed of numerous layers of undifferentiated cells in the ventral portion of the organ. The testis maintains contact with the dorsal strand in this animal, a situation that is uncorroborated by investigations on other ascidians. There are gonoducts, which extend to the atrium, in association with a thin remnant of the dorsal strand, but Brien (1927) does not discuss the structure of these ducts.

In Distomus variolosus, the multiple ovaries and testes develop from separate clusters of cells (Newberry, 1968). In each ovarian rudimeht, some of the peripheral lymphocytes form an epithelium which delimits the ovary. Certain cells become substantially larger, and some of these larger cells develop into oocytes. Others of the larger cells, "aborted oogonia", along with lymphocytes, later develop into the follicle cells. A cavity forms eccentrically in the ovary, with the germinal layer localized on the peribranchial surface. Oocytes are randomly distributed within this germinal layer, and these are isolated from the mantle sinus and the lumen of the ovary by developing follicle cells. The oocytes become aligned in a zig-zag fashion in maturing ovaries. An oviduct extends from each ovary to the atrial epithelium, but Newberry (1968) was not able to follow its development. Each testis cavitates by what appears to be autolysis of the cells in the central part of the organ. The cells of the testis are uniform in size, and these proliferate and differentiate into gametes, During cavitation, a solid column of cells extends from each testis to the atrium. The sperm duct is formed by the extension of the testicular lumen into the column of cells. It is composed of a simple ciliated epithelium, and remains closed at its distal tip until sexual maturity.

In <u>Botryllus primigenus</u>, the usually single oocyte becomes partly surrounded by some cells of the "compact cell mass" soon after its arrival in the gonadal space of the developing bud (Mukai and Watanabe, 1976). The cells immediately surrounding the oocyte differentiate into the accessory cell envelopes and the follicle stalk. The follicle stalk cavitates, and is analogous to the oviduct. The resultant "egg follicle" matures with further elaboration of the accessory cells, and the oogonium divides meiotically to form the oocyte. The testis is also derived from cells of the "compact cell mass". It has a peripheral epithelium, and cavitation of

the central cells forms a lumen. The peripheral cells presumably constitute a germinal epithelium. The organ opens to the atrium via a short sperm duct. In <u>Botryllus schlosseri</u>, Sabaddin and Zaniolo (1979) agree in most respects with the description of Mukai and Watanabe (1976). They emphasize, however, that the germinal epithelium is localized in the regions opposite the ducts in both the ovary and testis. In addition, The testis forms several lobes in <u>B</u>, <u>schlosseri</u>.

#### SUMMARY

Gonadogenesis in those ascidians that possess compound gonads appears to follow a similar pattern of morphological changes despite substantial differences in approach and extent of examination by investigators. There is an initial establishment of gonadal cells associated with a dorsal strand, genital cord, or some particular region of the mantle wall. Once this initial cluster of cells is established, the developing gonad constitutes a unique population of cells. The, cluster of cells then differentiates into somatic cells and gonial cells. The organ subsequently cavitates, and the cells that form the ovotestis can be isolated into gonial cells and two types of somatic cells; the Type II cells probably representing the first stage of folliculogenesis. The following stage involves the localization of the germinal layer into the ventral most region of the ovotestis. The ovotestis divides into rudiments of separate sex during the next stage. The formation of the testicular rudiment is morphologically variable from accounts in the literature, but in general it appears to be formed either as a bulge on the anterior portion of the ovotestis, or as a medial division of the organ into right and left portions. The two resultant organ rudiments contain gonial cells that are essentially identical, and Type I somatic cells. Type II somatic cells are not found in the testicular rudiment. During the final stage of gonadogenesis, the ovary and testis complete the differentiation into the form found in the adult. The ovary consists of a substantial germinal layer composed of gonial cells isolated from both the external and internal environments of the organ. Type II somatic cells, or follicle cells are more

apparent, and the oviduct develops and expands, attached to the dorsal strand from the dorsal most region of the ovary. The testis is also organized into a ventral germinal layer. There are no follicle cells in the testis, and the gonial cells are not isolated by somatic cells from the luminal surface. The sperm duct opens directly into the oviduct.

The observations on the organization of the cells that compose the developing reproductive system are diverse. The cells of ascidians are small, and the relationships among them are not clearly visible with the light microscope. In addition, the cells and tissues of ascidians are difficult to fix, and it is likely that some of the observations made by previous authors are artifacts of fixation. An example is Julin's (1893) observation that in <u>Dendrodoa</u> <u>grossularia</u> there is a central syncytial mass in the ovotestis that develops into the germinal layer. I have found that TEM fixations and observations are essential to understanding the relationships between the cells in all stages of gonadogenesis. This study of <u>Corella inflata</u> is the first to use these techniques to describe the stages of gonadogenesis. Further comparisons of the process of gonadogenesis among the groups of ascidians must involve TEM.

## D. CHARACTERISTICS OF GÓNIAL CELLS AND SOMATIC CELLS

There is an enormous literature describing the germ cells of ascidians. These studies have concentrated on the structure of the gametes in mature animals, and on gametogenesis, which generally continues throughout the life cycle after maturity is attained (Millar, 1971; Berrill, 1975; Kessel, 1983). Many of these studies have also concentrated on the origin and development of the accessory cell layers surrounding the oocyte (Reverberi, 1971; Kessel, 1983). While most of the early monographs on gonadogenesis have described the general sizes and shapes of the cells that form the developing gonad, these descriptions are of limited value regarding the nuclear and cytoplasmic characteristics of the cells during gonadogenesis. There are no ultrastructural studies available on the cells that form the developing gonad during gonadogenesis.

In this section, I review what is known of the ultrastructure of small, developing oocytes and their accessory cell layers, and of the cells of the testis, within the established organs. These published observations are compared with the characteristics of the gonial and somatic cells of the developing gonad in <u>Corella inflata</u>.

#### **GONIAL CELLS**

The gonial cells of Corella inflata do not undergo any substantial growth during the stages of gonadogenesis I have described in this study. There are, however, some changes that take place in the ultrastructure of these cells during gonadogenesis. In Stages I and II, the ovotestis consists of two cells which are morphologically identical to hemoblasts. These cells are spherical in shape, and each has a large nucleus with some perspheral heterochromatin. The cytoplasm is not unique. In Stage III, the gonial cells are separated from the environment of the gonad hemocoel by somatic cell processes. In this stage there is some indication that material is moving from the nucleus to the cytoplasm, through the nuclear pores. In Stage IV, the gonial cells of the ovotestis are separated from both the luminal and gonad hemocoelic environments by somatic cell processes. These cells have relatively more mitochondria and lamellar RER, and there are also small vesicles on the luminal surface of the plasmalemma, and myeloid figures. Nuage first appears in this stage, primarily in regions close to the nucleus, and associated with what may be material moving into the cytoplasm through nuclear pores. In Stage V gonial cells, the Golgi complex is more prominent than in previous stages, and there is also more nuage in the cytoplasm. The nuage is usually more dispersed, and located in regions further away from the nuclear envelope. After the differentiation of the testicular rudiment from the ovotestis in Stage VI, the gonial cells of the ovarian rudiment are similar to those of the Stage V ovotestis, but here there is yet more dispersed nuage, and there are annulate lamellae in the cytoplasm. Occasional large cells, which may represent primary oocytes are also seen. The gonial cells of the testicular rudiment are similar to those of the ovarian rudiment,

although they never have any annulate lamellae. During Stage VII, the cytoplasm of the ovarian gonial cells becomes more dense with a relative increase in the number of ribosomes and glycogen. No secondary lysosomes have been seen in these cells, and the nuage, mitochondria, and annulate lamellae are more abundant in this stage. The gonial cells of the testis in Stage VII are not separated from the luminal surface of the organ by somatic cell processes. These cells are similar to the ovarian gonial cells although the nuage is not as abundant, and there are no annulate lamellae.

#### Ovarian Portion of the Gonad

0

Cowden (1961) has divided oogenesis into three stages in Ascidia nigra. Stage I consists of small oocytes, approximately 50  $\mu$ m in diameter, which have differentiated from the germinal epithelium and are beginning their initial growth  $\hat{p}$  hase. Although these Stage I oocytes are substantially larger than the gonial cells of <u>Corella inflata</u> during gonadogenesis, they are still the smallest that are available for ultrastructural comparisons. During this stage of oogenesis, the oocytes increase in size and become surrounded by a layer of primary follicle cells (Cowden, 1961). The nuclei of these oocytes have a large nucleolus, and some peripheral heterochromatin (Cowden, 1961). The cytoplasm is intensely basophilic, correlated with the large number of ribosomes in the cytoplasm (Cowden, 1961, 1967; Hsu, 1962; Kessell, 1966b, 1983). There is similarly a large number of ribosomes in the gonial cells in all stages of <u>Corella inflata</u>, with the largest relative numbers found in Stage VII. The number of ribosomes in these gonial cells compared with Stage I of oogenesis is unknown. Small amounts of cytoplasmic glycogen are found in the Stage I oocytes (Cowden, 1961), as well as in the gonial cells of <u>Corella inflata</u>.

Several investigators have reported on nuclear-cytoplasmic exchange as a characteristic feature of Stage I oocytes in ascidians (Kessel, 1966a, 1983; Mancuso

1963, 1964, 1972). This takes the form of small granular aggregations associated with nuclear pores in localized regions of the inner and outer membranes of the nuclear envelope. In favorable sections it is possible to see this granular material extending through the pores, and there is therefore reason to believe that this material originates in the nucleus and moves to the cytoplasm. The material that passes through the pores consists of RNA and protein (Cowden, 1961, 1962, 1967; Cowden and Markert, 1961; Davenport and Davenport, 1965; Kessel, 1966a, 1983; Eddy, 1975). It appears that the frequency of nuclear-cytoplasmic exchange decreases during growth of the oocyte, so that it is virtually absent in vitellogenic oocytes (Mancuso, 1964; Kessel, 1966a, 1983). Similarly, the granular aggregations associated with this nuclear-cytoplasmic exchange appear to fragment as the oocyte grows, so that they are more numerous but smaller in larger oocytes. The aggregations are also virtually absent in vitellogenic oocytes (Kessel, 1966a, 1983; Mancuso, 1964).

Kessel (1983) describes two types of aggregations, composed of material that originates in the nucleus and transported to the cytoplasm, although it is difficult to distinguish between them based on his descriptions and photographs. The first type of aggregation consists of small masses of densely packed granules associated with the perinuclear cytoplasm. Kessel (1983) suggests that these aggregations may be masses of ribosomes which subsequently become dispersed in the cytoplasm and transformed into particulate ribosomes, accounting for the intense basophilia of the Stage I oocytes. I have frequently encountered these small dense aggregations in localized regions of the perinuclear cytoplasm, beginning in Stage III and continuing through gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>. They are not as large or as abundant in the small gonial cells as is indicated in the published descriptions of Stage I oocytes. The relative number of ribosomes in the gonial cells during gonadogenesis is probably much smaller than in the Stage I oocytes, after significant growth has occurred.

The other type of aggregation that appears to be transported from the nucleus to the cytoplasm in Stage I oocytes is larger, variable in size and shape, and is distributed throughout the ooplasm. These aggregations correspond to nuage (Eddy, 1975; Kessel, 1983), and probably to the yolk nucleus (associated with mitochondria) that has been described by several authors with light microscopy (Crampton, 1899; Conklin, 1905; Hirschler, 1917; Harvey, 1927; Jägersten, 1935) and with the TEM (Hsu and Cloney, 1958; Mancuso, 1964). These inclusions have been identified in the germ cells of a variety of animals, and generally appear as discrete aggregations (Beams and Kessel, 1974; Eddy, 1975; Kessel, 1983). I have found nuage, corresponding to these dense granular aggregations, beginning at Stage IV of gonadogenesis in Corella inflata. These germ cell specific inclusions are probably synthesized in the nucleus of the gonial cells and are transported to the cytoplasm at an early stage, even before the establishment of the ovarian and testicular portions of the gonad. Nuage is not confined to the ovarian germ cells. It is also present in the gonial cells of the testis after the differentiation of the testicular rudiment from the ovotestis. My morphological observations indicate that nuage may be produced cyclically during gonadogenesis, and it is possible that this corresponds to cell divisions taking place in the germinal layer.

Some studies have described the endoplasmic reticulum in developing oocytes of ascidians (Kessel, 1965, 1966b, 1983). In Stage I, the RER is found in both vesicular and lamellar form (Kessel, 1983). These vesicles of RER arise as blebs of the outer layer of the nuclear envelope, and they are widely dispersed in the ooplasm, particularly in vitellogenic oocytes (Kessel, 1965, 1966b, 1983;

Mancuso, 1963). The vesicles may fuse to form the lamellar form of RER (Kessel,

1983), which is less frequently encountered than the vesicular form in the Stage I oocytes. The lamellae have been observed in close association with mitochondria, although the significance of this association is not known (Kessel, 1966b, 1983). Both the vesicles and lamellae of RER contain a diffuse filamentous material. Reverberi (1971) states that RER is only found in oocytes that have begun oogenesis, I have, however, observed some RER in the gonial cells of <u>Corella</u> <u>inflata</u> during gonadogenesis, although these cells do not contain the vesicular form of this organelle. The vesicular RER appears to be associated exclusively with the Type II somatic cells during gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>. There are a few profiles of lamellar RER around the circumference of each gonial cell, but these are not associated with mitochondria as reported by Kessel (1966b, 1983).

Cytoplasmic annulate lamellae have been observed in previtellogenic and vitellogenic oocytes of ascidians (Hsu, 1963; Mancuso, 1964; Kessel, 1964, 1965, 1966b, 1983). They consist of from 3 to 4 and up to 36 lamellae, arranged in stacked arrays and distributed in a more or less random fashion throughout the ooplasm (Hsu, 1963; Kessel, 1983). There do not appear to be more than 3 or 4 such organelles per cell (Kessel, 1965), and these are more abundant and contain the greatest number of lamellae in vitellogenic oocytes (Kessel, 1965, 1983). The membranes of the lamellae may have attached ribosomes, and ribosomes may also be present in the cytoplasm between the lamellae (Kessel, 1965). The ends of individual lamellae may be connected with lamellar RER (Kessel, 1965, 1983). It is thought that annulate lamellae form by a blebbing process of the nuclear envelope. These blebs subsequently detach from the nuclear envelope and then differentiate into lamellae by a specialized fusion process (Kessel, 1983). It should by noted that intranuclear forms of annulate lamellae have been reported in ascidian oocytes (Hsu, 1963; Kessel 1965, 1965, 1968; Evringham 1965). Annulate lamellae were not

seen in any of the earliest stages of gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>. They were observed in the gonial cells of the Stage VI and Stage VII gonad, only in the cells of the ovarian portion of the gonad. There does not appear to be a characteristic location or orientation of these organelles in the gonial cells, and there does not appear to be more than one per cell. The function of the annulate lamellae is not known, although they may be responsible for the storage or activation of developmental information (Kessel, 1968, 1973; Franke, 1974).

Very small oocytes contain relatively few mitochondria, located in the perinuclear cytoplasm (Mancuso, 1964; Kessel, 1966b, 1983). During growth of the oocyte, the mitochondria increase in number, although this has not been quantified (Kessel, 1966b, 1983), and prior to vitellogenesis, the mitochondria become widely distributed in the ooplasm. There are usually two or more matrix granules. approximately 500 nm in diameter, which are characteristic of ascidian mitochondria (Kessel, 1966b, 1983; Mancuso, 1966; Beams and Kessel, 1976). These granules may represent the accumulation of divalent cations (Kessel, 1983; Bloom and Fawcett, 1982). Mitochondria may be surrounded by a lamella of RER, and there may be a close association between mitochondria are slightly concentrated in the perinuclear cytoplasm during all stages of gonadogenesis, although this has not been quantified. They appear to increase in number during gonadogenesis.

Mancuso (1964) reported that a Golgi complex is not found in Stage I oocytes. Kessel (1983), however, reported that in small oocytes a Golgi complex is usually located in the ooplasm near the nuclear envelope. There appears to be an increase in the number of Golgi complexes as the oocyte grows (Kessel, 1983). These organelles consist of a variable number of cisternae arranged in a stacked
parallel array (Kessel, 1983). I have not made a quantitative study of the presence and location of the Golgi in the gonial cells of the developing gonad in <u>Corella</u> <u>inflata</u>, but it appears that they increase in size during gonadogenesis. I have never seen more than one Golgi complex per cell, although it is possible that there are more. The Golgi complex appears to be important in yolk formation (Hsu, 1962; Mancuso, 1964; Kessel, 1966b, 1983).

163

In addition to the cytoplasmic organelles of the developing oocyte described above, there are also numerous secondary lysosomes which are characteristic of all cells in the ovotestis after metamorphosis. In gonial cells of the early gonad rudiment, these are large and among the most conspicuous components of the cells. Later in development they become less numerous and smaller.

## Jesticular Portion of the Gonad

There is substantially less information available on the ultrastructure of the gonial cells of the developing testis. Available information on the male reproductive system is based primarily on the structure of the male gametes (Franzén, 1983). A description of the ultrastructure of the spermatogonia of the testis is presented in only two reports (Georges, 1969; Tuzet et al., 1974). The spermatogonia are large cells, approximately 7  $\mu$ m in diameter (Georges, 1969), with a large nucleolated nucleus. The nucleolus is often situated subjacent to the nuclear envelope (Georges, 1969). The nucleus contains diffuse granular chromatin. The cytoplasm of the spermatogonia contains a large Golgi complex associated with small osmiophilic vesicles (Tuzet et al., 1974). There are small mitochondria with few cristae (Georges, 1969; Tuzet et al., 1974), vacuoles, some sparse ribosomes, and little ER (Tuzet et al., 1974). Tuzet et al. (1974) also reported that while they did not observe mitoses, some adjacent cells had connecting cytoplasmic bridges.

The testicular gonial cells of the developing gonad in Corella inflata are very similar ultrastructurally to those of the ovary. The cells of the testis are more elliptical, and are not separated from the luminal environment of the organ by somatic cell processes. Some of these cells, in Stage VII, are separated from the underlying epithelium and extend into the lumen. There are relatively fewer ribosomes, on a qualitative basis, in the testicular gonial cells. In Stage VII, there is some nuclear-cytoplasmic exchange taking place, as seen in the small granular aggregations on both sides of the nuclear envelope. This is less abundant than in the ovarian gonial cells. Similarly, there is nuage in the testicular gonial cells, and the structure of this nuage is identical to that of the ovarian gonial cells. Developing male germ cells of other animals have been reported to contain nuage-like material (Eddy, 1975; Kessel, 1983), but this has never been reported in developing male germ cells of ascidians. There are fewer mitochondria and profiles of RER in the testicular gonial cells than in the ovarian gonial cells in Corella inflata, and these gonial cells do not contain annulate lamellae. No cilia are found in Stage VII gonia cells, as have been reported in secondary spermatocytes and spermatids (Georges, 1969; Tuzet et al., 1974). Prior to the onset of growth, there do not appear to be major differences that distinguish between the gonial cells of the male and female portions of the developing reproductive system.

## SOMATIC CELLS

The somatic cells of the ovotestis are first visible surrounding the gonial cells in Stage III of gonadogenesis. In Stage IV of gonadogenesis there are 2-types of somatic cells in the ovotestis, which are distinguished on the basis of their shape and size, and on the characteristics of the nucleus. These 2 somatic cell types continue to be present in the ovarian portion of the gonad during gonadogenesis, but after the testicular rudiment has differentiated from the

ovotestis, Type II somatic cells are never found in the testicular portion of the gonad.

Ovarian Portion of the Gonad

The mature ascidian oocyte is surrounded by several layers of accessory cells prior to spawning. These include a layer of test cells which are found in indentations in the oocyte surface, a layer of inner follicle cells, and a layer of outer follicle cells. These follicular layers are separated from the test cells and oocyte by an acellular chorion (Reverberi, 1971; Berrill, 1975; Kessel, 1983). Much of the research on oogenesis in ascidians has been devoted to the origin, structure, and function of these accessory cell layers. There are no ultrastructural studies on the follicle cell layers during gonadogenesis.

The ovotestis of Stage IV in <u>Corella inflata</u> consists of gonial cells and two types of somatic cells. The Type II somatic cells are irregularly shaped low cuboidal cells. variable in size, and found primarily adjacent to the gonial cells. The nuclei contain dense nucleoplasm, and the cytoplasm contains conspicuous large vesicles of RER with a diffuse intracisternal matrix, and large Golgi complexes. These somatic cells continue to be found associated with gonial cells in subsequent stages of gonadogenesis? After the differentiation of the testicular rudiment from the ovotestis, the Type II somatic cells are found only in the ovarian portion of the gonad. In Stage VII, the Type II somatic cells appear to form the beginnings of a primary follicle cell layer. Later in development, during Stage I of oogenesis, the oocyte is completely surrounded by a layer of primary follicle cells (Cowden, 1961, 1962; Reverberi, 1971; Kessel, 1983). This primary follicle cell layer later divides to form the test cells, and then the inner and outer follicular layers (Huus, 1937; Tucker, 1942; Cowden, 1961, 1967; Kessel and Kemp, 1962; Kessell, 1962, 1983; Berrill, 1975).

Work by Knaben (1936). Spek (1927), and Mancuso (1965) points to a blood cell origin of the accessory cell layers. Peres (1954). DeVincentiis (1962), and Kalk (1963a) believed that the follicle cells are germinal epithelium derivatives, while the test cells are derived from amoeboid cells of the blood. While this work on <u>Corella inflata</u> has not specifically addressed the question of accessory cell origin, it appears that the follicle cell line is established very early in gonadogenesis, and that the primary follicle cells at least are derived from the same cells that give rise to the gonial cells during gonadogenesis. Kessel (1967, 1983) and Beams and Kessel (1974) state that among the first organelles to become active in the follicle cells are the ER (found in both vesicular and lamellar form in these cells), and the Golgi complex. It is possible that even early in gonadogenesis, these organelles are large and well-developed in preparation for their secretory function in later stages of oogenesis.

#### Testicular Portion of the Gonad

The ultrastructure of the testicular somatic cells have been briefly described by Georges (1969). These cells are found on the peripheral margin of the testicular lobes. They are relatively elongate cells with an irregularly shaped nucleus, and heterogenous cytoplasm. Georges (1969) terms this the germinal epithelium. Occasional larger cells have been described among the squamous cells of the germinal epithelium (Georges, 1969). These cells are laden with heterogenous granules reminiscent of nuclear debris, and she suggests that they are phagocytic cells.

I have observed a similar external epithelium in the testis of Stage VII of gonadogenesis in <u>Corella inflata</u>, composed of a single type of squamous somatic cells surrounded by a basal lamina. These cells contain elongate nuclei with little

peripheral heterochromatin, and unremarkable cytoplasm. There are occasional cilia projecting into the testicular lumen from these somatic cells. These cells are continuous with the squamous epithelium of the sperm duct. I have not seen such phagocytic cells in the epithelium of the testis as reported by Georges (1969).

# E. NEURAL COMPLEX AND DORSAL STRAND

Adult ascidians possess a neural complex consisting of the neural ganglion and closely apposed neural gland. The neural complex is embedded in the body wall midway between the siphons. It is surrounded by a connective tissue sheath, and it borders on a hemocoelic space (eg Millar, 1953; Bullock and Horridge, 1965; Goodbody, 1974). In <u>Corella inflata</u>, the association of extensions of the neural complex with the developing gonad is conspicuous soon after metamorphosis, and this association appears to be essential for the initiation of gonadogenesis. In this section, I therefore discuss the origin, anatomy, and potential functions of the various components of the neural complex, concentrating on the structure and potential functions of the dorsal strand.

### ORIGIN OF THE NEURAL COMPLEX

164

Most of the existing work on the ganglion and gland have been directed toward an attempt to homologize the structure of the ascidian brain with that of the vertebrates, or to provide evidence against such an homology. Julin (1881) first suggested the homology of the ascidian neural gland with the vertebrate pituitary, based on his belief that the neural gland arises as an independent outgrowth from the stomodeum, or prebranchial portion of the pharynx. Subsequent works, however, by Salensky (1893), Willey (1893), Hjort (1896), Seeliger (1885–1906); Garstang and Garstang (1928) and Elwyn (1937) have shown that both the ganglion and gland are derivatives of the neural tube of the embryo.

The close physical association of the neural ganglion and neural gland is emphasized by their origin during embryogenesis. Elwyn (1937) summarized earlier work on the origin of the the neural complex in <u>Ciona intestinalis</u>, <u>Clavelina lepadiformis</u>, and <u>Distaplia magnilarva</u>. The anterior end of the neural tube divides longitudinally into two tubes, after closure of the neuropore. The right tube enlarges to form the cerebral vesicle of the larva, and the left forms the hypophyseal duct (neurohypophyseal duct of Willey, 1893). These two structures are continuous with the neural tube of the trunk and tail of the larva. Subsequently, the communication between the cerebral vesicle and the hypophyseal duct is lost; the former develops into the functional central nervous system of the larva, and the latter grows anteriorly and ventrally to establish communication with the prebranchial portion of the pharynx (stomodeum), anterior to the cerebral vesicle. Elwyn (1937) showed that the anterior opening of the hypophyseal duct is not a stomadeal invagination in <u>Ecteinascidia turbinata</u>, and an homology of the ascidian neural complex with the vertebrate brain is inappropriate.

The anterior opening of the hypophyscal duct into the pharynk persists, and develops into the ciliated funnel. The duct extends dorsally and posteriorly, where in the region of the cerebral vesicle, the dorsal wall proliferates a mass of cells that develop into the neural ganglion. Glandular folds form from the ventral wall of the duct in this region, and these develop into the neural gland. In most stolidobranchs, the ganglion develops from the ventral wall of the duct, and in some the ganglion develops laterally, (Elwyn, 1937; Metcalf, 1900). The hypophyseal duct continues posteriorly from the neural complex, develops into a solid cellular strand variously named the "cordon ganglionnaire-visceral" (Van Beneden and Julin, 1884), the "dorsal cord" (Markman, 1958), the "ganglio-genital strang" (Huus, 1924), or the "dorsal strand" (eg Millar, 1953; Goodbody, 1974). Therefore, the neural ganglion, neural gland proper, and the anterior and posterior continuations of the neural gland are all derived from the same portion of the embryonic neural tube.

### NEURAL GANGLION AND NERVES

١.

The neural ganglion in adult ascidians consists of an outer cortex containing unipolar neurons and what may be neurosecretory cells, and an inner fibrous medulla (Bullock and Horridge, 1965; Goodbody, 1974). In most species, five major nerves arise from the ganglion; two anterior nerves that innervate the branchial siphon and associated musculature, two posterior nerves that innervate the atrial siphon and associated musculature, and a visceral nerve that extends posteriorly to the visceral mass (eg Millar, 1953; Bullock and Horridge, 1965; Goodbody, 1974). In <u>Corella</u>, there are two visceral nerves that arise as numerous small branches of the posterior nerve roots. These nerves pass into the roof of the branchial basket, the dorsal fold, and continue to the viscera, with offshoots leading to the branchial basket (Huus, 1924; Mackie et al., 1974).

There are numerous unanswered questions about the nature of visceral innervation in ascidians (Goodbody, 1974). Regarding the reproductive system, several authors (eg Kowalevsky, 1874a; Millar, 1953; Goodbody, 1974) state that the visceral nerve extends to the region of the gonads, although there is vitually no information concerning gonadal innervation. Goodbody (1974) states that neurosecretory fibers may innervate the gonad, and the visceral nerve may innervate the sphincter muscle of the gonoducts. Bullock and Horridge (1965) report that the visceral nerve ramifies particularly over the oviduct, and less extensively over the rectum, intestine, stomach and esophagus. At least in the region of the dorsal fold there is a nucleated nerve plexus that is associated with the visceral nerve and dorsal strand (Mackie et al., 1974; Fedele, 1923a, b, 1927). In young <u>Ciona</u>, this plexus continues to the gonad (Markman, 1958), while in older <u>Ciona</u>, the plexus is associated with the gonoducts (Bone, 1959).

-In ascidians, the nerves from the ganglion appear to be mixed, containing both sensory and motor elements, and associated with a "reticulum of supporting material" and connective tissue cells (Bullock and Horridge, 1965). Although some information exists on the structure of peripheral nerves at the light microscope level (eg Hunter, 1898a, b; Hilton, 1913), therø is little information concerning the fine structure of the peripheral nerves. Mackie et al. (1974) describe the ultrastructure of axons as containing numerous distinctive neurotubules and a cytoplasm that is "characteristically rather featureless". The perikarya of the visceral nerve axons are located in the neural ganglion (Markman, 1958; Mackie et al., 1974). Mackie et al. (1974) also point out the possibility of mistaking certain cells of the connective tissue and blood for nerves. Very little is known of the development and distribution of the nerves in newly metamorphosed animals.

Neurosecretory cells have been reported in the neural ganglion, although actual secretory products have not been identified. In a histochemical study, Dawson and Hisaw (1964), reported that there are cells containing granules scattered among other nerve cell bodies in the peripheral region of the neural ganglion in ten species of ascidians. In the stolidobranchs, they observed that the cell bodies contain "finely granulated, densely stained material," sometimes regionally displaced by clear, unstained vacuoles of varying size and number", while in the phlebobranchs the granular material was generally localized in a perinuclear position. The granules in these two ascidian groups stain differently, indicating that their secretory products are different (Dawson and Hisaw, 1964). In at least one species, Chelyosoma productum, the stained granules were best visualized in animals with mature gonads, and Goodbody (1974) suggests that they may be associated with reproduction. Aros and Konok (1969), in a light microscope histochemical study of the neural ganglion, found granules, which by their size (250 nm) and staining properties they suggest might be neurosecretory granules. They found these granules in both the perikarya of neurons in the ganglion, and in neurites in each of 12 species studied. Ultrastructural observations by Thiebold and Illoul (1966) and Chambost (1966) also. demonstrate granules, which appear to be neurosecretory, in the perikarya of some cells in the cortical region of the ganglion. In three species, Lane (1972) found small membrane-bounded, dense-cored granules (10 nm in diameter) which appeared to be elaborated by the Golgi

170 .

complex. Similarly, Georges (1977) described perinuclear granules in the ganglion which were greatly reduced in number following the removal of the ovary. Bouchard-Madrelle (1967a, b) and Lender and Bouchard-Madrelle (1964) also observed a variation in neurosecretory granule abundance during gonad development. Sugimoto and Watanabe (1980) described the ultrastructure of two types of neurosecretory cells in the neural ganglion and in axons in the immediate vicinity of the ganglion. One of these cell types contained electron-dense granules 100 to 140 nm in diameter, and the other contained electron-opaque granules 240 to 300 nm in diameter. These granules were found to increase in number as the oocytes began vitellogenesis. It should be noted that the emphasis in the study of potential neurosecretory cells in ascidians has been confined exclusively to cells in the neural ganglion, and has not included the peripheral nervous system.

Several investigators have searched for neurotransmitters, or putative transmitter substances in extracts of ganglia. Acetylcholine (Florey, 1963), the amino acid precursors. GABA and taurine (Osborne, 1971; Osborne et al., 1979), glycine, glutamate, and aspartate (Osborne et al, 1979) have been reported. The catacholamines, dopamine and noradrenaline (Osborne et al., 1979) have also been reported in small quantities. These findings indicate that neurotransmitters are probably synthesized, although what they are, and their potential function, is still unknown.

### **NEURAL GLAND**

Ŷ

The neural gland of adult ascidians consists of a highly folded glandular region, an anterior duct which opens into the branchial basket, and a posterior extension, the dorsal strand (Bullock and Horridge, 1965; Millar, 1953; Goodbody, 1974). The anterior duct is lined with a ciliated cuboidal epithelium, and opens into the branchial basket at the ciliated funnel. The cilia may beat inward from the branchial basket to the gland (Georges, 1970, 1971); although Millar (1953) believed that water circulates around the funnel and is not pulled into the region of the

duct.

Numerous glandular evaginations form the body of the neural gland. The morphology of the gland in most species varies, apparently with physiological function, ranging from a compact structure to a loose mass of vacuolated cells (Metcalf, 1900; Pérès, 1943; Brien, 1948; Georges, 1970, 1971; Lane, 1971; Goodbody, 1974; Godeaux and Beros-Debrous, 1979). Numerous functions have been ascribed to the neural gland since it was first described by Hancock (1868), with particular emphasis on possible sensory or secretory processes, and also to its connection with the dorsal strand. In over 100 years of examination, however, our funderstanding of its role is still far from complete.

One possible function of the neural gland that has been considered recently, is a role in digestion, due to the association of the neural gland with the food-collecting apparatus, and the variable condition of the neural gland celfs (Lane, 1971; Goodbody, 1974). Another potential function is the secretion of hormones like oxytocin and vasopressin (Butcher, 1930; Bacq and Florkin, 1935, 1946). Pérès (1943, 1947a, b), Sawyer (1959) and Dodd and Dodd (1966) concluded that these pituitary hormones are most likely not secreted by the gland, although a smooth muscle contractant similar to oxytocin may be secreted in low concentrations by the gland and/or the tissues surrounding the neural complex (Dawson and Hisaw, 1964; Lane, 1968; Goodbody, 1974). If such a smooth muscle contractant is secreted by the gland, it might serve to maintain the contracted state of the sphincters of the gonoducts, thereby preventing the premature release of gametes (Goodbody, 1974). Pestarino (1984) found prolactin-like peptides in the neural gland of one species, and hypothesized an osmoregulatory role.

Most recent research efforts on neural gland function have concentrated on its possible role in gonadotropin secretion. Huus (1937) suggested that the gland may control reproduction by first collecting stimulatory substances, such as gametes from conspecifics, in the ciliated funnel. These substances might then stimulate the neural gland to secrete a substance into the blood stream that causes gamete release. In an effort to identify gonad stimulating activity in the neural gland, Hogg (1937) and Carlisle (1950) injected neural gland extracts into mice, and found that their gonads increased in size and weight relative to controls. Similar experiments by Benazzi (1939) and Dodd (1955), however, did not support this conclusion. In a series of experiments designed to test for neural gland control of spawing. Carlisle (1951, 1954) concluded that gametes of conspecifics are actively taken into the gland, causing it to secrete a hormone that excites the ganglion. The release of gametes is then stimulated via the gonadal nerve". In studies of neural complex removal, Bouchard-Madrelle (1967a, b) concluded that the number of young oocytes in the ovary is controlled by the neural gland, while the neural ganglion influences the number of mature follicles and oocytes in previtellogénesis. Experiments of Sengal and Georges (1966) indicate that spawning may be inhibited by the neural gland. In addition, Sengal and Kieny (1962, 1963a, b) found that oocytes in whole cultured gonads continued to mature only when in the presence of explanted neural complex. They conclude that some component of the neural complex is essential to gonad maturation. Contradictory results were obtained by Hisaw et al. (1966), who found that removal of the neural complex in <u>Chelyosoma productum</u> has no effect on gametogenesis, even after one year.

#### DORSAL STRAND

The dorsal strand has been described in a large number of ascidian speciel since Kowalevsky's (1874a) work on <u>Didemnum styeliferum</u>, <u>Phallusia mamillata</u> and <u>Ascidia</u> (Metcalf, 1900; Huus, 1937; Brien, 1947; Goodbody, 1974 for summary). It is a fine strand, or cord, of cells that continues dorsally from the neural gland, and runs along the dorsal wall of the branchial basket close above the dorsal lamina and dorsal blood vessel. In <u>Corella inflata</u>, which has an expanded atrium, the dorsal strand runs in the dorsal fold between the anterior dorsal edge of the branchial basket and the atrium (Mackie et al., 1974).

The length of the dorsal strand is extremely variable in adults. It may extend only a short distance from the neural gland, it may end near the esophogeal opening (Metcalf, 1900).

or near the caecum of the stomach (Van Beneden and Julin, 1884). In some species, there is no forsal strand at all in the adult (Metcalf, 1900). Millar (1953) reported that the dorsal strand in <u>Ciona-intesting</u> extends to the gonad where it terminates abruptly as a slight swelling in the wall of the ovary. Metcalf (1900) and Aubert (1954), however, did not find this structure in the gonad region of adult <u>Ciona</u>. In <u>Corella parallelogramma</u> (Huus, 1924), and <u>C. inflata</u>, the dorsal strand is rudimentary in the adult, and is not associated with the gonad.

8

Most reports on the histology of the dorsal strand have been limited to adults. In <u>Ciona</u> the dorsal strand is a hollow cylinder 10 to 15  $\mu$ m in diameter, and composed of relatively elongate, spindle-shaped cells (Millar, 1953). Brien (1925, 1927, 1939) observed that in <u>Aplidium zostericola</u>. <u>Clavelina</u> and <u>Distaplia magnilarva</u> blastozooids, the dorsal strand is irregular in section, and composed of undifferentiated cells similar to mesenchyme cells. Huus (1924) reported that in adults of <u>Corella parallelogramma</u>, the dorsal strand is composed of rounded cells with irregularly scattered nuclei arranged around a lumen, and with 6 cells in diameter. Van Beneden and Julin (1884, 1886) described the cells of the dorsal strand as being similar to those of the neural ganglion, around a small central lumen in <u>Molgula ampulloides</u>. Mackie et al. (1974) depiet the dorsal strand in adults of <u>Corella villmeriana</u> as approximately 15  $\mu$ m in diameter, and composed of several cells surrounding a small lumen. Some species, such as <u>Ascidia atra</u>, have a dorsal strand without a lumen (Metcalf, 1900).

Relatively little work has been done on the length and structure of the dorsal strand in juvenile ascidians. In <u>Corelfa inflata</u>, the dorsal strand extends to the gonad hemocoel, where it makes contact with the pre-gonadal hemoblasts. The association between the dorsal strand and the developing gonad is maintained during gonadogenesis, but after the gonoducts reach the atrium, the dorsal strand loses its association with the gonad, and is present as fold a vestige in the adult. Huus (1924) described a similar association between the dorsal strand and the developing gonad in <u>C. parallelogramma</u>, which is maintained during gonadogenesis, and subsequently lost in the adult. The association has also been described in <u>Didemnum styliferum</u>,  $\nabla f$ 

Phallusia mammillata. Ciona intestinalis (Kowalevsky, 1874a), Aplidium zostericola. Clavelina, Distaplia magnilarva (Brien, 1925, 1927, 1939) and Ciona intestinalis (Markman, 1958). Aubert (1954), however, believed that the dorsal strand continues past the ovotestis in Ciona intestinalis juveniles, and does not make contact with gonadal material. His description of the dorsal strand in this location indicates he may, in fact, be describing the visceral nerve. Still other authors were unable to find the termination of the dorsal strand in the juvenile (eg Van Beneden and Julin, 1886; Maurice, 1886, 1888; Julin, 1892, Damas, 1902).

In juveniles, the dorsal strand consists of a cord of single cells attached and to end between the neural gland and its point of termination (Huus, 1924; Van Beneden and Julin, 1884, 1886; Aubert, 1954). In many cases the cells of the dorsal strand have been described as relatively undifferentiated, resembling blood cells (Van Beneden and Julin, 1886; Brien, 1927). Maurice (1886) describes it as composed of nerve fibers, Van Beneden and Julin (1886) as identical to the cells of the neural gland, and Fedele (1938) describes the cells as similar to neuroblasts, giving rise to the nerve cells that are found near the dorsal strand.

My observations on <u>Corella inflata</u> are the first that describe the ultrastructure of the dorsal strand in juvenile ascidians. The dorsal strand is composed of a string of elongate cells attached at their ends by overlapping processes, joined by well-developed junctions, and surrounded by an external lamina, giving it an epithelioid configuration. The cells contain microfilaments, probably actin, which may be important during the growth of the structure. At the point of attachment between the dorsal strand and the developing gonad, there are no special features of the cells. In Stage IV of gonadogenesis, and during subsequent development, there is a blunt enlargement at this point of attachment, but here too, the cells of the dorsal strand are virtually identical to the somatic cells of the developing gonad where the attachment occurs. The dorsal strand remains a string of single cells during gonadogenesis, other than at this point of contact, and it is likely that the dorsal strand becomes several cells thick and forms a lumen only after it is no longer associated with the gonad. I have not followed this later in

development, however, in <u>Corella inflata</u>. Kowatevsky (1874a) first described the dorsal strand as an extension of the neural ganglion, ending in a visceral ganglion in the region of the stomach. Many of the earlier descriptions of the dorsal strand similarly conclude that the dorsal strand is an element of the peripheral nervous system (Maurice, 1886, 1888; Julin, 1881; Lorleberg, 1907). Metcalf (1900) described varying degrees of association between the dorsal strand (rapheal duct) and the visceral nerve (rapheal nerve). He could not distinguish the visceral nerve from the dorsal strand in many species, and concluded that at least in their posterior extremities, they were parts of the same structure. Other more recent works, however, conclusively demonstrate that the dorsal strand itself is entirely non-nervous, and that the visceral nerve is a separate structure (Huus, 1924; Brien, 1925, 1927, 1948; Fedele, 1938; Millar, 1953; Aubert, 1954; Markman, 1958; Mackie et al., 1974; Goodbody, 1974).

176

The dorsal strand is certainly associated with nervous elements for most of its length, in a structure variously called the "dorsal cord plexus" (Markman, 1958), "dorsal cord sheath" (Millar, 1953), or "dorsal fold plexus" (Mackie et al., 1974). This consists of an irregular network of bipolar and multipolar neurons surrounding the dorsal strand and visceral nerves. Processes of these neurons form a sheath-like plexus around the dorsal strand (Fedele, 1938; Millar, 1953; Aubert, 1954; Markman, 1958; Mackie et al., 1974). Some of these processes may extend to the branchial basket, portions of the intestine, endostylo, and pericardium (Fedele, 1938; Markman, 1958; Mackie et al., 1974). The dorsal fold plexus has been reported in young juveniles of <u>Ciona</u> (Markman, 1958; Aubert, 1954) and <u>Corella parallelogramma</u> (Huus, 1924).

Immediately after the dorsal strand has made contact with the developing gonad in Stage II, there are no nerve cells or processes associated with either structure in <u>Corella inflata</u>. However, in Stage III, and during subsequent development, an irregular layer of cell processes is closely associated with the dorsal strand in the region of the ovotestis. I interpret these to be axons, and elements of the dorsal fold plexus. These axons contain moderately electron dense vesicles which, on the basis of their size and distribution, are suggestive of a neurosecretory function. The vesicles are also found in short extensions of these processes which extend into spaces between cells of the ovotestis. In addition, vesicles are occasionally seen in the evidplasm of somatic cells of the ovotestis, and in cells of the dorsal strand near the attachment between the ovotestis and the dorsal strand. There have been no previous reports of these vesicles in the cells of the developing gonad, the dorsal strand, of the nerve plexus. I suggest that the vesicles in the nerve cell processes may be confined to juveniles, and that they may function in the differentiation of the feproductive system in developing animals. There is no experimental evidence to support this claim, and a great deal more work is needed to address this question thoroughly.

Potential functions of the dorsal strand have been proposed, but it remains an engina. The studies of Fedele (1938) and Mackfe et al. (1974) suggest that the dorsal strand has a functional relationship with the visceral nerve, and that the associated plexus may be important in branchial innervation. In this context, the dorsal strand itself may supply nutrients to the nerve cells in the manner of glial cells (Goodbody, 1974). Brien (1927) found that the dorsal strand gives rise to new neural tissue and the gonads during blastogenesis in <u>Aplidium</u> *tostericola*. Huus (1924) concluded that the dorsal strand probably gives rise to the gonoducts, based in part on the absence of the dorsal strand in adult <u>Corella parallelogramma</u>. Aubert (1954), however, asserts that the dorsal strand continues past the gonad rudiment in young <u>Ciona</u>, and could therefore not be involved in gonoduct formation. In <u>Corella inflata</u>, I have never observed the dorsal strand in a position similar to that described by Aubert (1954) in <u>Ciona</u>, but neither have I observed any indication that the dorsal strand tissue gives rise to the gonoducts. The dorsal strand does, however, remain associated with the developing oviduct during gonadogenesis. I consider it more likely that the dorsal strand provides a template for the directional development of the oviduct, and gives way to the oviduct as it develops.

The association between the neural gland and the developing gonad during development implies that the dorsal strand may be a conduit for trophic factors necessary for gonadogenesis

to move from the neural gland to the gonad. In this way, the neural gland may actually control the establishment of gonadogenesis, and/or its continuation. This would explain why the gonad never develops without the dorphil strand attachment, Goodbody (1974) reinterpreted the results of Carlisle (1951) and Bouchard Madrelle (1967a, b) as indicating that the dorsal strand may serve as a pathway between the neural complex and gonads for endocrine products over a long term reproductive cycle. Because the association of the neural gland with the gonads in adults is questionable, it is more likely that if the dorsal strand functions in endocrine control, it does so primarily during gonadogenesis. Such an explanation accounts for the continuation of the reproductive cycle in adult Chelyosonth productum even after neural complex removal (Hisaw et al, 1966). However, because the neural complex is directly subjacent to a substantial hemocoelic space, such an endocrine pathway'seem superfluous. It may also be true that the dorsal strand serves as a pathway directing the growth of neurosecretory cells from the ganglion to the developing gonad, and that these substances are important in the continuation of gonadogenesis. These hypotheses apply only to those animals in which a dorsal strand is found early in gonadogenesis. The dorsal strand in many species, particularly stolidobranchs, is not associated with the developing gonad, and a different mechanism of gonad initiation and development must be proposed for these animals.